

ACTS OF 2020 LEGISLATURE

Acts 110-194

ACT No. 110

HOUSE BILL NO. 842
BY REPRESENTATIVE HILFERTY
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 13:1381.2(A), 1381.4, and 1381.5(B)(2)(a), R.S. 15:168(B)(1) and 571.11(D), R.S. 16:16.3(A), and R.S. 22:822(A) and (B)(3), to enact R.S. 13:1381.5(B)(2)(e), and to repeal R.S. 13:1377, relative to the assessment, collection, and distribution of certain court costs and fees in the parish of Orleans; to provide relative to court costs and clerk of court fees in Orleans Parish; to provide relative to the sheriff's detention and prison security fee in Orleans Parish; to provide relative to the judicial expense fund for the Criminal District Court for Orleans Parish; to provide relative to the administration of the criminal justice fund in Orleans Parish; to provide relative to the assessment of costs for the indigent defender fund in Orleans Parish; to provide relative to the disposition of fines and forfeitures in Orleans Parish; to provide relative to criminal bail bond annual license fees in Orleans Parish; and to provide for related matters.

Notice of intention to introduce this Act has been published as provided by Article III, Section 13 of the Constitution of Louisiana.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 13:1381.2(A), 1381.4, and 1381.5(B)(2)(a) are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 13:1381.5(B)(2)(e) is hereby enacted to read as follows:
§1381.2. Sheriff's detention and prison security fee fund

A. Any defendant, other than an indigent, who pleads guilty or is convicted of an offense by the Criminal District Court for the Parish of Orleans shall be assessed a fee of not less than twenty-five dollars, such costs to be in addition to any fine, clerk's fees, costs due to the criminal court cost fund or sentence imposed by the court. ~~When any defendant, other than an indigent, fails to pay the costs referred to hereinabove, he shall be sentenced to a term of thirty days in the parish prison in default of the payment of same.~~

§1381.4. Judicial expense fund for Criminal District Court

~~A. (1) In all criminal cases over which the Criminal District Court for Orleans Parish has original, appellate, supervisory, or concurrent jurisdiction, including traffic violations other than parking, there shall be taxed as costs against every defendant who is convicted after trial or plea of guilty or nolo contendere or who forfeits his bond the sum of five dollars, which shall be in addition to all other fines, costs, or forfeitures lawfully imposed and which shall be transmitted to the judicial administrator of the Criminal District Court for Orleans Parish for further disposition in accordance herewith.~~

~~(2) In addition to all other fines, costs, or forfeitures lawfully imposed by this Section or any other provision, the court may impose an additional cost against any defendant who has been finally convicted of a misdemeanor, excluding traffic violations, or a felony. The additional costs authorized in this Paragraph shall not exceed five hundred dollars in the case of a misdemeanor nor exceed two thousand five hundred dollars in the case of a felony. All such sums collected shall be transmitted to the judicial administrator for further disposition in accordance herewith.~~

~~B. The judicial administrator of the Criminal District Court for Orleans Parish shall place all sums collected or received under this Section in a separate account to be designated as the judicial expense fund for the Criminal District Court for Orleans Parish. The judges of the court shall cause to be conducted annually an audit of the fund and the books and accounts relating thereto and shall file the same with the office of the legislative auditor where it shall be available for public inspection.~~

~~C. The judicial expense fund is established and may be used for any purpose connected with, incidental to, or related to the proper administration or function of the court or the office of the judges thereof and is in addition to any and all other funds, salaries, expenses, or other monies that are provided, authorized, or established by law.~~

~~D. B. No salary shall be paid from the judicial expense fund to any judges of the court.~~

~~C. The judges of the court shall cause to be conducted annually an audit of the fund and the books and accounts relating thereto and shall file the audit with the office of the legislative auditor where it shall be available for public inspection.~~

§1381.5. The Orleans Parish administration of criminal justice fund

B. (2) Each quarterly distribution shall be calculated and allocated as follows:

(a)(i) ~~Forty Twenty~~ percent of all funds received to the Orleans Parish criminal district court's judicial expense fund clerk of court.

~~(ii) The funds received by the court pursuant to this Subparagraph shall be deposited into a special escrow account, retained for one year, and shall then be disbursed to the city of New Orleans to be used in defraying the expenses of the criminal justice system in Orleans Parish. No funds shall be disbursed from the special escrow account for any purpose previously set forth by the provisions of R.S. 13:1381.4 prior to the effective date of this Act.~~

~~(e) Twenty percent of all funds received to the Clerk of the Criminal District Court Expense Fund for the parish of Orleans.~~

Section 2. R.S. 15:168(B)(1) and 571.11(D) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§168. Judicial district indigent defender fund

B.(1)(a) Every court of original criminal jurisdiction, except in the town of Jonesville, in the city of Plaquemine, and in mayors' courts in municipalities having a population of less than five thousand, shall remit the following special costs to the district indigent defender fund for the following violations, under state statute as well as under parish or municipal ordinance, except a parking violation. The Except as provided in Subparagraph (b) of this Paragraph, the sum of forty-five dollars shall be assessed in cases in which a defendant is convicted after a trial, a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, or after forfeiting bond and shall be in addition to all other fines, costs, or forfeitures imposed.

(b) In the parish of Orleans, in addition to all other fines, costs, or forfeitures imposed, the sum of forty-five dollars may be assessed in cases in which a defendant is convicted after a trial, a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, or after forfeiting bond.

§571.11. Dispositions of fines and forfeitures

D.(1) All fines and forfeitures, including forfeitures of criminal bail bonds, imposed in criminal cases and prosecutions by the courts of Orleans Parish and any payments ordered as a condition of probation under Code of Criminal Procedure Article 895.1(B)(2) shall, upon collection, be paid to the criminal sheriff of Orleans Parish who shall deposit same in a special account, and shall thereafter be divided equally between the district attorney of Orleans Parish and the criminal district court of Orleans Parish ~~in two special accounts, one account to be administered by the judges of the criminal district court of Orleans Parish, and the other.~~

(2) The portion provided to the district attorney of Orleans Parish pursuant to this Subsection shall be deposited into a special account to be administered by the district attorney of Orleans Parish to be used in defraying the expenses of the criminal courts of the parish, extraditions, and such other expenses pertaining to the operation of the criminal court of Orleans Parish and the office of the district attorney of Orleans Parish.

(3) The portion provided to the criminal district court of Orleans Parish pursuant to this Subsection shall be deposited into a special escrow account and retained for one year and shall then be disbursed to the city of New Orleans to be used in defraying the expenses of the criminal justice system of the parish, extraditions, and other expenses pertaining to the operation of the criminal justice system of Orleans Parish. No funds shall be disbursed from the special escrow account for any purpose previously set forth by the provisions of R.S. 13:1381.4 prior to the effective date of this Act.

(4) Disbursements from the criminal sheriff's account to the criminal district court and district attorney shall be made on an equal basis. Said and the accounts shall be annually audited by the director of finance of the city of New Orleans.

Section 3. R.S. 16:16.3(A) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§16.3. Additional court costs to defray expenses; Orleans Parish

A. In all criminal cases over which the district attorney's office in Orleans Parish has jurisdiction, there ~~shall~~ may be taxed as costs against every defendant who is convicted after trial or after he pleads guilty or who forfeits his bond a nonrefundable sum of twenty dollars, which shall be in addition to all other fines, costs, or forfeitures lawfully imposed.

Section 4. R.S. 22:822(A) and (B)(3) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§822. Criminal bail bond annual license fee

A. ~~There shall be a fee on~~ On premiums for all commercial surety underwriters who write criminal bail bonds in the state of Louisiana, as follows:

~~(1) Except in the parish of Orleans, the there shall be a fee shall be equal to two dollars for each one hundred dollars worth of liability underwritten by the commercial surety. Except as authorized under the provisions of R.S. 13:718(I) (2), this shall be the exclusive fee or tax on any criminal bail bond premium, including thereto premium taxes owed. In furtherance of the payment of this premium fee all commercial surety underwriters underwriting criminal bail bonds in the state of Louisiana shall, upon submitting the appearance bond and their power of attorney, simultaneously pay to the sheriff of the parish, except in the parish of Orleans, a fee of two dollars for each one hundred dollars worth of liability on the bail bond being presented for the release of a person on bail. Failure to pay the fee shall prevent the sheriff from accepting~~

the appearance bond and power of attorney. The sheriff may receive the fee by check or cash and shall only accept it from the surety or the agent of the surety. In the event a surety or agent of the surety presents payment of the fee by an instrument which is returned for insufficient funds, the agent or the agent of the surety shall be prevented from presenting the appearance bonds with their power of attorney attached until the outstanding fees are paid to the sheriff.

~~(2) In the parish of Orleans, the fee shall be equal to three dollars for each one hundred dollars worth of liability underwritten by the commercial surety. This shall be the exclusive fee or tax on any criminal bail bond premium, including thereto premium taxes owed. In furtherance of the payment of this premium fee, all commercial surety underwriters underwriting criminal bail bonds in the parish of Orleans shall, upon submitting the appearance bond and their power of attorney, simultaneously pay to the sheriff a fee of three dollars for each one hundred dollars worth of liability on the bail bond being presented for the release of a person on bail. Failure to pay the fee shall prevent the sheriff from accepting the appearance bond and power of attorney. The sheriff may receive the fee by check or cash and shall accept only it from the surety or the agent of the surety. In the event a surety or agent of the surety presents payment of the fee by an instrument which is returned for insufficient funds, the agent or the agent of the surety shall be prevented from presenting the appearance bonds with their power of attorney attached until the outstanding fees are paid to the sheriff.~~

B.

* * *

~~(3) In Orleans Parish, the two dollars of the three dollars collected for each one hundred dollars worth of liability underwritten by the commercial surety on all premium fees collected by the sheriff shall be maintained, supervised, and distributed as provided in R.S. 13:1381.5 and the one additional dollar of the three dollars collected for each one hundred dollars worth of liability underwritten by the commercial surety shall be allocated to the Criminal District Court for the Parish of Orleans.~~

* * *

Section 5. R.S. 13:1377 is hereby repealed in its entirety.

Section 6. The provisions of this Act shall cease to be effective on July 1, 2022.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 111

SENATE BILL NO. 118
BY SENATOR SMITH
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 38:2212(C)(1), relative to public works projects; to increase the "contract limit" for public works; to provide for a date for the annual adjustment of the "contract limit" for public works; to provide for an effective date; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 38:2212(C)(1) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§2212. Advertisement and letting to lowest responsible and responsive bidder; public work; electronic bidding; participation in ~~mentor-protégé~~ **mentor-protégée** program; exemptions

* * *

C.(1) Except as provided in Paragraphs (2), (3), and (4) of this Subsection, the term "contract limit" as used in this Section shall be equal to the sum of ~~one~~ **two** hundred fifty thousand dollars per project, including labor, materials, and equipment as per the rates in the latest edition of the Associated Equipment Dealers Rental Rate Book and administrative overhead not to exceed fifteen percent, provided that beginning February 1, ~~2015~~ **2025**, and annually on February first of each subsequent year, the office of facility planning and control within the division of administration shall adjust the "contract limit" by an amount not to exceed the annual percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index in the preceding year. The office of facility planning and control within the division of administration shall publish the new contract limit for public works contracts in the Louisiana Register in January of each year.

* * *

Section 2. This Act shall become effective on July 1, 2020.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 112

SENATE BILL NO. 122
BY SENATORS CARTER, BARROW AND CLOUD
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 42:808(F), relative to the Office of Group Benefits;

to provide for the coverage of certain dependents; to provide for notice to certain parents and grandparents; to provide for the right to appeal to an appeal review panel in certain circumstances; to provide relative to the authority of appeal review panels; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 42:808(F) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows: §808. Eligibility in group programs

* * *

F.(1) Attainment of the respective limiting age of a child or grandchild shall not operate to terminate the coverage of such child or grandchild if the child or grandchild became incapable of self-sustaining employment by reason of physical or mental disability prior to attaining the respective limiting age, provided that **no later than seven months** before the child or grandchild reaches the limiting age, **the health plan authorized by R.S. 42:851(A) shall send a notice notifying the parent or grandparent that the coverage shall expire unless** but no earlier than six months prior thereto, an application for continued coverage is filed with the office on a form designated by the office, and the application is subsequently approved. **The notice shall provide that if the application for continued coverage is not filed prior to the date the child or grandchild reaches the respective limiting age, the child or grandchild shall lose coverage. The notice shall explain the right of the parent or grandparent to appeal for an administrative review if the documentation is not submitted timely.** This application shall be **submitted no earlier than six months prior to the child or grandchild attaining the respective limiting age and shall be** accompanied by an attestation from the dependent's attending physician setting forth the specific physical or mental disability and certifying that the child or grandchild is incapable of self-sustaining employment by reason of that disability. The office may require additional medical or other supporting documentation regarding the disability to process the application.

(2) After the initial approval, the office may require the submission of additional medical or other supporting documentation substantiating the continuance of the disability, but not more frequently than annually, as a precondition to continued coverage. **If continued coverage is denied due to the failure of the parent or grandparent to obtain the additional documentation, upon submitting the documentation, the parent or grandparent may appeal for an administrative review to reinstate the coverage. For good cause shown and after considering the totality of the circumstances, the administrative review panel may decide to reinstate coverage for the child or grandchild.**

(3) The parent or grandparent who fails to submit the application for continued coverage prior to the date the child or grandchild reaches the respective limiting age, may appeal for an administrative review of the denial of coverage. The parent or grandparent shall explain the reasons for the untimely filing. For good cause shown and after considering the totality of the circumstances, the administrative review panel may decide to continue coverage for the child or grandchild.

(4) The provisions of this Subsection shall apply to any health plan authorized by R.S. 42:851(A).

Section 2. This Act may be referred to and may be cited as "Arielle's Law".

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 113

SENATE BILL NO. 137
BY SENATOR FOIL
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 13:5716, relative to coroners; to provide for cremation of bodies; to provide for notification; to provide for an investigation; to provide for a permit; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 13:5716 is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows: §5716. Cremation of bodies

If the cremation of a body is requested, the funeral director shall immediately notify the coroner who has jurisdiction in the death.

A. If, after the necessary investigation, the coroner is satisfied that there are no suspicious circumstances surrounding the death, he shall issue a permit for cremation.

B. If the investigation reveals suspicious circumstances or the reasonable probability of the commission of a crime, the coroner shall deny the permit. **After completion of the coroner's investigation, he may issue a permit for cremation.**

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 114

SENATE BILL NO. 147
BY SENATOR FOIL

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 13:5715(A)(1), relative to coroners; to provide regarding the release of a body by a coroner; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 13:5715(A)(1) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§5715. Delivery of body; disposition of paupers; anatomical gifts; kidney or eye removal; limitation of liability

A.(1) Upon completion of an autopsy or completion of the coroner's investigation, if the investigation reveals that an autopsy is not required, the coroner shall release the body to the family or friends for burial disposition.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 115

SENATE BILL NO. 178
BY SENATOR ALLAIN

Prefiled Pursuant to Article III, Section 2(A)(4)(b)(i) of the Constitution of Louisiana.

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 26:271.2(2)(b), 271.4, and 308(A), (B), (C)(1), (2), (8) and (11)(b), (D), (E), and (F)(1), and to enact R.S. 26:241(26), relative to the delivery of alcoholic beverages; to provide for third party delivery companies and platforms; to provide for delivery agreements; to provide for requirements; to provide for limitations; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 26:271.2(2)(b), 271.4, and 308(A), (B), (C)(1), (2), (8) and (11)(b), (D), (E), and (F)(1) are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 26:241(26) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§241. Definitions

The following terms have the respective meanings ascribed to them except in those instances where the context indicates a different meaning:

* * *

(26) "Third party platform" means a third party service that is licensed to do business in the state of Louisiana that performs work with its own employees or agents for which the platform is required to file an Internal Revenue Service Form W-2 or 1099.

* * *

§271.2. Class A permit; definitions

The commissioner shall issue the following four types of Class A retail permits for beverages of low alcoholic content:

* * *

(2) Class A-Restaurant:

* * *

(b) Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary and subject to rules promulgated by the commissioner, in addition to the authority to contract with a third party delivery company or a third party platform as provided in R.S. 26:308, a permit may be issued to a "restaurant establishment" enabling the delivery of restaurant prepared food and ~~alcohol~~ malt beverages, sparkling wine, and still wine, as defined in R.S. 26:2 and 241 with its own employees or agents for which the retailer is required to file an Internal Revenue Service Form W-2 or 1099. Notwithstanding the provisions of R.S. 26:271(A)(2), the permit fee for the permit issued pursuant to this Subparagraph shall be two hundred fifty dollars.

* * *

§271.4. Package house-Class B permit

Notwithstanding any provisions of law to the contrary and subject to rules promulgated by the commissioner, in addition to the authority to contract with a third party delivery company or a third party platform as provided in R.S. 26:308, a permit may be issued to a grocery store enabling the delivery of alcohol as defined in R.S. 26:2(1) and 241(1)(a) with its own employees or agents for which the retailer is required to file an Internal Revenue Service Form W-2 or 1099. Notwithstanding the provisions of R.S. 26:271(A)(2), the permit fee for the permit issued pursuant to this Section shall be two hundred fifty dollars.

* * *

§308. Alcoholic beverages delivery agreements; requirements; limitations

A. For purposes of this Section only, a third party delivery company shall be defined as a third party delivery service that is licensed to do business in the state of Louisiana, permitted with the office of alcohol and tobacco control, and uses their own W-2 employees or agents for which the third party delivery company or the third party platform is required to file an Internal Revenue Service Form W-2 or 1099 for delivery. For all other alcohol delivery provisions of this Chapter, third party shall be the definition provided in R.S. 26:2 and 241.

B. Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, a retail dealer possessing a valid Class A-General retail permit as provided in R.S. 26:271.2, a Class "R" restaurant permit as provided in R.S. 26:272, or a package house-Class B, as defined in R.S. 26:241, permit as provided in this Chapter may enter into a written agreement with a third party delivery company or a third

party platform for the use of an internet or mobile application or similar technology platform to facilitate the sale of alcoholic beverages for delivery to consumers for personal consumption within this state and the third party delivery company or the third party platform may deliver alcoholic beverages to the consumer.

C. An alcoholic beverage delivery agreement between a retail dealer and a third party shall require all of the following:

(1) Only alcoholic beverages purchased from a wholesale dealer licensed pursuant to this ~~Chapter~~ **Title** are offered for delivery.

(2)~~(a)~~ Only alcoholic beverages of low alcoholic content, beer, sparkling wine as defined in R.S. 26:2(1), and still wine as defined in R.S. 26:~~241(1)(a)~~ **241(1)(a)** are offered for delivery from the licensed premises of a package house-Class B permit holder.

(b) Only malt beverages, sparkling wine, and still wine, as defined in R.S. 26:2 and 241 are offered for delivery from the licensed premises of a restaurant permit holder.

* * *

~~(8) No~~ **(a) For any parish having a population of less than one hundred thousand according to the latest federal decennial census, no alcoholic beverages shall be delivered more than ten ~~twenty-five~~ miles from the place of purchase.**

(b) For any parish having a population of greater than one hundred thousand according to the latest federal decennial census, no alcoholic beverages shall be delivered more than ten miles from the place of purchase.

* * *

(11) Alcoholic beverages are delivered only by a person that meets all of the following requirements:

* * *

(b) The person is an employee or agent for which the third party delivery company or the third party platform shall be required to file an Internal Revenue Service Form W-2 or 1099.

* * *

D. A retail dealer shall enter into an alcoholic beverage delivery agreement with a third party delivery company or a third party platform only when the third party meets all of the following requirements:

(1) The third party delivery company or the third party platform is properly registered and authorized to conduct business in Louisiana.

(2) The third party delivery company or the third party platform holds a valid Louisiana alcoholic beverage permit issued pursuant to R.S. 26:271.2(1)(j).

(3) The ~~third party third party~~ third party delivery service company or the third party platform shall maintain a general liability insurance policy with a liquor liability endorsement in an amount no less than one million dollars per occurrence for the duration of the agreement with the retail dealer and shall provide proof of coverage to the retail dealer.

(4) The third party delivery company or the third party platform is able to monitor the routes of its employees or agents during alcoholic beverage deliveries.

(5) The third party delivery company or the third party platform conducts an interview a screening and a background check of all persons that will deliver alcoholic beverages.

E. A retail dealer may pay a third party delivery company or a third party platform a fee for its services and a third party may charge a reasonable delivery fee for orders delivered by the third party delivery company or the third party platform. A third party delivery company properly licensed pursuant to this Section or its authorized agent may act as an agent of a retail dealer in the collection of payments from the sale of alcoholic beverages, but the full amount of each order must be handled in a manner that gives the retail dealer control over the ultimate receipt of the payment from the consumer. **A third party delivery company or a third party platform properly licensed pursuant to this Section or its authorized agent may also act as an agent of a retail dealer for the purposes of processing, assembling, packaging, and fulfilling alcoholic beverage orders for delivery from the retailer's licensed premises. No additional permit shall be required of a retail dealer who has contracted with a third party delivery company properly licensed pursuant to this Section for the purpose of processing, assembling, packaging, and fulfilling alcoholic beverage orders for delivery from the retailer's licensed premises.**

F.(1) The third party delivery company or the third party platform may receive orders and accept payment via the internet or through a mobile application or similar technology.

* * *

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 116

SENATE BILL NO. 244

BY SENATOR SMITH
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 48:231(A)(6), relative to the Department of Transportation and Development; to provide relative to proposal of the annual construction program; to provide for prioritization of projects; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 48:231(A)(6) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§231. Final construction program for current fiscal year; public hearings; Joint Highway Priority Construction Committee; reports; review by legislature; restrictions on legislature

A.

* * *

(6) When this final construction program is communicated to the legislature for funding for the coming fiscal year, any project which the legislature determines is not in the proper order of priority in accordance with the factors stated in R.S. 48:229 48:229.1 may be deleted by the legislature. However, the legislature shall not add any projects to this final construction program, nor shall the legislature make substitutions for projects which have been removed.

* * *

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 117

SENATE BILL NO. 273
BY SENATOR HEWITT
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 44:4.1(D) and Chapter 31-A of Title 51 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, to be comprised of R.S. 51:2111 through 2116, relative to registration with the secretary of state by managed service providers and managed security service providers servicing public bodies; to provide requirements for doing business; to provide for definitions; to provide for exceptions to public records law; to provide for time limitations on the reporting of cyber incidents; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 44:4.1(D) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§4.1. Exceptions

* * *

D. The provisions of this Chapter shall not apply to any writings, records, or reports of cyber incidents or payment of cyber ransoms submitted to the Louisiana Fusion Center pursuant to R.S. 51:2114 for sixty days from the date of submission of the reports to the commission, nor shall this Chapter apply to information that constitutes critical infrastructure information as defined in 6 U.S.C. 671 regardless of whether the information has been shared with any federal governmental agency.

* * *

Section 2. Chapter 31-A of Title 51 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, comprised of R.S. 51:2111 through 2116, is hereby enacted to read as follows:

**CHAPTER 31-A. MANAGED SERVICE PROVIDERS
AND MANAGED SECURITY SERVICE PROVIDERS
FOR PUBLIC BODIES**

§2111. Scope and purpose

A. The purposes of this Chapter are:

(1) To create a registration for managed service providers and managed security service providers doing business in this state with a public body.

(2) To provide access for public bodies to obtain information on managed service providers and managed security service providers.

(3) To require managed service providers and managed security service providers to report cyber incidents and the payment of cyber ransom or ransomware.

§ 2112. Definitions

As used in this Chapter, the following words and phrases shall be defined as follows:

(1) "Cyber incident" means the compromise of the security, confidentiality, or integrity of computerized data due to the exfiltration, modification, or deletion that results in the unauthorized acquisition of and access to information maintained by a public body.

(2) "Cyber ransom or ransomware" means a type of malware that encrypts or locks valuable digital files and demands a ransom to release the files.

(3) "Louisiana Fusion Center" means the Department of Public Safety and Corrections, office of state police, Louisiana State Analytical and Fusion Exchange.

(4) "Managed service provider" means an individual, partnership, corporation, incorporated or unincorporated association, joint stock company, reciprocal,

syndicated, or any similar entity or combination of entities that manages a public body's information technology infrastructure or end-user systems. The term shall not include any entity providing communications services subject to regulation or oversight by the Louisiana Public Service Commission or the Federal Communications Commission.

(5) "Managed security service provider" means an individual, partnership, corporation, incorporated or unincorporated association, joint stock company, reciprocal, syndicated, or any similar entity or combination of entities that provides a managed security service for a public body.

(6) "Managed security service" means a network and system security service that has been outsourced to a third-party service provider pursuant to a written agreement specifying the service and in which the service provider has assumed operational control of the monitoring and management of the public body's cybersecurity. The term shall not include a cybersecurity consulting service or customer-managed service purchased from the provider.

(7) "Provider" means a managed service provider or managed security service provider that requires remote management or operational control of a public body's network or end user systems.

(8) "Public body" means any branch, department, office, agency, board, commission, district, governing authority, political subdivision, or any other instrumentality of the state, parish, or municipal government, including a public or quasi-public nonprofit corporation designated as an entity to perform a governmental or proprietary function.

§2113. Requirements for doing business

A. A provider shall not provide managed security services to a public body in this state unless the provider has registered with the secretary of state and remains in good standing.

B. Beginning February 1, 2021, each provider that manages a public body's information technology structure, security, or end-user systems in this state shall file an application for initial registration with the secretary of state consisting of the provider's name, address, telephone number, contact person, designation of a person in this state for service of process, and provide a listing of all officers, all directors, and all owners of ten percent or more of the provider. Additionally, the provider shall file a copy of its basic organizational documents, including but not limited to articles of incorporation, articles of organization, articles of association, or partnership agreement.

C. A registration shall be effective for two years, unless the registration is denied or revoked. Ninety days prior to the expiration of a registration, a provider shall submit a renewal application on a form prescribed by the secretary of state.

D. Each registrant shall notify the secretary of state of any material change in the registration information no later than sixty days after the effective date of such change. The notice shall be accompanied by supporting documentation.

§2114. Notification of cyber incidents and payment of cyber ransoms

A. To the extent a provider has actual knowledge of a cyber incident, which impacts a public body, the provider shall notify the Louisiana Fusion Center of the cyber incident within twenty-four hours of discovery of the incident.

B. If a provider has a cyber incident which impacts a public body and the provider or public body makes a payment of cyber ransom or ransomware, to the extent the provider has actual knowledge of the payment, the provider shall report the payment of the cyber ransom or ransomware to the Louisiana Fusion Center within ten calendar days of the payment.

C. A provider who submits a notification pursuant to Subsection A or B of this Section, shall include in the notification the name of the impacted body.

D. A public body shall include the requirements of this Section in its contracts with providers. A provider shall be required to comply with the provisions of this Section only to the extent the contract between the public body and the provider explicitly incorporates the provisions of this Chapter.

§2115. Prohibition on contracting with a provider

A public body shall not enter into a contract, for managed security services, with a provider that has not registered with the secretary of state or has failed to renew its registration with the secretary of state. Such a contract shall be null and void.

§2116. Rules

The secretary of state shall adopt rules and regulations to implement the provisions of this Chapter.

Section 3. R.S. 51:2116 as enacted by this Act shall become effective on August 1, 2020. The remaining provisions of this Act shall become effective on February 1, 2021.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 118

SENATE BILL NO. 283
BY SENATOR ALLAIN
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 47:337.48(A)(1), 337.49(A), 337.50(A), and 337.51(A) and (B)(1), relative to local sales and use tax administration; to provide relative to notices; to provide relative to the time to protest to collector's determination of tax due; to provide relative to the time to appeal an assessment; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 47:337.48(A)(1), 337.49(A), 337.50(A), and 337.51(A) and (B)(1) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§337.48. Determination and notice of tax due

A.(1) If a taxpayer fails to make and file any return or report required by the provisions of the local ordinance and this Chapter, the collector shall determine the tax, penalty, and interest due by estimate or otherwise. Having determined the amount of tax, penalty, and interest due, the collector shall send by mail a notice to the taxpayer at the address given in the last report filed by him pursuant to the provisions of this Chapter, or to any address that may be obtainable from any private entity which will provide such address free of charge or from any federal, state, or local government entity, including but not limited to the U.S. Postal Service or from U.S. Postal Service certified software, setting out his determination and informing the person of his purpose to assess the amount so determined against him after ~~fifteen~~ **thirty** calendar days from the date of the notice.

* * *

§337.49. Protest to collector's determination of tax due

A. The taxpayer, ~~within fifteen calendar days from the date of the notice provided in R.S. 47:337.48(A) or~~ within thirty calendar days from the date of the notice provided in R.S. 47:337.48(A) or (B), may protest thereto. This protest ~~must~~ **shall** be in writing and ~~should~~ **shall** fully disclose the reasons, together with facts and figures in substantiation thereof, for objecting to the collector's determination. The collector shall consider the protest, and shall grant a hearing thereon, before making a final determination of tax, penalty, and interest due.

* * *

§337.50. Assessment of tax, interest, and penalties

A. At the expiration of ~~fifteen~~ **thirty** calendar days from the date of the collector's notice provided in R.S. 47:337.48(A), or at the expiration of such time as may be necessary for the collector to consider any protest filed to such notice, the collector shall proceed to assess the tax, penalty, and interest that he determines to be due under the provisions of the local ordinance and this Chapter. The assessment shall be evidenced by a writing in any form suitable to the collector, which sets forth the name of the taxpayer, the amount determined to be due, the kind of tax, and the taxable period for which it is due. This writing shall be retained as a part of the collector's official records. The assessment may confirm or modify the collector's originally proposed assessment.

* * *

§337.51. Notice of assessment and right to appeal

A.(1) Having assessed the amount determined to be due, the collector shall send a notice by certified mail to the taxpayer against whom the assessment is imposed at the address given in the last report filed by the taxpayer, or to any address obtainable from any private entity which will provide such address free of charge or from any federal, state, or local government entity, including but not limited to the United States Postal Service or from the United States Postal Service certified software. This notice shall inform the taxpayer of the assessment and that he has ~~thirty~~ **sixty** calendar days from the date of the notice to do any of the following:

(a) Pay the amount of the assessment.

(b) Appeal to the Board of Tax Appeals for redetermination of the assessment.

(c) Pay under protest in accordance with R.S. 47:337.63, and then either file suit or file a petition with the Board of Tax Appeals, all as provided for in that Section.

(2) If no report has been timely filed, the collector shall send a notice by certified mail to the taxpayer against whom the assessment is imposed at any address obtainable from any private entity which will provide such address free of charge or from any federal, state, or local government entity, including but not limited to the United States Postal Service or from the United States Postal Service certified software. This notice shall inform the taxpayer of the assessment and that he has ~~thirty~~ **sixty** calendar days from the date of the notice to do either of the following:

(a) Pay the amount of the assessment.

(b) Pay under protest in accordance with R.S. 47:337.63 and then either file suit or file a petition with the Board of Tax Appeals, all as provided for in that Section.

(3) If the taxpayer has not paid under protest in accordance with the provisions of R.S. 47:337.63, or pursued an alternative remedy in accordance with R.S. 47:337.64, or filed an appeal with the Board of Tax Appeals within the ~~thirty~~ **sixty**-day period provided for in Paragraph (1) of this Subsection, the assessment shall be final and shall be collectible by distraint and sale as provided in this Part. If an appeal for a redetermination of the assessment has been timely and properly filed, the assessment shall not be collectible by distraint and sale until such time as the assessment has been redetermined or affirmed by the Board of Tax Appeals or the court which last reviews the matter.

B.(1) If any dealer disputes any findings or assessment of the collector, he may, within ~~thirty~~ **sixty** days of the receipt of notice of the assessment or finding, do any of the following:

(a) File an appeal from the decision of the collector directed to the Board of Tax Appeals.

(b) Pay under protest in accordance with R.S. 47:337.63, and either file suit as provided for in that Section, or file a petition with the Board of Tax Appeals, as provided in that Section.

* * *

Section 2. This Act shall become effective on January 1, 2021.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 119

SENATE BILL NO. 308

**BY SENATOR HEWITT AND REPRESENTATIVE EDMONDS
AN ACT**

To amend and reenact R.S. 49:308.5(B), (C)(1) and the introductory paragraph of (3)(a), and (D), relative to the Dedicated Fund Review Subcommittee of the Joint Legislative Committee on the Budget; to provide relative to a plan of review by the Dedicated Fund Review Subcommittee of certain special funds and dedications in the state treasury, including those containing fees and self-generated revenues; to provide relative to the scheduling of funds in the plan of review; to provide for an effective date; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 49:308.5(B), (C)(1) and the introductory paragraph of (3)(a), and (D) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§308.5. Legislative review and recommendation on special funds and dedication of money

* * *

B.1(~~The division of administration shall establish a procedure to assure that the activities supported by a special fund are subject to the same level of transparency and accountability as activities supported by the state general fund. The procedure shall include the annual submission of reports no later than December first of each year for all entities and activities supported by appropriations from the fund.~~

(2) ~~The reports shall be submitted to the president of the Senate, the speaker of the House of Representatives, and the division of administration. The reports to the division of administration shall be submitted electronically in a form and format as specified and established by the commissioner of administration. The division of administration shall publish the reports in an electronic database so as to ensure transparency and accountability.~~

(3) ~~(a) No later than August 1, 2019 2020, the division of administration shall submit to the Joint Legislative Committee on the Budget a plan of to review all special funds and dedications that contain fees and self-generated revenues of the special dedicated funds in law as of the date of the submission, of the plan to the Joint Legislative Committee on the Budget. The Joint Legislative Committee on the Budget shall refer the plan to the Dedicated Fund Review Subcommittee of the Joint Legislative Committee on the Budget, hereinafter referred to as "the subcommittee"; The subcommittee shall meet and to review and to make recommendations, as provided in this Section, on each dedicated fund that contains fees and self-generated revenues prior to January 15, 2020 the thirtieth calendar day prior to the start of the 2021 Regular Session of the Legislature.~~

(b) ~~(2) On or before February 1, 2020, and every four years thereafter, August 1, 2021, and on or before August first of the first year of every term of the legislature, the state treasurer's office division of administration shall submit a list of all dedicated funds and statutorily dedicated fund accounts in law as of the date of the submission of the list, to the Joint Legislative Committee on the Budget. The Joint Legislative Committee on the Budget may review and amend the list prior to submission to the subcommittee.~~

(c) ~~The Joint Legislative Committee on the Budget list shall be referred to the subcommittee which shall develop a plan to review each submitted item on the list and may add special funds and statutorily dedicated fund accounts to the lists submitted by the state treasurer's office. (d) The Joint Legislative Committee on the Budget. The subcommittee shall ensure that all special funds established by law, including all statutorily dedicated fund accounts, will have been included in the list and reviewed at least once every four years. (4) The Joint Legislative Committee on the Budget shall devise a plan for the subcommittee to review. The subcommittee shall conduct a review of the special funds, dedications, and statutorily dedicated fund accounts specified in each such plan, resulting in a recommendation for each specified fund, dedication, or statutorily dedicated fund account in the plan. The subcommittee shall meet at least once every two years and may hold other meetings upon the call of the chairperson or majority of the members. The subcommittee shall meet only between the fifteenth day of August and the fifteenth day of January of each fiscal year each item is reviewed at least once every four years.~~

C.(1) ~~After the approval of the plan by the Joint Legislative Committee on the Budget, the subcommittee shall cause to be posted on the website of the Louisiana Legislature, a schedule of funds, dedications, and statutorily dedicated fund accounts to be reviewed each year. The subcommittee shall have the authority to amend the schedule. Additionally, The subcommittee, acting on behalf of the Joint Legislative Committee on the Budget, shall notify the commissioner of administration and the treasurer of the schedule date each fund is scheduled for review. The state treasurer's office commissioner of administration shall notify any agency or entity receiving an appropriation~~

from a special fund, dedication, or statutorily dedicated fund specified in the schedule of **the date the fund is scheduled for review.**

~~(3)(a) No later than the first day of August of each year in which the fund is scheduled, the~~ **The** head of each agency or entity receiving an appropriation or allocation from a special dedicated fund, dedication, or statutorily dedicated fund account ~~included in the plan scheduled for review that fiscal year~~ shall submit to the subcommittee the following:

D.(1) Following the review of each special fund as required in this Section, members of the subcommittee shall offer motions as are necessary to produce a report of findings and recommendations on each ~~special dedicated fund item~~ reviewed **by the subcommittee.** Such findings and recommendations may include but are not limited to no change to the fund, a change to the **fund's** revenue source ~~into the fund,~~ a change in the amount dedicated ~~into~~ **to** the fund, a change in the use of the fund, or elimination of the fund.

(2) ~~The~~ **No later than thirty days prior to the beginning of the regular session of the legislature,** the subcommittee shall report the findings and recommendations to the Joint Legislative Committee on the Budget for review. The Joint Legislative Committee on the Budget may recommend modifications to the report submitted by the subcommittee, however, such modifications shall be noted in the report along with any original findings or recommendations of the subcommittee.

Section 2. This Act shall become effective on July 1, 2020. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on July 1, 2020.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.
A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 120

SENATE BILL NO. 313
BY SENATOR PETERSON
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 33:4096(A)(1)(c)(iv), relative to the Sewerage and Water Board of New Orleans; to provide relative to exemptions related to the Orleans Parish School Board; and to provide for related matters.

Notice of intention to introduce this Act has been published.
Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 33:4096(A)(1)(c)(iv) is enacted to read as follows:

§4096. New Orleans sewerage and water board; water rates; water revenue bonds

A.(1) The Sewerage and Water Board of New Orleans shall fix the rates to be charged consumers of water, including the power to exceed the total rates in force on November 1, 1913, and shall collect the same from all persons who use water from the public water supply except that:

(c) The Orleans Parish School Board shall be exempt as follows:

(iv) Notwithstanding any provisions of law to the contrary, the exemption outlined in this Subsection may be superceded by a mutually agreed upon and executed cooperative endeavor agreement between the Sewerage and Water Board of New Orleans and the Orleans Parish School Board, wherein the terms of the cooperative endeavor agreement shall govern the rate and means by which public schools in Orleans Parish are charged for water and sewer services.

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.
A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 121

SENATE BILL NO. 345
BY SENATOR JOHNS
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 23:921(D), (E), and (F)(1)(b) and (c), relative to contracts; to provide relative to a noncompete contract or agreement; to provide relative to terms and conditions of the contract or agreement; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 23:921(D), (E), and (F)(1)(b) and (c) are hereby amended and

reenacted to read as follows:

§921. Restraint of business prohibited; restraint on forum prohibited; competing business; contracts against engaging in; provisions for

D. For the purposes of Subsections B, ~~and C, E, F, J, K, and L~~ of this Section, a person who becomes employed by a competing business, regardless of whether or not that person is an owner or equity interest holder of that competing business, may be deemed to be carrying on or engaging in a business similar to that of the party having a contractual right to prevent that person from competing.

E. Upon or in anticipation of a dissolution of the partnership, the partnership and the individual partners, including a corporation and the individual shareholders if the corporation is a partner, may agree that ~~none of the partners will carry on~~ **shall refrain from carrying on or engaging in** a similar business within the same parish or parishes, or municipality or municipalities, or within specified parts thereof, where the partnership business has been transacted, not to exceed a period of two years from the date of dissolution.

F.(1) Parties to a franchise may agree that:

(b) The franchisee shall:

(i) During the term of the franchise, refrain from competing with the franchisor or other franchisees of the franchisor or **carrying on or** engaging in any other business similar to that which is the subject of the franchise.

(ii) For a period not to exceed two years following severance of the franchise relationship, refrain from **carrying on or** engaging in any other business similar to that which is the subject of the franchise and from competing with or soliciting the customers of the franchisor or other franchisees of the franchisor.

(c) The employee if employed by a franchisor shall:

(i) During the term of his employment by the franchisor, refrain from competing with his employer or any of the franchisees of his employer or **carrying on or** engaging in any other business similar to that which is the subject of the franchise.

(ii) For a period not to exceed two years following severance of the employment relationship between the franchisor and the employee, refrain from **carrying on or** engaging in any other business similar to that which is the subject of the franchise between the franchisor and its franchisees and from competing with or soliciting the customers of his employer or the franchisees of his employer.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 122

SENATE BILL NO. 433
BY SENATOR MIZELL AND REPRESENTATIVES AMEDEE, ROBBY CARTER, ECHOLS, FRIEMAN, HODGES, MIKE JOHNSON, GREGORY MILLER AND PRESSLY
AN ACT

To amend and reenact Children's Code Article 609(A)(1), relative to child abuse reporting and investigation; to provide that a mandatory reporter of child abuse has cause to suspect abuse if a child under the age of thirteen is pregnant; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Children's Code Article 609(A)(1) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

Art. 609. Mandatory and permitted reporting; training requirements

A. With respect to mandatory reporters:

(1)(a) Notwithstanding any claim of privileged communication, any mandatory reporter who has cause to believe that a child's physical or mental health or welfare is endangered as a result of abuse or neglect or that abuse or neglect was a contributing factor in a child's death shall report in accordance with Article 610.

(b) For purposes of this Article, the pregnancy of a child under the age of thirteen years shall constitute cause to consider whether the child has been abused.

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 123

SENATE BILL NO. 439

BY SENATORS ABRAHAM, BARROW, BERNARD, CATHEY, CLOUD, CORTEZ, FESI, FOIL, HEWITT, JACKSON, JOHNS, MCMATH, ROBERT MILLS, POPE, REESE, TALBOT, WARD AND WOMACK AND REPRESENTATIVE EDMONDS

AN ACT

To enact R.S. 9:2800.25, relative to liability and protection of records; to provide relative to limitation of liability for disclosure of certain information by a nonprofit organization or employee thereof; to provide for terms and conditions; to provide for definitions; to provide for certain limitations; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 9:2800.25 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§2800.25. Nonprofit limitation of liability; disclosure of certain information to prospective employer

A. A nonprofit organization or employee thereof shall not be held liable for disclosing in good faith to a prospective employer information about a former employee of the organization when such information is reasonably believed to be accurate regarding the engaging by that person in acts of sexual misconduct, sexual abuse, sexual harassment, sex trafficking, sexual assault, or other sexual offenses.

B. Notwithstanding any other law to the contrary, no nonprofit organization shall be required to provide a public body with personal information or otherwise release, publicize, or publicly disclose personal information in its custody or control, excepting a lawful warrant or request.

C. For the purpose of this Section:

(1) "Employee" means an employee, volunteer, or independent contractor of the nonprofit.

(2) "Nonprofit" means a not-for-profit organization qualified as a tax-exempt organization under Section 501(c) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended.

(3) "Personal information" means any list, record, register, registry, roll, roster, or other compilation of data that directly or indirectly identifies a person as a member, supporter, donor, or volunteer of a nonprofit organization but does not include any report or disclosure required by the Campaign Finance Disclosure Act, the Code of Governmental Ethics, or the provisions of law relative to lobbyist disclosure including Part III of Chapter 1 of Title 24 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, Part IV of Chapter 1 of Title 49 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, and Chapter 46 of Title 33 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950.

D. This Section shall not apply to damage or injury caused by gross negligence or willful and wanton misconduct.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 124

HOUSE BILL NO. 18

BY REPRESENTATIVE BACALA

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 11:2220(G), 2221(C) and (E)(1)(a), 2225(A)(1), 2225.4(B) and (C)(1)(a), and 2227(B)(1)(introductory paragraph) and (b), (G), and (J), relative to the Municipal Police Employees' Retirement System; to provide relative to employer and employee contributions; to provide for suspension of benefit payments and extension of Deferred Retirement Option Plan participation period under certain circumstances; to provide with regard to interest and penalties for delinquent contributions; and to provide for related matters.

Notice of intention to introduce this Act has been published as provided by Article X, Section 29(C) of the Constitution of Louisiana.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 11:2220(G), 2221(C) and (E)(1)(a), 2225(A)(1), 2225.4(B) and (C)(1)(a), and 2227(B)(1)(introductory paragraph) and (b), (G), and (J) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§2220. Benefits; contribution limit

G. The retirement benefits provided by this Section shall not annually exceed one hundred percent of average final compensation, and when a member has earned benefits equal to one hundred percent of his average final compensation, no further contributions shall be required of him. However, the employer shall continue to pay to the system the employer's contribution. However, if a member earns benefits equal to or greater than one hundred percent of his average final compensation on or after July 1, 2021, the employer and employee shall continue to pay their respective contributions to the system.

§2221. Deferred Retirement Option Plan

C. The duration of participation in the plan shall be specified and shall not exceed three years. However, if employer contributions on behalf of a participant are suspended during the participation period as a result of interruption of employment, benefit payments into the participant's subaccount within the plan shall be suspended until payment of employer contributions is restored, and the member's participation period shall be extended by the number of months his benefit payments were suspended. In such a case, the participation period may exceed three calendar years but shall not exceed thirty-six nonconsecutive months of participation.

E.(1)(a) Upon the effective date of the commencement of participation in the plan, membership in the system shall terminate and neither employee nor employer contributions shall be payable, except that for employees who commence participation in the plan on or after July 1, 2021, employer contributions shall continue to be payable.

§2225. Administration

A.(1) The general administration and responsibility for the proper operation of the retirement system and for making effective the provisions of this Chapter are hereby vested in a board of trustees which shall be organized immediately after a majority of the trustees provided for in this Section shall have qualified and taken the oath of office. The board of trustees may make, amend, and promulgate rules and otherwise provide for the establishment and maintenance of the system as authorized by this Title.

§2225.4. Unfunded accrued liability; payment by employer

B.(1) Any amount due pursuant to Subsection A of this Section shall be determined by the actuary employed by the system and shall be amortized over fifteen years in equal payments with interest at the system's valuation interest rate. Payments for withdrawals that occur on or after July 1, 2018, shall be payable beginning July first of the second fiscal year following the withdrawal determination by the actuary and in the same manner as regular payroll payments to the system. Beginning July first of the fiscal year following the withdrawal, interest shall accrue at the system's actuarial valuation rate, compounded annually.

(2) If the number of participating employees of an employer subject to Paragraph (A)(2) of this Section returns to at least the number of participating employees as of the June thirtieth immediately preceding the withdrawal, the payments required by this Section shall cease on the July first following the determination by the actuary that a sufficient increase in participating employees has occurred, and no further payments shall be due with respect to the withdrawal. Any payments made pursuant to this Section will shall be credited as an offset of any amounts due by the employer attributable to any subsequent withdrawal that occurs within fifteen years of the payments.

C.(1) If an employer fails to make a payment timely, the amount due shall be collected in any of the following manners:

(a) By action in a court of competent jurisdiction against the delinquent employer. The amount due shall include interest calculated at the system's actuarial valuation rate, compounded annually. The employer shall also be liable for any legal and actuarial fees incurred by the system in the collection of amounts pursuant to this Section.

§2227. Method of financing

B. Annuity savings fund:

The annuity savings fund shall be the fund in which shall be accumulated contributions from the compensation of members to provide for their annuities. Contributions to the annuity savings fund shall be made as follows:

(1) Each municipality shall make deductions from any salary or wages excluding overtime paid by them to any member of this system in accordance with the provisions of R.S. 11:62(6) on the earnable compensation paid him in each and every payroll. All employers shall report separately the amount of compensation paid for overtime on their monthly contribution reports.

(b) In the event the reduced salary paid by the municipality is not sufficient to cover the deduction of employee contributions equal to that which would have been deducted had the member not begun receiving worker's compensation payments, the member may elect to pay the deficit to make whole the amount due each and every payroll period directly to the municipality to be forwarded to the retirement system. If the member does not elect to pay the deficit to make whole the amount that would have been deducted had he not begun receiving worker's compensation, that member, for such periods, shall receive service credit for eligibility determination purposes only and not for computation of benefits. Beginning on July 1, 2021, if the member does not pay the deficit to make whole the amount that would have been deducted pursuant to this Section for service each and every pay period, the member shall not receive service credit for the period in which the deficit was not paid.

G. The deferred retirement option plan shall be the account in which shall be accumulated all payments made pursuant to R.S. 11:2221(E)(3) accumulate. Interest shall be credited to the account as provided by R.S. 11:2221(F)(2) 11:2221(G).

J.(1) Should If any municipality or other employer refuse fails to transmit

either employer's contributions or member's contributions within five days after its their due date, the payment shall be delinquent. As used in this Subsection, "due date" means the close of the tenth day after the end of the month for which payment of employer's and member's contributions is applicable or deducted. In addition to the employer and member contributions owed, the employer shall submit an amount determined in accordance with Paragraph (2) of this Subsection.

(2)(a) Interest charged at the legal rate shall be due from the date the payment became delinquent.

(b) Any employer who becomes delinquent for a period in excess of ninety days in the collection and remittance of the amounts due as monthly contributions is also subject to a penalty of twenty-five percent of the aggregate monthly contributions due.

(c) Any employer who becomes delinquent for a period in excess of one hundred and eighty days in the collection and remittance of the amounts due as monthly contributions is liable for the greater of the amounts in Subparagraphs (a) and (b) of this Paragraph and an amount equal to the actuarial cost of a purchase of the service credit for which contributions were not timely paid calculated by the system's actuary pursuant to R.S. 11:158(C).

(d) The employer that failed to transmit the required contributions in a timely manner shall also reimburse the system any legal and actuarial fees paid by the system in the collection of amounts pursuant to this Paragraph.

Section 2. This Act shall become effective on July 1, 2020; if vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on July 1, 2020, or on the day following such approval by the legislature, whichever is later.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 125

HOUSE BILL NO. 35

BY REPRESENTATIVES SCHEXNAYDER, AMEDEE, BACALA,
BAGLEY, BEAULLIEU, BOURRIQUE, BROWN, BRYANT, BUTLER,
CARRIER, GARY CARTER, CREWS, DAVIS, DEVILLIER, DESHOTEL,
DUBUISSON, EDMONDS, EMERSON, FIRMENT, FREIBERG, FRIEMAN,
GADBERRY, GOUDEAU, GREEN, HARRIS, HILFERTY, HORTON,
ILLG, MIKE JOHNSON, TRAVIS JOHNSON, KERNER, LARVADAIN,
MACK, MCCORMICK, MCFARLAND, MCKNIGHT, MCMAHEN,
MIGUEZ, GREGORY MILLER, MINCEY, PRESSLY, RISER, ROMERO,
SCHAMERHORN, SELDERS, STAGNI, STEFANSKI, THOMPSON,
TURNER, WHEAT, AND WHITE

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 9:2799(A)(2), relative to limitations of liability for damages from donated food; to provide for the limitation of liability for donating wild game; to provide for the definition of "wild game"; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 9:2799(A)(2) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§2799. Limitation of liability for damages from donated food

A.

* * *

(2) No person shall have a cause of action against a food bank or its designated distributors, or against the donor of wild game, for any damages arising from or caused by the wild game, including the condition of the wild game, which is distributed directly or for redistribution by a food bank or its designated distributors, to persons who are needy, ill, or have a disability, infants or seniors, or to individuals or families who need emergency food assistance, unless the damages resulted from an intentional act or omission of the food bank, its designated distributor, or donor. For purposes of this Paragraph, "wild game" means all game fish, migratory and resident game birds, feral hogs, and game quadrupeds, as defined in R.S. 56:8.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 126

HOUSE BILL NO. 62

BY REPRESENTATIVE WILFORD CARTER

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 13:477(14), 589(A), and 621.14, relative to the Fourteenth Judicial District; to provide for the election of judges in the Fourteenth Judicial District; to provide for a new division of the court with limited or specialized jurisdiction; to abolish a division of the court; to provide for the composition of the election sections for the election of judges; to provide for the election sections from which the judges are

elected; to provide relative to the election of the magistrate judge of the Fourteenth Judicial District; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 13:477(14), 589(A), and 621.14 are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§477. Judicial districts

There shall be forty-one judicial districts in the state and each district shall be composed as follows:

* * *

(14) The parish of Calcasieu shall compose the Fourteenth District. The Fourteenth District shall consist of three election sections.

(a) Election section one shall consist of Precincts ~~30, 31, 31A, 100, 101, 102, 103S, 104E, 104W, 105, 106, 107, 108, 109, 112E, 112W, 113, 117E, 117W, 123N, 123S-A & 123S-B, 124A & 124B, and 125 300, 301, 302, 303, 304, 305, 307, 308, 309E, 309W, 310, 311, 312, 313E, 313W, 315E, 315W, 316E, 317, 318, 319N, 319S, 320E, 320W, 321, 322, 323, 324, 327, 328, 329, 330, 332N, 332S, 360, 361, 364, 371N, 800, 801, 860S, 861E, and 861W~~ of Calcasieu Parish.

(b) Election section two shall consist of Precincts ~~10E, 10W, 11, 12A & 12B, 13, 20, 21, 22, 32N, 32S-A & 32S-B, 33A, 34, 40, 41E, 41W, 42E, 42W, 50, 52, 53, 60, 61, 62, 63E, 63W, 80, 81, 81A*, 111, 114A & 114B, 115, 116, 118E, 118W, 119NE, 119NW, 119SE, 119SW, 120, 121, 122, 126A, 126C-A & 126C-B, 126E, 126W, 170, 171, 172, 173, 190, 191, 200A & 200B, and 201 160E, 160W, 161, 162E, 162W, 163, 164, 165, 166E, 166W, 167, 260, 261, 262, 306, 314, 316W, 326, 331, 335, 337, 338, 339, 340, 362, 367, 368, 369, 370, 371S, 372, 440, 441, 461, 463, 464, and 860N~~ of Calcasieu Parish.

(c) Election section three shall consist of Precincts ~~33B, 33E, 33W-A & 33W-B, 35N-A & 35N-B, 35S, 43, 44N, 44S-A & 44S-B, 45, 46, 70, 71, 72, 110, 150, 151, 152, 153, 155A & 155B, 156, 157, 158, 180, 181, 182, and 183 325, 333, 334, 336, 363, 365, 366, 400, 401, 402, 403, 404, 405, 406, 407, 408, 460E, 460W, 465, 466E, 466W, 467, 468, 469, 560, 561, 562, 600, 601, 602, 603, 660, 661, 662, 663, 664, 700, 701, 702, 703, 760, 761, and 762~~ of Calcasieu Parish.

* * *

§589. Fourteenth Judicial District Court; magistrate judge

A. The office of magistrate judge of the Fourteenth Judicial District Court is hereby created and shall be an elected position. The magistrate judge shall be elected ~~from election sections one and three combined at large from the Fourteenth Judicial District.~~ The initial election shall occur in the fall of 2020 and the elected term shall begin January 1, 2021. The magistrate judge shall serve a six-year term. The position is a full-time position, and the magistrate judge is prohibited from practicing law.

* * *

§621.14. Fourteenth Judicial District

A. The Fourteenth Judicial District Court shall have nine judges. ~~Two judges, Divisions F and H, shall be elected from election section one; four judges, Divisions B, C, D, and G, shall be elected from election section two; two judges, Divisions A and E, shall be elected from election section three; and one judge, Division I, shall be elected from election sections one and three combined.~~ Three judges shall be elected from each of the election sections created pursuant to R.S. 13:477(14) as follows:

(1) Divisions F, H, and J shall be elected from election section one.

(2) Divisions C, D, and G shall be elected from election section two.

(3) Division A, B, and E shall be elected from election section three.

B.(1) There is hereby created a new judgeship effective January 1, 2021, to be elected at the congressional election in 2020. This judge and his successors shall preside over Division J, which is hereby created for purposes of nomination, election, and subject matter. The subject matter jurisdiction of Division J is limited, pursuant to the provisions of Article V, Section 15(A) of the Constitution of Louisiana, to family and juvenile matters as provided by law.

(2) For purposes of this Subsection, "family and juvenile matters" shall include all actions arising under Titles IV, V, and VII of Book I and Title VI of Book III of the Louisiana Civil Code and related provisions of the Civil Code Ancillaries, adoptions arising under the Louisiana Civil Code and the Louisiana Children's Code, actions involving protection from family violence pursuant to R.S. 46:2131 et seq., actions for enforcement, collection of support, and paternity pursuant to R.S. 46:236.5, and all actions arising under or incidental to the Children's Code; together with all related incidental actions, including but not limited to contempt, civil warrants, writs of habeas corpus, change of name, prenuptial or separate property agreements, interspousal donations, lesion, and challenges to consent judgments.

(3) The judgeship comprising Division I shall be abolished effective midnight, December 31, 2020. All cases assigned to Division I shall be assigned to the newly created Division J. No election to fill Division I shall be held to fill such judgeship at the 2020 congressional election or at any election held after the effective date of this Act.

C. In accordance with the provisions of R.S. 13:587, the judges elected to serve in the judgeships designated as Divisions A and C shall continue to exercise jurisdiction over family and juvenile matters, subject to the provisions of that Section.

Section 2.(A) The precincts referenced in this Act are those contained in the file named "2018 Precinct Shapefiles" published on the Louisiana House of Representatives website. The 2018 Precinct Shapefiles are based upon those Voting Districts (VTDs) contained in the 2010 Census Redistricting TIGER/Line Shapefiles for the state of Louisiana as those files have been modified by the staff of the Legislature of Louisiana to represent precinct changes submitted through July 3, 2018, to the Legislature of Louisiana by parish

governing authorities pursuant to the provisions of R.S. 18:532 and 532.1.

(B) When a precinct referenced in this Act has been subdivided by action of the parish governing authority on a nongeographic basis or subdivided by action of the parish governing authority on a geographic basis in accordance with the provisions of R.S. 18:532.1, the enumeration in this Act of the general precinct designation shall include all nongeographic and all geographic subdivisions thereof; however, such subdivisions may be designated. The territorial limits of the election sections as provided in this Act shall continue in effect without change regardless of any changes made to the precincts by the parish governing authority.

Section 3. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 127

HOUSE BILL NO. 95
BY REPRESENTATIVE GREEN
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 13:718(D)(1), relative to commissioner fees in the Twenty-Fourth Judicial District Court; to authorize an increase in fees for all persons convicted of a felony or misdemeanor offense in the Twenty-Fourth Judicial District Court; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 13:718(D)(1) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§718. Commissioners; qualifications; salary and benefits; restrictions on employment; office space; supplies; equipment; employees

* * *

I. The sources of funding for the commissioners and their offices and employees shall include, but shall not be limited to the following sources:

(1) Subject to the other provisions of this Paragraph, there is hereby imposed an additional fee on all persons convicted in the Twenty-fourth Judicial District Court of felony or misdemeanor offenses. The amount of the additional fee shall be set by the judges of the Twenty-fourth Judicial District Court sitting en banc. The amount of the additional fee shall not exceed one hundred ~~twenty-five~~ seventy-five dollars. The total amount of the financial penalty to which misdemeanor offenders shall be subject, including the fee imposed by this Paragraph, shall not exceed one thousand dollars. The provisions of this Paragraph shall not apply to convictions for traffic violations under the provisions of Title 32 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, or under the ordinances adopted by the governing authority of Jefferson Parish.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 128

HOUSE BILL NO. 110
BY REPRESENTATIVE GREGORY MILLER
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 18:1408, relative to actions objecting to candidacy and contesting elections; to provide relative to the notification of the defendant in such an action; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 18:1408 is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:
§1408. Service of process; sending notice and copies; documents to be filed

A. If service of process is to be made on the appointed agent, as authorized by R.S. 18:1407, such service shall be made by serving citation on this agent, but at the same time that service is made on the appointed agent, a diligent effort shall be made to make personal service on the defendant at his domiciliary address as shown ~~by his qualifying papers on his notice of candidacy.~~

B. ~~When service is made on the appointed agent, he shall immediately send notice thereof, together with a copy of the citation, by certified mail, return receipt requested, or by commercial courier as defined in R.S. 13:3204(D), when the person to be served is located outside of this state, to addressee only, to the defendant at his domiciliary address as listed in his notice of candidacy. If the appointed agent has reason to believe that the candidate is temporarily absent from his domiciliary address as listed in his notice of candidacy, he shall give additional notice to the candidate in the manner required by this Subsection by mailing a copy of the citation to any place where the candidate temporarily resides. When service is made on the~~

~~appointed agent, he shall immediately notify the defendant by telephone and send notice thereof, together with a copy of the citation, by electronic mail to the address listed on his notice of candidacy. If the defendant did not list an electronic mail address on his notice of candidacy, the appointed agent shall mail a copy of the citation to the defendant at his domiciliary address as listed on his notice of candidacy.~~

~~C. Proof of mailing, certified by the official mark of the United States Postal Service, or by commercial courier as defined in R.S. 13:3204(D), when the person to be served is located outside of this state, along with the return receipt if received by the agent, shall be filed in the proceedings.~~

~~D. C. Service of process on and citation of the appointed agent, together with the posting of the petition as provided in R.S. 18:1406, shall be sufficient service to give the trial court jurisdiction over the person of the defendant.~~

Section 2. This Act shall become effective on February 1, 2021.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 129

HOUSE BILL NO. 111
BY REPRESENTATIVES DESHOTEL AND HARRIS AND SENATOR
CLOUD
AN ACT

To authorize and provide for the transfer of certain public property; to authorize the exchange of certain public property in Avoyelles Parish; to provide for the property description; to provide for reservation of mineral rights; to provide terms and conditions; to provide an effective date; and to provide for related matters.

Notice of intention to introduce this Act has been published as provided by Article III, Section 13 of the Constitution of Louisiana.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. The board of commissioners of the Red River, Atchafalaya, and Bayou Boeuf Levee District, notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, is hereby authorized and empowered to convey, transfer, assign, lease, or deliver any interest, excluding mineral rights, the board of commissioners may have to all or any portion of the following described parcel of property to the owner of the property described in Section 2 of this Act:

A certain piece, parcel or tract of ground, together with all rights, ways and privileges thereunto belonging or in any way appertaining, being, lying and situated in the Parish of Avoyelles, more particularly described as follows:

The Northeast Quarter (NE 1/4) of the Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4) of Section 19, T1N, R3E, Avoyelles Parish, Louisiana, referred to as "the District Tract."

Section 2. In exchange for the above described properties in Section 1, the board of commissioners of the Red River, Atchafalaya, and Bayou Boeuf Levee District, notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, is hereby authorized and empowered to accept, in addition to any other consideration, delivery of title to all or any portion of the following described parcels of property from the owner of such property: A certain piece, parcel or tract of ground, together with all rights, ways and privileges appertaining thereto located in Sections 20 and 21, T1N, R3E, Avoyelles Parish, Louisiana, and being more particularly shown on a Certificate of Survey prepared by Jessie P. Lachney dated December 4, 2019, filed and recorded in the Avoyelles Parish records and being more particularly described as follows:

Begin at the intersection of Sections 20, 21, 28 and 29, T1N, R3E, Avoyelles Parish, Louisiana, and thence proceed North 0 degrees 07 minutes West a distance of 2,689.5 feet to the North right-of-way line of Jacks Road; thence proceed along the North right-of-way of Jacks Road North 89 degrees 20 minutes East a distance of 264.3 feet to a ½ inch iron rod being the point of beginning of the property herein described; from the point of beginning thus established thence proceed North 03 degrees 17 minutes West a distance of 210 feet to a point and corner and a ½ inch iron rod; thence proceed North 89 degrees 15 minutes West a distance of 426.9 feet to a point and corner and a ½ inch iron rod; thence proceed North 01 degree, 23 minutes West a distance of 427.9 feet to a point and corner and a ½ inch iron rod; thence proceed South 89 degrees 26 minutes West a distance of 302.2 feet to a point and corner and a ½ inch iron rod; thence proceed North 00 degrees 07 minutes West a distance of 699 feet to a point and corner and a ½ inch iron rod; thence proceed North 89 degrees 15 minutes East a distance of 1,106.4 feet to a point and corner; thence proceed North 43 degrees 26 minutes East a distance of 625.3 feet to a point and corner; thence proceed North 31 degrees 03 minutes East a distance of 639.7 feet to a point and corner; thence proceed South 00 degrees 22 minutes West a distance of 1,189.6 feet to a point and corner; thence proceed South 75 degrees 38 minutes West a distance of 783.1 feet to a point and corner; thence proceed South 00 degrees 07 minutes East a distance of 969.8 feet to a point and corner and a ½ inch iron rod; thence proceed South 89 degrees 57 minutes West a distance of 349.1 feet back to the point of beginning and a ½ inch iron rod, referred to as the "SCB Tract."

Section 3. The board of commissioners of the Red River, Atchafalaya, and Bayou Boeuf Levee District is hereby authorized to enter into such agreements, covenants, conditions, and stipulations and to execute such documents as necessary to properly effectuate any conveyance, transfer, assignment, lease,

or delivery of title, excluding mineral rights, to the property described in Sections 1 and 2 of this Act, and as more specifically described in any such agreements entered into and documents executed by and between the board of commissioners of the Red River, Atchafalaya, and Bayou Boeuf Levee District and the owner of the property described in Section 2 of this Act, in exchange of consideration proportionate to the appraised value of the property. In addition to any other provision agreed to by the parties, the agreement authorized by this Section shall provide the following:

(A) The board of commissioners shall reserve all oil, gas, and other minerals in, on, or under the property described in Section 1 of this Act and reserve all timber located on such property along with the right and privilege to cut and remove any timber from the property, subject to the forestry best management practices, including the right of ingress and egress, for a period of twenty-four months from the date of recording of the agreement. The timber rights provided for in the agreement may be granted for an additional twelve months due to weather conditions in the sole unlimited opinion of the board's forester.

(B) The owner of the property described in Section 2 of this Act shall reserve all oil, gas, and other minerals in, on, or under the property described in Section 2 of this Act and reserve all timber located on such property along with the right and privilege to cut and remove any timber from the property, subject to the forestry best management practices, including the right of ingress and egress, for a period of twenty-four months from the date of recording of the agreement. The timber rights provided for in the agreement may be granted for an additional twelve months due to weather conditions in the sole unlimited opinion of the board's forester.

Section 4. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 130

HOUSE BILL NO. 114
BY REPRESENTATIVE BAGLEY
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 18:423(C)(3), relative to the composition of parish boards of election supervisors; to provide relative to persons who may serve as designees or appointees on such boards; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 18:423(C)(3) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§423. Parish boards of election supervisors

* * *

C.

* * *

(3) None of the following members of the parish board of election supervisors shall be an employee of the clerk of court or the registrar of voters in the parish or an immediate family member of the clerk of court or his designee or the registrar of voters or his designee:

(a) The designee of the chairman of a parish executive committee.

(b) The appointee of the chairman of a state central committee.

(c) The appointee of the governor.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 131

HOUSE BILL NO. 122
BY REPRESENTATIVE GREGORY MILLER
AN ACT

To enact Chapter 11 of Title 35 of the Louisiana Statutes of 1950, to be comprised of R.S. 35:701 and 702, relative to the effect of remote notarization during certain emergencies and disasters; to provide for notary services during the COVID-19 public health emergency; to provide relative to the ratification of Section 6 of Proclamation Number 37 JBE 2020 and Part C of Section 5 of Proclamation Number 41 JBE 2020; to provide for retroactive and prospective application; to provide for effectiveness, and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Chapter 11 of Title 35 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, comprised of R.S. 35:701 and 702, is hereby enacted to read as follows:

CHAPTER 11. MODIFICATION OF PRESENCE REQUIREMENT FOR NOTARY FUNCTIONS PERFORMED DURING 2020 COVID-19 PUBLIC

THE ADVOCATE
PAGE 10

* As it appears in the enrolled bill

HEALTH EMERGENCY

§701. Purpose; ratification

A. The legislature finds that the COVID-19 public health emergency created a statewide emergency disrupting the ability of notaries public to be in the physical presence of persons whose signatures the notary public was authenticating. This Chapter is enacted for the benefit and protection of the state as a whole and its citizens, to prevent injustice, inequity, undue hardship, and disruption of transactions to persons relying on the authentication of signatures of persons not in the physical presence of a notary public by a notary public who authenticated the signature through electronic means using audio-video communication. Therefore, this Chapter shall be liberally construed to effect its purposes.

B. The action of the governor of this state in issuing Section 6 of Proclamation Number 37 JBE 2020 and Part C of Section 5 of Proclamation Number 41 JBE 2020 is hereby approved, ratified, and confirmed subject to the provisions of this Part.

§702. Remote notarization authorized

A. Notwithstanding any law to the contrary, any act in which any person or witness appeared before a notary public using an electronic device or process which allowed all such persons and the notary public to communicate simultaneously by sight and sound and to which the electronic signatures of such persons, witnesses, and the notary public were affixed on or after March 11, 2020, and before May 1, 2020, shall have the same force and effect as if all persons, witnesses, and the notary public had been in the physical presence of each other.

B. The provisions of Subsection A of this Section shall not apply to any testament, trust instrument, donation inter vivos, matrimonial agreement, act modifying, waiving, or extinguishing an obligation of final spousal support, or any amendments to such acts, or authentic acts.

C. Any act which would constitute an authentic act but for the appearance of one or more necessary persons via electronic means, may still be valid as an act under private signature or an acknowledged act.

Section 2. The provisions of this Act shall preempt and supersede but not repeal any conflicting provision of the Civil Code or any other provision of law to the extent that such provision conflicts with the provisions of this Act.

Section 3. This Act is declared to be interpretative, curative, and procedural, and therefore is to be applied retroactively as well as prospectively.

Section 4. The Louisiana State Law Institute is hereby directed to include as notes to this Act Proclamation Number 37 JBE 2020 and Proclamation Number 41 JBE 2020.

Section 5. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 132

HOUSE BILL NO. 129
BY REPRESENTATIVE WILFORD CARTER
AN ACT

To amend and reenact Code of Criminal Procedure Article 976(A)(2), relative to expungement of records; to provide relative to the motion to expunge a record of arrest that did not result in a conviction; to provide that a person may file a motion to expunge such record if the person successfully completes a pretrial diversion program; and to provide for related matters. Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Code of Criminal Procedure Article 976(A)(2) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

Art. 976. Motion to expunge record of arrest that did not result in a conviction
A. A person may file a motion to expunge a record of his arrest for a felony or misdemeanor offense that did not result in a conviction if any of the following apply:

* * *

(2) The district attorney for any reason declined to prosecute any offense arising out of that arrest, including the reason that the person successfully completed a pretrial diversion program.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 133

HOUSE BILL NO. 132
BY REPRESENTATIVE HORTON

CODING: Words in ~~struck through~~ type are deletions from existing law; words underscored (House Bills) and underscored and boldfaced (Senate

AN ACT

To enact R.S. 1:50, relative to daylight saving time; to provide for conditions; to adopt daylight saving time as the standard time; to provide for implementation; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 1:50 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§50. Daylight saving time; conditions; adoption

If the United States Congress amends 15 U.S.C. 260(a) to authorize states to observe daylight saving time year-round, the state shall adopt daylight saving time as the year-round standard time of the entire state and all of its political subdivisions.

Section 2. If, when the necessary authorization is given for this provision to be effective, the state is observing daylight saving time, the state shall not return to standard time. If, when the necessary authorization is given for this provision to be effective, the state is observing standard time, the state shall remain in standard time until 2:00 a.m. on the second Sunday in March, when the state shall observe daylight saving time; the state shall not return to standard time.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 134

HOUSE BILL NO. 185

BY REPRESENTATIVE WILLARD

AN ACT

To enact R.S. 22:317.1, relative to the licensure of insurance producers; to require a producer selling, soliciting, or negotiating insurance products for a fraternal benefit society to be licensed; to provide for an effective date; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 22:317.1 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§317.1. Regulation of producers

Any person selling, soliciting, or negotiating insurance products for a fraternal benefit society shall be subject to the provisions of Part I of Chapter 5 of this Title.

Section 2. This Act shall become effective on July 1, 2020.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 135

HOUSE BILL NO. 249

BY REPRESENTATIVE TRAVIS JOHNSON

AN ACT

To enact R.S. 13:5722(A)(2)(e), relative to court costs in Concordia Parish; to provide for an additional court fee in criminal matters in all courts in Concordia Parish; to provide relative to the coroner's operational fund; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 13:5722(A)(2)(e) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§5722. Coroner's Operational Fund established

A. * * *

(2) * * *

(e) In criminal cases, including traffic violations, in all courts in Concordia Parish, a fee of not more than five dollars may be imposed on every defendant who is convicted after trial or plea of guilty, which fee shall be used solely to defray the operational costs of the office of the coroner of the parish.

Section 2. The imposition of court costs or fees as provided in this Act shall become effective on the date of Judicial Council approval; no fees shall be collected without Judicial Council approval.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 136

HOUSE BILL NO. 290

BY REPRESENTATIVE BISHOP

AN ACT

To enact R.S. 18:154(J), relative to records of the registrar of voters; to provide relative to confidentiality of certain records relative to election

commissioners; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 18:154(J) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§154. Records open to inspection; copying; exceptions

J. Notwithstanding any provision of this Section to the contrary, the registrar, the clerk of court, and the Department of State shall not disclose the address or telephone number of an early voting commissioner, commissioner-in-charge, or commissioner who is certified to serve in an election.

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 137

HOUSE BILL NO. 317

BY REPRESENTATIVES THOMPSON, ADAMS, AMEDEE, BACALA, BAGLEY, BEAULLIEU, BISHOP, BRASS, BROWN, BRYANT, CARPENTER, CARRIER, GARY CARTER, WILFORD CARTER, CORMIER, COX, DESHOTEL, DUBUISSON, DUPLESSIS, EDMONDS, EDMONSTON, EMERSON, FARNUM, FIRMENT, FONTENOT, FREEMAN, FREIBERG, FRIEMAN, GADBERRY, GOUDEAU, GREEN, HARRIS, HORTON, HUGHES, ILLG, IVEY, JEFFERSON, JENKINS, MIKE JOHNSON, TRAVIS JOHNSON, JONES, KERNER, LACOMBE, LARVADAIN, LYONS, MARCELLE, MCKNIGHT, DUSTIN MILLER, MINCEY, MOORE, NELSON, CHARLES OWEN, ROBERT OWEN, PHELPS, PIERRE, RISER, ROMERO, SCHEXNAYDER, SELDERS, STAGNI, STEFANSKI, THOMAS, WHEAT, WHITE, AND WILLARD AND SENATORS BERNARD, CATHEY, CONNICK, CORTEZ, FESI, FOIL, HENRY, HENSGENS, HEWITT, JOHNS, MCMATH, MILLIGAN, ROBERT MILLS, MIZELL, MORRIS, PEACOCK, POPE, PRICE, REESE, SMITH, WARD, AND WOMACK

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 32:412(Section heading) and (P) and to enact R.S. 32:412(Q), relative to criteria for the establishment of a special license plate designation; to provide for a special license plate designation indicating that a person has autism spectrum disorder; to provide penalties for false statements concerning an autism spectrum disorder designation; to require the implementation of a law enforcement officer training course; to provide for the promulgation of rules and regulations; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 32:412(Section heading) and (P) are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 32:412(Q) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§412. Amount of fees; credit or refund; duration of license; veteran designation; disabled veteran designation; university logo; "I'm a Cajun" designation; needs accommodation designation; autism spectrum disorder designation; disbursement of funds; renewal by mail or electronic commerce of Class "D" or "E" drivers' licenses; disposition of certain fees; exception

(P)(1) Upon request of an applicant for a driver's license, a designation that the applicant has autism spectrum disorder shall be exhibited on the driver's license upon presentation of a statement from a qualified medical or mental health professional licensed in Louisiana or any other state or territory of the United States verifying the applicant's disability as established by administrative rule. The qualified medical or mental health professional shall be authorized to diagnose autism spectrum disorder. No additional fee shall be charged to include such designation.

(2) Upon the renewal of a driver's license, a driver who has autism spectrum disorder shall provide a statement from a qualified medical or mental health professional licensed in Louisiana or any other state or territory of the United States verifying his disability as established by administrative rule.

(3) Any person who has not been diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder who willfully and falsely represents himself as having the qualifications to obtain the special designation authorized by this Section shall be fined not less than one hundred dollars nor more than two hundred fifty dollars, or shall be imprisoned for not more than thirty days, or both. Any subsequent offense shall result in a fine of not less than two hundred fifty dollars nor more than five hundred dollars, or imprisonment for not more than ninety days, or both.

(4) In addition to the requirements of R.S. 40:2404.2(C), the Department of Public Safety and Corrections, public safety services, shall establish and implement a law enforcement training course relative to law enforcement officers' interaction with persons who have autism spectrum disorder. The course shall instruct law enforcement officers on sensitivity and awareness to ensure equitable treatment and how to effectively communicate and interact with persons with autism spectrum disorder. At a minimum, the course shall include the following:

(a) Identification of indicators that a person has autism spectrum disorder.
(b) Identification of procedures that an officer should employ when encountering a person with autism spectrum disorder.
(c) Demonstrations of communication and interactive techniques required to effectively interact with a person with autism spectrum disorder.
(d) Explanations that provide law enforcement officers with an understanding of the developmental disability and examples of unexpected actions potentially taken by persons diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder.

(e) Explanations of the resources available to assist an officer encountering a person who has autism spectrum disorder.

(f) Descriptions of the procedures an officer should use to ensure compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act when encountering a person with autism spectrum disorder.

(5) The deputy secretary of the Department of Public Safety and Corrections, public safety services, shall promulgate rules and regulations as necessary to implement the provisions of this Subsection, including a waiver of liability for the release of any medical information. Notwithstanding the provisions of R.S. 49:968(B)(12), the House and Senate committees on transportation, highways and public works shall have oversight of the adoption of rules and regulations required by this Subsection.

P.Q. An applicant for any class of license may choose to donate one dollar in addition to any license fee required by this Section to the Louisiana Military Family Assistance Fund.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 138

HOUSE BILL NO. 328

BY REPRESENTATIVES FREEMAN, ADAMS, BISHOP, BRASS, BRYANT, CARPENTER, GARY CARTER, ROBBY CARTER, WILFORD CARTER, CORMIER, COX, DAVIS, DUPLESSIS, EDMONSTON, FREIBERG, GREEN, HILFERTY, HUGHES, IVEY, JEFFERSON, JENKINS, TRAVIS JOHNSON, JONES, KERNER, LACOMBE, LANDRY, LARVADAIN, LYONS, MAGEE, MARCELLE, MOORE, NEWELL, PHELPS, PIERRE, SELDERS, WHITE, AND WILLARD AND SENATORS BARROW, CARTER, MIZELL, AND SMITH

AN ACT

To enact R.S. 47:337.10(P) and 337.10.2, relative to local sales and use tax exemptions; to authorize local sales and use taxing authorities to exempt certain purchases of feminine hygiene products from local sales and use tax; to authorize local sales and use taxing authorities to exempt certain purchases of diapers from local sales and use tax; to provide for definitions; to provide for certain requirements; to provide for certain limitations; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 47:337.10(P) and 337.10.2 are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§337.10. Optional exclusions and exemptions

* * *

P. As provided for in R.S. 47:337.10.2, a political subdivision may by ordinance or resolution exempt purchases of feminine hygiene products, diapers, or both for personal use from all or part of the sales and use tax levied by the political subdivision.

* * *

§337.10.2. Local sales and use tax; feminine hygiene products and diapers; definitions

A. Any political subdivision may by ordinance or resolution exempt purchases of feminine hygiene products, diapers, or both for individual personal use from all or part of the sales and use tax levied by the political subdivision.

B. For purposes of this Section:

(1) "Diaper" means any absorbent diaper or undergarment used for incontinence in adults and any absorbent diaper or undergarment designed to be worn by a child who cannot yet control bladder or bowel movements.

(2) "Feminine hygiene product" means tampons, menstrual pads, sanitary napkins, panty liners, menstrual sponges, and menstrual cups, including disposable and washable versions of these items.

C. This Section shall apply only to taxable periods through December 31, 2021.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 139

HOUSE BILL NO. 343

BY REPRESENTATIVE JORDAN

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 22:1574(A)(2), relative to the Bail Bond Apprentice Program; to provide for the qualifications of participants; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 22:1574(A)(2) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§1574. Bail Bond Apprentice Program

A.

* * *

(2) The Bail Bond Apprentice Program shall be available only to persons who meet current bail bond producer licensing requirements as provided for in Chapter 5 of this Title and who have not been convicted of a felony and who are not sexual offenders or serial sexual offenders as defined in R.S. 15:536.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 140

HOUSE BILL NO. 344

BY REPRESENTATIVES LANDRY, BRASS, BRYANT, WILFORD CARTER, COUSSAN, COX, DUPLESSIS, FREEMAN, FREIBERG, HUGHES, JEFFERSON, JENKINS, TRAVIS JOHNSON, JORDAN, LARVADAIN, MAGEE, MARCELLE, DUSTIN MILLER, MOORE, NEWELL, PIERRE, RISER, SELDERS, THOMPSON, WHITE, WILLARD, AND ZERINGUE AND SENATOR BARROW

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 15:865, relative to solitary confinement; to prohibit the use of solitary confinement for certain persons; to provide for exceptions; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 15:865 is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§865. Solitary confinement abolished

A. ~~No~~ Except as provided in Subsections B and C of this Section, no prisoner in the state penitentiary shall be placed in solitary confinement, except in enforcing obedience to the police regulations of the penitentiary.

B. Notwithstanding Subsection A of this Section and except as provided in Subsection C of this Section, no prisoner in any penal or correctional institution who is pregnant, or is less than eight weeks post medical release following a pregnancy, or is caring for a child in a penal or correctional institution shall be placed in solitary confinement.

C. The provisions of this Section prohibiting the placement of prisoners in solitary confinement does not apply under either of the following circumstances:

(1) The prisoner has engaged in an act of violence while incarcerated that either resulted in or was likely to result in serious bodily injury or death to another.

(2) There is reasonable cause to believe that the use of solitary confinement is necessary to reduce a substantial risk of imminent serious bodily injury or death to another, as evidenced by the prisoner's recent conduct while incarcerated.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 141

HOUSE BILL NO. 357

BY REPRESENTATIVES MAGEE, BOURRIAQUE, BROWN, WILFORD CARTER, COX, FARNUM, HUGHES, JEFFERSON, TRAVIS JOHNSON, KERNER, PIERRE, AND STAGNI

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 27:302 and 304 and to enact R.S. 27:306 through 315, relative to fantasy sports contests; to provide relative to the Louisiana Fantasy Sports Contests Act; to provide for definitions; to provide for the licensing and regulation of fantasy sports contests, operators, and players; to provide relative to suitability of fantasy sports contest operators; to provide relative to the issuance or denial of licenses; to prohibit the transfer of licenses; to provide penalties for allowing certain persons to be a fantasy sports contest player; to provide relative to administrative rules; to provide for periodic reporting; to provide relative to civil penalties; to provide relative to revocation or suspension of a license; to provide relative to investigations; to provide for obligations to participants; to provide for inactive accounts; to provide for effectiveness; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 27:302 and 304 are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 27:306 through 315 are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§302. Definitions

For purposes of this Chapter:

(1) "Board" means the Louisiana Gaming Control Board.

(2) "Confidential information" means information related to the play of a fantasy sports contest by fantasy sports contest players that is obtained as a result of or by virtue of a person's employment. (3) "Entry fee" means cash or cash equivalent that is required to be paid by a fantasy sports contest participant to a fantasy sports contest operator in order to participate in a fantasy sports contest.

(2)(4) "Fantasy sports contest" means any fantasy or simulation sports game or contest played through the internet or mobile device with all of the following elements:

(a) Participants create a simulation sports team based on the current membership of real-world amateur or professional sports organizations.

(b) All prizes and awards offered to winning participants are established and made known to the participants in advance of the game or contest, and the value of the prizes or awards is not determined by the number of participants or the amount of any fees paid by those participants.

(c) All winning outcomes reflect the relative knowledge and skill of the participant and are predominantly determined by accumulated statistical results of the performance of the individuals, including athletes in the case of sporting events.

(d) No winning outcome is based on either of the following:

(i) On the score, point-spread, or any performance or performances of any single real-world team or any combination of such teams.

(ii) Solely on any single performance of an individual athlete in any single real-world sporting or other event.

(5) "Fantasy sports contest operator" or "operator" means a suitable person domiciled in Louisiana or a domestic business entity or a foreign corporation that is licensed by the board to offer a platform for the playing of fantasy sports contests, to administer one or more fantasy sports contests with an entry fee, and to award a prize of value.

(6) "Fantasy sports contest player" or "player" means a person who participates in a fantasy sports contest offered by a fantasy sports contest operator.

(7) "Gross fantasy sports contest revenues" means the amount equal to the total of all entry fees that a fantasy sports contest operator collects from all fantasy sports contest players, multiplied by the location percentage for the state of Louisiana.

(8) "Location percentage" means, for each fantasy sports contest, the percentage rounded to the nearest tenth of a percent of the total of entry fees collected from fantasy sports contest players located in the state of Louisiana, divided by the total entry fees collected from such players participating in fantasy sports contests.

(9) "Net revenue" means, for all fantasy sports contests, the amount equal to the total entry fees collected from all participants entering such fantasy sports contests, less the winnings paid to participants in the contests.

* * *

§304. Gaming Control Board; duties and powers

A. The board shall perform the duties and functions as authorized by the provisions of this Chapter and the regulatory authority with respect to the regulation of fantasy sports contests as provided by R.S. 27:15.

B.(1) The board shall adopt, pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act, all rules necessary to implement, administer, and regulate fantasy sports contests as authorized in this Chapter. The rules shall include but not be limited to the following:

(a) The issuance of any license, contract, or permit authorized by this Chapter, subject to regulation by the board.

(b) The methods of and forms and procedures for making an application for a license, contract, or permit to be considered by the board.

(c) The methods of and forms for providing to the board information concerning a person's family, habits, character, associates, criminal record, business activities, and financial affairs.

(d) Enforcement of this Chapter, gaming laws administered by the board, and rules of the board, including imposition and collection of fines, penalties, and other sanctions which may be imposed by the board against an operator or any other licensee or permittee of the board.

(2) Not later than August 1, 2020, the board shall institute rulemaking procedures as necessary to implement the provisions of this Subsection.

C.(1) In accordance with R.S. 27:306(C) and (D) and the Administrative Procedure Act, the board may assess and provide for the imposition and collection of such fees as may be necessary to defray administrative costs associated with the application for and the investigation, granting, or renewal of licenses and enforcement of this Chapter.

(2) Any fine or other monetary penalty collected by the board or its staff shall be remitted to the state treasury for deposit into the state general fund.

D. Upon direction of the board, the office of state police and the attorney general shall submit proposed rules to the board for consideration, modification, and promulgation as provided in this Section.

E. The board shall not adopt rules and regulations pertaining to campaign finance and contributions which are more restrictive than the provisions of law found generally in Chapter 11 of Title 18 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, and specifically in R.S. 18:1505.2(L).

* * *

§306. Licensing of fantasy sports contest operators

A. No fantasy sports contest operator shall offer any fantasy sports contest

in this state without first being licensed by the board. Applications for licensure shall be on forms provided by the board.

B. Before obtaining a license to offer fantasy sports contests in this state, a fantasy sports contest operator shall:

(1) Be a person domiciled in Louisiana or a domestic business entity with a certificate of existence from the Secretary of State and in good standing or a foreign corporation with a certificate of authority to transact business in this state from the Secretary of State and in good standing.

(2) Demonstrate to the board that the operator is suitable for licensing pursuant to R.S. 27:28.

(3) Provide the board with financial statements indicating any gross fantasy sports contest revenue for the previous three years.

C. The initial application fee shall be one thousand dollars and shall be non-refundable.

D. The license fee for a fantasy sports contest license shall be submitted to the division prior to the issuance of the license. Each license shall be granted for a term of three years. The license fee shall be as follows:

(1) If the three-year average of the licensee's gross fantasy sports contest revenue is less than one hundred thousand dollars or the licensee has no previous revenue, the fee shall be five thousand dollars.

(2) If the three-year average of the licensee's gross fantasy sports contest revenue is one hundred thousand dollars or more, but less than three hundred thousand dollars, the fee shall be fifteen thousand dollars.

(3) If the three-year average of the licensee's gross fantasy sports contest revenue is more than three hundred thousand dollars, the fee shall be forty thousand dollars.

(4) The renewal fee for a fantasy sports contest license shall be submitted to the division on the anniversary date of the issuance of the license and shall be assessed in the same manner as the original license fee was assessed.

E. All fees, fines, and other monies collected by the division, pursuant to this Chapter, shall be forwarded upon receipt to the state treasurer for immediate deposit into the state treasury. An amount shall be allocated to the Department of Public Safety and Corrections and to the Department of Justice, pursuant to legislative appropriation, for regulatory, administrative, investigative, enforcement, legal, and other such expenses as may be necessary to carry out the provisions of this Chapter and for activities associated with the enforcement of laws and regulations governing fantasy sports contests.

F. Any fantasy sports contest operator that allows its license to lapse, without requesting an extension of time to file for renewal of the license, shall be required to resubmit an initial application for licensure. An extension may be granted by the board upon receipt of a written request prior to the lapse of the license.

G. A license issued by the board to a fantasy sports contest operator shall not be transferable.

§307. Issuance or denial of license

A. The board shall consider all applications for licensure and shall issue a license to an applicant that meets the criteria set forth in this Chapter and as established by the board.

B. The board shall deny a license to any applicant who does not meet the criteria as set forth in this Chapter and as established by the board.

C. The board shall issue or deny an operator's license within sixty days of receipt of an application for licensure. If a license is not issued, the board shall provide the operator with specific reasons for not issuing a license.

D. A license issued by the board to a fantasy sports contest operator shall not be transferable.

§308. Licensee requirements

A. As a condition of licensure, a fantasy sports contest operator shall submit evidence to the board that the operator has established and will implement commercially reasonable procedures for fantasy sports contests with an entry fee and that:

(1) Prevent employees of the fantasy sports contest operator, and relatives of an employee living in the same household as an employee of an operator, from competing in fantasy sports contests offered by an operator in which the operator offers a cash prize to the general public.

(2) Prevent sharing of confidential information that could affect fantasy sports contests with third parties until the information is made publicly available.

(3) Provide that no winning outcome is based on the score, point spread, or any performance of any single real-world sports team or combination of such teams or solely on any single performance of an individual athlete or participant in any single real-world sporting event.

(4) Ensure that any of following persons do not participate in fantasy sports contests:

(a) Athletes and individuals who participate in or officiate a game or competition that is a real-world sport or athletic event that is the subject of a fantasy sports contest.

(b) Any sports agent, team employee, referee, or league official associated with a real-world sport or athletic event that is the subject of a fantasy sports contest.

(5) Verify that a fantasy sports contest player is twenty-one years of age or older.

(6) Provide fantasy sports contest players with access to information on responsible play.

(7) Provide fantasy sports contest players with access to the fantasy sports contest player's play history and account details that are not confidential.

(8) Allow individuals to restrict themselves from entering a fantasy sports

contest upon request and provide reasonable steps to prevent the person entering fantasy sports contests offered by an operator.

(9) Segregate fantasy sports contest player funds from operational funds or maintain a reserve that exceeds the amount of player funds on deposit, which may not be used for operational activities. Reserve funds may take the form of cash, cash equivalents, payment process reserves, payment processor receivables, an irrevocable letter of credit, a bond, or a combination thereof, in the amount that must exceed the total balances of the fantasy sports contest players' accounts.

B. A fantasy sports contest operator shall not offer fantasy sports contests based on the performances of participants in high school or youth athletic events.

C. A fantasy sports contest operator shall not offer a fantasy sports contest to the general public that does not establish and make known all prizes and awards offered to winning participants in advance of the game or contest.

D. A licensed fantasy sports contest operator shall:

(1) Annually contract with a certified public accountant to conduct an independent audit that is consistent with the standards accepted by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

(2) Submit to the board a copy of the audit report.

(3) Submit financial reports as required by R.S. 27:310.

§309. Allowing certain players to play fantasy sports contests; penalties; revocation hearing

A.(1) No person licensed pursuant to the provisions of this Chapter, or any agent or employee thereof, shall allow a person under the age of twenty-one years to be a fantasy sports contest player.

(2) No person licensed pursuant to the provisions of this Chapter, or any agent or employee thereof, shall allow a person to participate in a fantasy sports contest while located in a parish in which, at the election held pursuant to R.S. 27:303, a majority of the qualified electors in the parish voting on the proposition to authorize fantasy sports contests in the parish voted against the proposition.

B.(1) The person licensed pursuant to the provisions of this Chapter shall withhold all winnings from fantasy sports contest players who are determined to be under the age of twenty-one years and from fantasy sports contest players participating in a fantasy sports contest while located in a parish in which, at the election held pursuant to R.S. 27:303, a majority of the qualified electors in the parish voting on the proposition to authorize fantasy sports contests in the parish voted against the proposition.

(2) The person licensed pursuant to the provisions of this Chapter shall each quarter report and remit to the division all winnings withheld from fantasy sports contest players pursuant to the provisions of this Section.

C.(1) Violations of Paragraph (A)(1) of this Section shall be penalized by the division as follows:

(a) If the licensee, his employee, or agent reasonably believed that the person was twenty-one years of age or older:

(i) For a first or second violation, a fine of up to one thousand dollars shall be imposed.

(ii) For a third or subsequent violation, a license revocation hearing shall be conducted at which time the board shall determine whether or not there are extenuating circumstances pursuant to which a license suspension or revocation should not be imposed. At the conclusion of the hearing, the board may revoke or suspend the license or, in lieu of the revocation or suspension of a license, the board may impose a civil penalty not to exceed fifty thousand dollars for each violation. Payment of the civil penalty shall be a requirement for the retention of the license held by the entity.

(b) If the licensee, his employee, or agent is shown to have known or reasonably believed he was allowing a person under the age of twenty-one years to be a fantasy sports contest player, or for allowing a person under the age of fifteen years to be a fantasy sports contest player regardless of what the licensee, his employee, or agent knew or reasonably believed about the age of that person:

(i) For a first or second violation, license revocation may be imposed, or a fine of one thousand dollars shall be imposed if the license is not revoked.

(ii) For a third or subsequent violation, a license revocation hearing shall be conducted at which time the board shall determine whether or not there are extenuating circumstances pursuant to which a license suspension or revocation should not be imposed. At the conclusion of the hearing, the board may revoke or suspend a license or, in lieu of the revocation or suspension of a license, the board may impose a civil penalty not to exceed fifty thousand dollars for each violation. Payment of the civil penalty shall be a requirement for the retention of the license held by the entity.

(2) Violations of Paragraph (A)(2) of this Section shall be penalized by the division as follows:

(a) For a first or second violation, license revocation may be imposed or a fine of one thousand dollars shall be imposed if the license is not revoked.

(b) For a third or subsequent violation, a license revocation hearing shall be conducted at which time the board shall determine whether or not there are extenuating circumstances pursuant to which a license suspension or revocation should not be imposed. At the conclusion of the hearing, the board may revoke or suspend a license or, in lieu of the revocation or suspension of a license, the board may impose a civil penalty not to exceed fifty thousand dollars for each violation. Payment of the civil penalty shall be a requirement for the retention of the license held by the entity.

D.(1) A licensee shall be provided notice of the charged violation and may concede the violation and accept the penalty or may deny the violation and

demand a hearing be held, pursuant to R.S. 27:25, to make a determination regarding the charge.

(2) A violation shall have occurred only if the charged violation is conceded by the licensee to have occurred or is found to have occurred at a hearing held for that purpose.

(3) For the purposes of determining whether a second or subsequent violation has occurred, every violation shall have occurred on a separate occasion, by the same operator, and only violations that have occurred within a one-year period, regardless of when they were charged, conceded, or found to have occurred, shall be considered.

(4) For persons having more than one license issued pursuant to the provisions of this Chapter, license revocation as provided in this Subsection shall apply only to the license of the fantasy sports contest operator of the platform on which the violation occurred.

E.(1) It is unlawful for any person under twenty-one years of age to be a fantasy sports contest player.

(2) Whoever violates the provisions of this Subsection shall be fined not more than one hundred dollars.

(3) Any person apprehended while violating the provisions of this Subsection may be issued a citation by the apprehending law enforcement officer, which shall be paid in the same manner as provided for the offenders of local traffic violations.

§310. Reporting of gaming proceeds

An operator shall periodically report the following information to the division, which is not confidential and shall be available for public inspection:

(1) The operator's gross fantasy sports contest revenues.

(2) The operator's net revenue.

(3) Quarterly and annual financial statements regarding their operations in Louisiana submitted to the division that present historical data, including annual financial statements that have been audited by an independent certified public accountant as required by R.S. 27:308(D).

§311. Civil penalties; adoption of schedule of penalties

A. The Louisiana Gaming Control Board shall adopt as a rule the schedule of penalties provided for by this Chapter. All rules shall be adopted pursuant to the provisions of the Administrative Procedure Act.

B. A civil penalty shall not exceed fifty thousand dollars for each violation of any provision of this Chapter or rule of the board.

C.(1) Payment of the civil penalty shall be a requirement for the retention of any license held by the entity which violated any such provisions.

(2)(a) Failure to remit civil penalties shall result in the shutdown of the platform of the operator who refused to remit the civil penalty. The provisions of this Subparagraph shall apply only in those instances where no administrative hearing has been timely requested.

(b) Upon payment of the penalty, the platform may be reactivated.

D. If the operator contests the imposition of the civil penalty, the penalty shall be imposed only after an adjudicatory hearing is conducted pursuant to R.S. 27:25 and a basis for imposition of the penalty is determined to exist.

§312. Revocation or suspension of a license; civil penalty

A. The board or division, as may be applicable, shall initiate an administrative action and may revoke or suspend the license or permit of any person issued pursuant to the provisions of this Chapter for any of the following:

(1) The failure to meet the requirements of suitability as defined in this Chapter or in any rules adopted by the board.

(2) The failure to meet the requirements for the issuance of a license as provided for in this Chapter or in any rules adopted by the board.

(3) Repeated violations of any of the provisions of this Chapter or any rule of the board governing this Chapter. "Repeated violations" shall mean three violations of the same rule or statutory provision which have occurred on separate occasions by the same operator within a one-year period. The date of a violation shall be considered to be the date the citation for that violation is issued.

B. For all other violations not listed in Subsection A of this Section, the board or division, as may be applicable, may issue a civil penalty in accordance with an adopted schedule of penalties as required by R.S. 27:311.

C. In addition to or in lieu of the revocation or suspension of a license issued pursuant to the provisions of this Chapter, the board or division, as may be applicable, may impose a civil penalty not to exceed fifty thousand dollars for each violation of any provision of this Chapter or any rule of the board governing this Chapter.

D. In lieu of revocation or suspension of a license, the licensee may enter into a consent agreement or settlement to pay a penalty not to exceed fifty thousand dollars.

E. No suspension imposed pursuant to the provisions of this Chapter shall exceed a period of thirty days.

§313. Investigations and violations

A. The division shall conduct such investigations, hearings, and inquiries as it deems necessary to fulfill its responsibilities under the provisions of this Chapter. A license may be suspended prior to a hearing upon a written finding of danger to public health and welfare.

B. As a condition of receiving a license under the provisions of this Chapter, each operator agrees that the division and its agents and employees shall have unrestricted access and the right to inspect any premises or electronic platform under the control of the operator in which any activity relating to the provisions of this Chapter is conducted.

§314. Limitation on active accounts; obligations to participants

An operator shall:

(1) Limit each authorized player to one active and continuously used account.

(2) Publish and facilitate parental control procedures to allow parents or guardians to exclude minors from access to any contest or platform. The procedures shall include a toll-free number to call for help in establishing such parental controls.

(3) Make clear conspicuous statements that are not inaccurate or misleading concerning the chances of winning and the number of winners when referencing the chances or likelihood of winning.

(4) Permit any authorized player to permanently close an account registered to the player, on any and all platforms supported by the operator, at any time and for any reason.

(5) Identify all highly experienced players in any contest by a symbol attached to the players' usernames, or by other visible means, on all platforms supported by the operator.

(6) Implement measures to protect the privacy and online security of authorized players, their account, and their personal financial information.

§315. Charging for inactive accounts

A. An operator shall not charge a player for an inactive account.

B. An operator shall charge players only for entry fees placed or contests entered. No player shall be charged for failure to enter on a fantasy sports contest or for failure to deposit certain amounts of cash or cash equivalent into any account.

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 142

HOUSE BILL NO. 376

BY REPRESENTATIVES MARCELLE AND JAMES

AN ACT

To enact R.S. 33:2476(B)(1)(e), relative to the city of Baton Rouge; to provide relative to the municipal fire and police civil service board; to provide relative to the qualifications of board members; to require specified members of the board to reside within certain areas of East Baton Rouge Parish; and to provide for related matters.

Notice of intention to introduce this Act has been published as provided by Article III, Section 13 of the Constitution of Louisiana.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 33:2476(B)(1)(e) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§2476. Municipal fire and police civil service boards

* * *

B.(1)

* * *

(e) Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in the city of Baton Rouge, the three members appointed pursuant to Paragraph (C)(2) of this Section shall be residents of the city of Baton Rouge, the unincorporated area of EastBaton Rouge Parish, or a combination thereof for at least five years next preceding their appointment, and, at the time of their appointment, shall be qualified voters of East Baton Rouge Parish.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 143

HOUSE BILL NO. 378

BY REPRESENTATIVE WHITE

AN ACT

To enact R.S. 33:103(C)(1)(o), relative to the Washington Parish planning commission; to authorize the governing authority of the parish to pay members a per diem for attending commission meetings; to provide relative to the amount of the per diem and for the number of meetings for which members may be paid; and to provide for related matters.

Notice of intention to introduce this Act has been published as provided by Article III, Section 13 of the Constitution of Louisiana.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 33:103(C)(1)(o) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§103. Planning commission; membership; appointment

* * *

C.(1) All members of a commission, whether a parish or a municipal

planning commission, shall serve without compensation, except as otherwise provided by this Paragraph or as otherwise provided by law, and shall hold no other public office, except they may also serve as members of any duly constituted regional commission of which their parish or municipality forms a part.

* * *

(o) Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, the governing authority of Washington Parish may pay members of the parish planning commission a per diem of not less than twenty-five dollars nor more than sixty dollars for attendance at meetings of the commission for a maximum of twenty-four meetings per year. Any such per diem shall be paid by the parish governing authority from monies appropriated from the general fund of the parish.

* * *

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 144

HOUSE BILL NO. 412

BY REPRESENTATIVE ZERINGUE

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 39:100.31(B) and to enact R.S. 39:100.31(C), relative to the State Emergency Response Fund; to provide for authorized uses of monies in the fund; to provide for legislative intent with respect to prior Acts of the legislature; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 39:100.31(B) is hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 39:100.31(C) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§100.31. State Emergency Response Fund

* * *

B. Monies in the fund shall be appropriated and used to provide a source of funds to pay expenses incurred as a result of activities associated with the preparation for, and response to, and recovery from an emergency or declared disaster. The expenditure for such a purpose from another source may be eligible to be repaid from the fund if the using agency has certified the necessity of such action to the commissioner of administration. Monies in the fund may also be utilized to provide bridge funding in anticipation of reimbursements from the federal government or other source. Any reimbursement received for expenses paid from the fund shall be returned to and deposited into the fund. Transfers of monies from the fund may be made from one agency to another prior to obtaining approval by the Joint Legislative Committee on the Budget in the event of an emergency and if certified by the commissioner of administration to the governor that any delay in the expenditure of such monies would be detrimental to the welfare and safety of the state and its citizens. The Joint Legislative Committee on the Budget shall be notified in writing of such declaration and shall meet to consider such action, but if it is found by the committee that such funds were not needed for an emergency expenditure, such approval may be withdrawn and any balance remaining shall not be expended.

C.(1) The Legislature of Louisiana recognizes the importance of a robust cybersecurity defense for the state and its political subdivisions. Notwithstanding the provisions of Subsection B of this Section, monies in the fund may also be used for the following purposes:

(a) Training opportunities for employees of the state and its political subdivisions in information assurance, security, and recovery; cybersecurity; and related fields.

(b) Funding additional pay for employees of the state and its political subdivisions who respond to cyber incidents on behalf of the state and its political subdivisions in addition to performing their primary employment duties.

(c) Funding the purchase of updated computer hardware and software and internet-connected devices for the state and its political subdivisions that are determined to be necessary by the office of technology services following vulnerability assessments, inspections, or cyber incident recovery efforts.

(d) Funding retention of private-sector information technology professionals.

(2) For the purposes of this Subsection, the term "cyber incident" shall mean any type of malicious, destructive, or harmful software or program that is targeted at, negatively affects, or impacts computers, computer servers, computer programs, computer services, computer software, internet-connected devices, or computer systems or networks owned or operated by the state of Louisiana or its political subdivisions, including but not limited to cyber threat indicators, denial of service attacks, malware, or ransom-ware attacks, whether imminent or not.

Section 2. The provisions of Section 1 of this Act shall supersede the provisions of Section 7 of Act No. 404 of the 2019 Regular Session of the

Legislature that amend and reenact R.S. 39:100.31(B).
Section 3. The provisions of this Act shall become effective July 1, 2020.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.
A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 145

HOUSE BILL NO. 414
BY REPRESENTATIVE THOMPSON
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 40:539(C)(8)(g), relative to employees of the Monroe Housing Authority; to provide that employees of the authority shall not be in the state civil service; and to provide for related matters.

Notice of intention to introduce this Act has been published as provided by Article III, Section 13 of the Constitution of Louisiana.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 40:539(C)(8)(g) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§539. Selection of chairman and vice chairman; executive director; hiring of employees

* * *

C.

* * *

(8)

* * *

(g) Notwithstanding any provision of Subparagraph (a) of this Paragraph or of any other law to the contrary, the Monroe Housing Authority shall not be considered an instrumentality of the state for purposes of Article X, Section 1(A) of the Constitution of Louisiana and employees of the authority shall not be included in the state civil service.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.
A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 146

HOUSE BILL NO. 417
BY REPRESENTATIVE JAMES
AN ACT

To amend and reenact Children's Code Article 406(A), relative to costs and fees in juvenile cases; to provide relative to the authority of the court to waive costs and fees in juvenile cases; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Children's Code Article 406(A) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

Art. 406. Waiver of court costs and fees

A. In its discretion, the court may waive costs and fees to the extent that a party is unable to pay such costs and fees due to poverty or lack of means or for any other reason determined by the court.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.
A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 147

HOUSE BILL NO. 418
BY REPRESENTATIVE LACOMBE
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 40:966(F)(6) and to enact R.S. 40:966(F)(7) and (8), relative to immunity from prosecution for medical marijuana; to provide that certain facilities and physicians shall be exempt from prosecution for certain violations of the Uniform Controlled Dangerous Substances Law; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 40:966(F)(6) is hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 40:966(F)(7) and (8) are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§966. Penalty for distribution or possession with intent to distribute narcotic drugs listed in Schedule I; possession of marijuana, synthetic cannabinoids, and heroin

* * *

F. Immunity from prosecution.

* * *

(6) Any facility that is licensed by the Louisiana Department of Health and has patients in its care using medical marijuana pursuant to R.S. 40:1046 shall be exempt from the prohibitions provided in this Section for possession and distribution of marijuana. This Paragraph shall not prohibit the arrest or

prosecution of any person for diversion of medical marijuana or any other conduct outside the scope of the state-sanctioned medical marijuana program provided for in R.S. 40:1046.

(7) Any physician who provides information on marijuana for therapeutic use within a bona fide doctor-patient relationship or who issues a recommendation to a patient for marijuana for therapeutic use pursuant to R.S. 40:1046 shall be exempt from the prohibitions provided in this Section for possession and distribution of marijuana. This Paragraph shall not prohibit the arrest or prosecution of any person for diversion of medical marijuana or any other conduct outside the scope of the state-sanctioned medical marijuana program provided for in R.S. 40:1046.

(8)(a) The defenses in Paragraph (1) of this Subsection shall be raised by reproducing a patient's medical records that have been created by his attending physician, that contain the recommendation to possess marijuana for therapeutic use in a form permissible under R.S. 40:1046.

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, except when the person to be arrested has committed a felony, although not in the presence of the officer, no peace officer may arrest any employee, board member, director, or agent during the course and scope of his employment with the following, pursuant to R.S. 40:1046:

(i) A pharmacy licensed to dispense marijuana for therapeutic use.

(ii) A licensee of marijuana for therapeutic use or its subordinate licensed contractor.

(iii) A testing laboratory of marijuana for therapeutic use, authorized to do business.

(iv) A licensed researcher of marijuana for therapeutic use, performing his official duties.

(c) The defendant shall bear the burden of proving that the possession, manufacture, production, transportation, or distribution was in accordance with the state-sponsored medical marijuana program, the Louisiana Board of Pharmacy rules and regulations, or the Department of Agriculture and Forestry rules and regulation, as applicable.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.
A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 148

HOUSE BILL NO. 426
BY REPRESENTATIVE THOMPSON
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 3:1435(5), relative to the seed testing and labeling authority of the commissioner of agriculture; to provide for an exemption of the analyses of certain seed tests from Public Records Law; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 3:1435(5) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:
§1435. Authority of the commissioner

The commissioner may:

* * *

(5) Make purity, germination, and additional tests of seeds for persons upon request. The analyses shown by these tests shall be confidential and shall be made available only to the requestor, unless otherwise specifically authorized by the requestor, and shall be exempt from the Public Records Law, R.S. 44:1 et seq.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.
A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 149

HOUSE BILL NO. 438
BY REPRESENTATIVE TURNER
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 46:236.6(A), (E), and (F) and 236.7(B) and (F) and to enact R.S. 46:236.6(B)(4) and (G) and 236.7(C)(4) and (G), relative to child support contempt proceedings; to require certain findings by the court; to require certain information to appear in a rule for contempt; to provide for the enforcement of a support order upon termination; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 46:236.6(A), (E), and (F) and 236.7(B) and (F) are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 46:236.6(B)(4) and (G) and 236.7(C)(4) and (G) are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§236.6. Failure to pay support; procedure, penalties and publication

A.(1) If a defendant violates the terms of a court order, issued pursuant to the provisions of R.S. 46:236.1.1 et seq., and 236.2, Children's Code ~~Articles~~ Article 1301 ~~1301.1~~ et seq., or R.S. 13:4241, requiring him to pay child support to the

Department of Children and Family Services, a representative of the child support collection agency as set forth in R.S. 46:236.1.8 may issue and serve on the defendant a summons ordering him to appear and show cause before the proper court of competent jurisdiction, on a date which shall be specified by the court, why he should not be held in contempt of court. Prior to or at the hearing, the Department of Children and Family Services or the district attorney shall file with the court any summons served and a rule for contempt which shall be served in open court on the defendant, setting forth the terms of the original court order for child support and all modifications thereof, along with the allegations purporting to place the defendant in contempt. If the defendant denies the allegations or offers a defense to the rule, the court may, upon motion of either party or on its own motion, continue the hearing.

(2) In the alternative, a representative of the child support collection agency as set forth above may serve on the defendant a rule to show cause why he should not be held in contempt for failing to abide by the previous orders of the court, with the rule setting forth the same terms as in a rule for contempt, if the representative does not serve a summons on the offender. The rule shall contain a specific time, place, and date where the offender is to appear and show cause in answer to the rule. Hearings tried on rules for contempt or rules to show cause shall be tried in a summary manner.

(3) Any rule served on the defendant under Paragraph (1) or (2) of this Subsection shall inform the defendant that his ability to pay child support will be a critical issue in the contempt proceeding.

(4) The court may find a defendant in contempt if the court expressly finds that the defendant is in arrears, had knowledge of the child support order, and any of the following apply:

(a) The court is satisfied that the defendant had the capacity to pay out of currently available resources all or some portion of the amount due under the support order.

(b) The court is satisfied that by the exercise of diligence the defendant could have obtained the capacity to pay all or some portion of the amount due under the support order and that the defendant failed or refused to do so.

(c) The defendant has willfully failed to participate in an approved plan for parental participation of support under R.S. 46:236.12.

B. If at the hearing of such rule the court finds the accused guilty of contempt for failure to comply with the previous judgment, the contempt shall be deemed constructive contempt under Code of Civil Procedure Article 224(2) and the defendant may be punished as follows:

(4) The court shall consider the defendant's present ability to comply before imposing any sentence under Paragraph (1) or (2) of this Subsection.

E. The termination of a court order issued pursuant to the provisions of R.S. 46:236.1.1 et seq. and 236.2, Children's Code Article 1301.1 et seq., or R.S. 13:4241, requiring a defendant to pay child support to the Department of Children and Family Services does not abate the power of any court or the department to collect any overdue and unpaid support or arrearage owed under the terminated support order or the power of the court to punish any person for a failure to comply with, or to pay any support as ordered in, the terminated court order.

F. The provisions and remedies provided by this Section shall be construed as an addition to, and not in substitution for, any other remedy otherwise available to obtain or enforce an order for support. Relief under this Section shall not be denied, delayed, or otherwise affected because of the availability of other remedies, nor shall relief under any other statute be delayed or denied because of the availability of the remedies provided by this Section.

F.G.(1) Upon request of any representative of a newspaper and to the extent permitted by federal law, the Department of Children and Family Services shall supply a list of names and addresses of all persons who have been found guilty of criminal neglect of family as provided in R.S. 14:74 et seq. or who have been found in contempt of court for failure to comply with a support order enforced by the Department of Children and Family Services. The newspaper may publish such a list or any part of this list it considers necessary.

(2) The Department of Children and Family Services may adopt rules governing the publication of the names of persons who are delinquent in the payment of child support obligations under orders which are enforced by the department and the publication of information which is related to those delinquent payments. The rules shall be adopted in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act and shall establish the criteria for the selection of the individuals whose names may be published, the criteria for the determination of the types and amount of related information which may be published, and the criteria for the determination of the types of media and individual media outlets in which the names and related information may be published. The department may publish the names and related information at the expense of the department or may release the names and related information for publication on a public service basis.

§236.7. Order of support; stipulation by district attorney and party

B.(1) If a defendant violates the terms of a court order issued pursuant to the provisions of this Section requiring him to pay child support to the Department of Children and Family Services, a representative of the child support collection agency as set forth in R.S. 46:236.1.1 et seq. may issue and serve on the defendant a summons ordering him to appear and show cause before the proper court of competent jurisdiction, on a date which shall be specified by the court, why he should not be held in constructive contempt

of court. Prior to or at the hearing, the Department of Children and Family Services or the district attorney shall file with the court any summons served and a rule for contempt which shall be served in open court on the defendant, setting forth the terms of the original court order for child support and all modifications thereof, along with the grounds for contempt. If the defendant denies the allegations or offers a defense to the rule, the court may, upon motion of either party or on its own motion, continue the hearing.

(2) In the alternative, a representative of the department may serve on the defendant a rule to show cause why he should not be held in constructive contempt for violating the previous order of the court, with the rule setting forth the same terms as in a rule for contempt, if the representative does not serve a summons on the offender. The rule shall set forth a specific time, place, and date where the offender is to show cause in answer to the rule. Hearings held on rules for contempt or rules to show cause shall be tried in a summary manner.

(3) Any rule served on the defendant under Paragraph (1) or (2) of this Subsection shall inform the defendant that his ability to pay child support will be a critical issue in the contempt proceeding.

(4) The court may find a defendant in contempt if the court expressly finds that the defendant is in arrears, had knowledge of the child support order, and any of the following apply:

(a) The court is satisfied that the defendant had the capacity to pay out of currently available resources all or some portion of the amount due under the support order.

(b) The court is satisfied that by the exercise of diligence the defendant could have obtained the capacity to pay all or some portion of the amount due under the support order and that the defendant failed or refused to do so.

(c) The defendant has willfully failed to participate in an approved plan for parental participation of support under R.S. 46:236.12.

C. If the defendant is held in contempt by the court, he may be punished as follows:

* * *

(4) The court shall consider the defendant's present ability to comply before imposing any sentence under Paragraph (1) or (2) of this Subsection.

* * *

F. The termination of a court order issued pursuant to the provisions of R.S. 46:236.1.1 et seq. and 236.2, Children's Code Article 1301.1 et seq., or R.S. 13:4241, requiring a defendant to pay child support to the Department of Children and Family Services does not abate the power of any court or the department to collect any overdue and unpaid support or arrearage owed under the terminated support order or the power of the court to punish any person for a failure to comply with, or to pay any support as ordered in, the terminated court order.

G. The provisions and remedies provided by this Section shall be construed as an addition to, and not in substitution for, any other remedy otherwise available to obtain or enforce an order of support. Relief under this Section shall not be denied, delayed, or otherwise affected because of the availability of other remedies, nor shall relief under any other statute be delayed or denied because of the availability of the remedies provided by this Section.

Section 2. The Louisiana State Law Institute is hereby authorized and directed to redesignate R.S. 46:236.6(B)(4) as R.S. 46:236.6(B)(5) and R.S. 46:236.7(C)(4) as R.S. 46:236.7(C)(5) upon the effective date of Section 7(A) of Act No. 264 of the 2017 Regular Session of the Legislature as amended by Section 2 of Act No. 277 of the 2019 Regular Session of the Legislature.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 150

HOUSE BILL NO. 443
BY REPRESENTATIVE HILFERTY
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 33:9091.7(D)(1)(c), relative to the Lakeshore Crime Prevention District; to provide relative to the governing board of the district; to provide relative to the membership of the board; and to provide for related matters.

Notice of intention to introduce this Act has been published as provided by Article III, Section 13 of the Constitution of Louisiana.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 33:9091.7(D)(1)(c) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§9091.7. Lakeshore Crime Prevention District

* * *

D. Governance. (1) The district shall be governed by a board of commissioners consisting of nine members as follows:

* * *

(c) The assessor for the second municipal district board of the Lakeshore Property Owners Association shall appoint one member.

* * *

Section 2. On the effective date of this Act, the term of office of the member appointed by the assessor for the second municipal district shall terminate; however, such member shall continue to serve until a new member is

appointed pursuant to R.S. 33:9091.7(D)(1)(a) as amended by this Act.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.
A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 151

HOUSE BILL NO. 496
BY REPRESENTATIVE RISER AND SENATOR WOMACK
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 3:3402(10) and (12) through (19), 3406(A)(1) and (2), 3410.1(A), and 3412.1(C)(1) and (2), (E), (F)(1), and (I)(introductory paragraph), to enact R.S. 3:3402(20) and 3410.1(G), and to repeal R.S. 3:3412.1(C)(4), relative to the agricultural dealer and warehouse law; to provide for definitions; to provide for powers and duties of the commissioner of agriculture; to provide for exceptions to licensure and notice applicable to noncommercial grain buyers or other unlicensed grain dealers; to provide for changes in balance allocation, suspension of collections, and claims under the Grain and Cotton Indemnity Fund; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 3:3402(10) and (12) through (19), 3406(A)(1) and (2), 3410.1(A), and 3412.1(C)(1) and (2), (E), F(1), and (I)(introductory paragraph) are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 3:3402(20) and 3410.1(G) are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§3402. Definitions

As used in this Chapter, the following terms shall have the meanings ascribed below:

* * *

(10) "Grain dealer" means any person who purchases any agricultural commodities from producers or represents producers in the sale of agricultural commodities. The term does not include ~~producers who purchase grain commodities for their own use as feed or seed~~ any person who qualifies as a noncommercial grain buyer.

* * *

(12) "Noncommercial grain buyer" means any person who purchases, or contracts to purchase, less than ten thousand bushels of grain or five thousand hundredweights of rice in a calendar year.

~~(12)~~ (13) "Open" or "open position" means the grain dealer's contracts for purchase or sale of agricultural commodities which are unhedged.

~~(13)~~ (14) "Open storage" means any storage for which a warehouse receipt has not been issued.

~~(14)~~ (15) "Person" means any individual, partnership, company, firm, association, cooperative association, corporation, or any other legal entity engaged in any of the activities regulated under this Chapter.

~~(15)~~ (16) "Producer" means the owner, tenant, lessee, or operator of land within this state who has an interest in or receives all or any part of the proceeds from the sale of agricultural commodities produced thereon.

~~(16)~~ (17) "Risk position" means the loss potential to the grain dealer resulting from bringing its open position to market.

~~(17)~~ (18) "Security" means any financial instrument or document issued for the benefit of or given to the commission by a licensee, or participation in any self-insurance fund program authorized by this Chapter as assurance for the fulfillment of the obligations imposed on the licensee by applicable law or regulations.

~~(18)~~ (19) "Warehouse" means any building, structure, or any other protected enclosure required to be licensed by the commission in which agricultural commodities or other farm products are stored for the public for a fee. The term includes facilities which commingle commodities belonging to different owners and facilities which preserve the separate identities of different lots of agricultural commodities.

~~(19)~~

(20) "Warehouseman" means any person or other entity operating a warehouse.

* * *

§3406. Powers and duties of the commissioner

A. The commissioner shall administer and enforce this Chapter in accordance with the rules and regulations promulgated by the commission. In the administration and enforcement of this Chapter, the commissioner and his duly constituted representatives are specifically authorized to do the following:

(1) Enter the premises of any warehouse, cotton merchant, or cotton agent, ~~or grain dealer~~ required to be licensed under this Chapter, ~~or those of any person purchasing grain from Louisiana producers,~~ at any reasonable time during normal working hours, for the purpose of making any examination or any inspection of the premises and the contents thereof as may be necessary.

(2) Examine, copy, and audit the accounts, books, and records, including stock records, position records, balance sheets, scale tickets, and warehouse receipts of any warehouse, cotton merchant, or cotton agent, ~~or grain dealer~~ required to be licensed under this Chapter, ~~or those of any person purchasing grain from Louisiana producers,~~ including all warehouses or grain dealers, or both, licensed under the United States Warehouse Act, as amended, and any applicant for licensure under this Chapter, or as otherwise permitted under this Chapter.

* * *

§3410.1. License to buy or sell agricultural commodities; posting requirements for grain dealers; duration of license

A. No person shall engage in the business of buying or selling agricultural commodities from producers unless licensed by the commission, except a person that qualifies as a noncommercial grain buyer.

* * *

G. Any noncommercial grain buyer, or other person not licensed as a grain dealer, shall post notification in a conspicuous area on their premises, and on any document used in the purchase of grain, including contracts and receipts, that they are not a licensed grain dealer, and any producer selling grain to an unlicensed person is not eligible to make a claim with the Grain and Cotton Indemnity Fund.

* * *

§3412.1. Grain and Cotton Indemnity Fund; creation; assessment; rules and regulations; suspension of assessment; eligibility for reimbursement; availability of money; prorated claims; reimbursement for administrative expenses; failure to pay; subrogation

* * *

C. The assessments charged under this Section shall be subject to the following provisions:

(1) All assessments ~~collected~~ received pursuant to this Section shall be deposited immediately ~~upon receipt~~ in the state treasury.

(2) After compliance with the requirements of Article VII, Section 9 of the Constitution of Louisiana relative to the Bond Security and Redemption Fund, and prior to monies being placed in the state general fund, an amount equal to that deposited as required by Paragraph (1) of this Subsection shall be credited to a special fund hereby created in the state treasury to be known as the Grain and Cotton Indemnity Fund. The monies in this fund shall be used solely as provided in Paragraph (3) of this Subsection and only in the amounts appropriated by the legislature. All unexpended and unencumbered monies in this fund at the end of each fiscal year shall ~~remain in this fund~~ be transferred to the Louisiana Agricultural Finance Authority to provide solely for the administration and operation of the fund provided for in this Section. The monies in this fund shall be invested by the state treasurer in the same manner as monies in the state general fund, and interest earned on the investment of these monies shall be credited to this fund, again, following compliance with the requirement of Article VII, Section 9 of the Constitution of Louisiana relative to the Bond Security and Redemption Fund.

* * *

~~E. At the end of the calendar quarter beginning on July 1st following the fiscal year in which the Grain and Cotton Indemnity Fund balance within the Louisiana Agricultural Finance Authority reaches a level of six twelve million dollars, the commission shall suspend collection of the assessment required by this Section. If after suspension of collection the balance in the fund is less than three ten million dollars, the commission shall require collection of the assessment. Any assessments collected after the balance reaches twelve million dollars, but prior to the suspension of collection, shall remain within the Louisiana Agricultural Finance Authority.~~

F. A producer shall be eligible to receive indemnity payments from the Grain and Cotton Indemnity Fund if:

(1) The licensed grain dealer becomes insolvent ~~after January 1, 2008.~~

* * *

I. Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, if the commission pays a claim ~~using Grain and Cotton Indemnity Funds in accordance with this Section, then~~ all payments shall be made jointly payable to the claimant and to all secured parties and lienholders that, ~~ten days before the were included in the most recent master listing of farm products within the central registry as provided in R.S. 3:3654, or addendum thereto, published by the secretary of state prior to the payment date, and~~ hold a security interest in or a lien on the crops, farm products, or agricultural commodities, perfected by the filing of a financing statement that:

* * *

Section 2. R.S. 3:3412.1(C)(4) is hereby repealed in its entirety.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.
A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 152

HOUSE BILL NO. 514
BY REPRESENTATIVE WILLARD
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 32:1(4), (38), (40), (41), 203(C), 401(17), (19), and (20), 851(5), 1252(1) and (30) and to enact R.S. 32:1(95) and 204, relative to electric-assisted bicycles; to provide for definitions; to provide for the operation, rights, requirements, and restrictions applicable to electric-assisted bicycles; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 32:1(4), (38), (40), (41), 203(C), 401(17), (19), and (20), 851(5), 1252(1) and (30) are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 32:1(95) and 204 are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§1. Definitions

When used in this Chapter, the following words and phrases have the meanings ascribed to them in this Section, unless the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

* * *

(4) "Bicycle" means every device upon which any person or persons, if the design accommodates passengers, may ride, propelled exclusively by human power, and having one or more wheels or an electric-assisted bicycle as defined in R.S. 32:1(95), having a saddle or seat for each rider, and having two tandem wheels, either of which is sixteen inches or more in diameter, or three wheels, any one of which is twenty inches or more in diameter.

* * *

(38) "Motorcycle" means every motor vehicle having a seat or saddle for the use of the rider and designed to travel on not more than three wheels in contact with the ground, but excluding a tractor and excluding, a motorized bicycle, and an electric-assisted bicycle.

* * *

(40) "Motor vehicle" means every vehicle which is self-propelled, and every vehicle which is propelled by electric power obtained from overhead trolley wires, but not operated upon rails, but excluding a motorized bicycle and an electric-assisted bicycle. "Motor vehicle" shall also include a "low-speed vehicle" which is a four-wheeled, electric-powered vehicle with a maximum speed of not less than twenty miles per hour but not more than twenty-five miles per hour and is equipped with the minimum motor vehicle equipment appropriate for vehicle safety as required in 49 C.F.R. CFR 571.500.

(41) "Motorized bicycle" means a pedal bicycle which may be propelled by human power or helper motor, or by both, but excluding an electric-assisted bicycle, with a motor rated no more than one and one-half brake horsepower, a cylinder capacity not exceeding fifty cubic centimeters, an automatic transmission, and which produces a maximum design speed of no more than twenty-five miles per hour on a flat surface.

* * *

(95) "Electric-assisted bicycle" means every bicycle upon which any person or persons, if the design accommodates passengers, may ride, having a saddle or seat for each rider, and having two tandem wheels, either of which is sixteen inches or more in diameter, or three wheels, any one of which is twenty inches or more in diameter, equipped with fully operable pedals, and an electric motor of less than seven hundred fifty watts that meets the requirement of one of the following classes:

(a) "Class one electric-assisted bicycle" means an electric-assisted bicycle equipped with a motor, which provides assistance only when the rider is pedaling and ceases to provide assistance when the bicycle reaches the speed of twenty miles per hour.

(b) "Class two electric-assisted bicycle" means an electric-assisted bicycle equipped with a motor, which may be used exclusively to propel the bicycle and is not capable of providing assistance when the bicycle reaches the speed of twenty miles per hour.

(c) "Class three electric-assisted bicycle" means an electric-assisted bicycle equipped with a motor, which provides assistance only when the rider is pedaling and ceases to provide assistance when the bicycle reaches the speed of twenty-eight miles per hour.

* * *

§203. Motor vehicles operating in bicycle lanes

* * *

C. This Section shall not prohibit the use of a motorized bicycle or an electric-assisted bicycle in a bicycle lane when the operator travels at no speed greater than what is reasonable or prudent, has due regard for visibility, traffic conditions, and the condition of the roadway surface of the bicycle lane and in a manner which does not endanger the safety of bicyclists.

* * *

§204. Riding on electric-assisted bicycles; rights and duties of electric-assisted bicycles

A. Except as otherwise provided in this Chapter, an electric-assisted bicycle or an operator of an electric-assisted bicycle shall be afforded all the rights and privileges, and shall be subject to all of the duties, of a bicycle or the operator of a bicycle. An electric-assisted bicycle shall be considered a vehicle in the same regards as a bicycle.

B. On and after August 1, 2020, manufacturers and distributors of electric-assisted bicycles shall apply a label permanently affixed in a prominent location to each electric-assisted bicycle. The label shall contain the classification number, top-assisted speed, and motor wattage of the electric-assisted bicycle.

C. No person shall tamper with or modify an electric-assisted bicycle so as to change its classification, unless the manufacturer's label indicating the classification is appropriately replaced.

D. An electric-assisted bicycle shall comply with the equipment and manufacturing requirement for bicycles adopted by the United States Consumer Product Safety Commission (16 CFR Part 1512).

E. An electric-assisted bicycle shall operate in a manner so that the electric motor is disengaged or ceases to function when the rider stops pedaling or when the brakes are applied.

F. Except as otherwise provided by this Subsection, electric-assisted bicycle may be ridden in places where bicycles are allowed, including but not limited to streets, highways, roadways, bicycle facilities, bicycle lanes, shared-use trails, bicycle paths, or trails.

(1) Following notice and public hearing, a local municipal authority, local parish authority, or state agency having jurisdiction over a shared-use trail

or bicycle path or trail may prohibit the operation of Class one or Class two electric-assisted bicycles on such path or trail, if it finds that such a restriction is necessary for safety reasons or compliance with other laws or legal obligations.

(2) A local municipal authority, local parish authority, or state agency having jurisdiction over a shared-use trail or bicycle path or trail may prohibit the operation of Class three electric-assisted bicycles on such path or trail.

(3) This Subsection shall not apply to a trail that is specifically designated as nonmotorized and that has a natural surface tread that is made by clearing and grading the native soil with no added surface materials. A local municipal authority, local parish authority, or state agency having jurisdiction over a trail described in this Subsection may regulate the use of an electric-assisted bicycle on that trail.

G. No person under the age of twelve shall operate a Class three electric-assisted bicycle. A person under the age of twelve may ride as a passenger on a Class three electric-assisted bicycle designed to accommodate passengers.

H. All operators and passengers of a Class three electric-assisted bicycle shall wear an approved bicycle helmet.

(1) For the purpose of this Subsection, "approved helmet" shall have the same meaning as provided in R.S. 32:199.

(2) The issuance of a citation for a violation of this Section shall not be prima facie evidence of negligence. The comparable negligence statutes of Louisiana shall apply in these cases.

(3) The provisions of R.S. 32:57 shall not apply to a violation of this Section. Any person who violates any provision of this Section shall upon conviction be fined fifty dollars, which shall include all costs of court. Notwithstanding any contrary provision of law, no other cost or fee shall be assessed against any person for a violation of this Section. This fine shall be waived if the operator of the Class three electric-assisted bicycle provides proof of purchasing an approved helmet.

I. All Class three electric-assisted bicycles shall be equipped with a speedometer that displays the speed in miles per hour.

* * *

§401. Definitions

The following words and phrases when used in this Chapter shall have the meaning assigned to them in this Section unless the context clearly indicates otherwise:

* * *

(17) "Motorcycle" means every motor vehicle having a seat or saddle for the use of the rider and designed to travel on not more than three wheels in contact with the ground, but excluding a tractor and an electric-assisted bicycle or a motorized bicycle.

* * *

(19) "Motorized bicycle" means a pedal bicycle which may be propelled by human power or helper motor, or by both, with a motor rated no more than one and one-half horsepower, a cylinder capacity not exceeding fifty cubic centimeters, an automatic transmission, and which produces a maximum design speed of no more than twenty-five miles per hour on a flat surface, but excluding an electric-assisted bicycle.

(20) "Motor vehicle" means and includes automobiles, trucks, truck-tractors, trailers, semitrailers, and motorcycles, propelled by steam, gasoline, electricity, or any other source of energy other than muscular power, except electric-assisted bicycles, farm implements temporarily operated or moved on a highway or vehicles operated only on rails or tracks constructed therefor.

* * *

§851. Definitions

The following words and phrases, when used in this Chapter, shall, for the purposes of this Chapter, have the meanings respectively ascribed to them in this Section, except in those instances where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

* * *

(5) "Motor vehicle" means every self-propelled vehicle (except traction engines, road rollers, farm tractors, electric-assisted bicycles, tractor cranes, power shovels, and well drillers) and every vehicle which is propelled by electric power obtained from overhead wires but not operated upon rails.

* * *

§1252. Definitions

The following words, terms, and phrases, when used in this Chapter, shall have the meanings respectively ascribed to them in this Section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:

(1) "All-terrain vehicle" shall mean any vehicle manufactured for off-road use and issued a manufacturer's statement or certificate of origin, as required by the commission, that cannot be issued a registration certificate and license to operate on the public roads of this state because, at the time of manufacture, the vehicle does not meet the safety requirements prescribed by R.S. 32:1301 through 1310. This includes vehicles that are issued a title by the Department of Public Safety and Corrections, public safety services, such as recreational and sports vehicles, but it shall not include off-road vehicles used for farm purposes, farm equipment, electric-assisted bicycles, or heavy construction equipment.

* * *

(30) "Motorcycle" means a motor vehicle having a seat or saddle for the use of the rider and designed to travel on not more than three wheels in contact with the ground but excluding a tractor, electric-assisted bicycle, and electric-powered scooters not required to be registered.

* * *

Section 2. The Louisiana State Law Institute is hereby directed to renumber in consecutive sequence and to reorder the definitions in R.S. 32:1 in alphabetical sequence.

Section 3. This Act shall be effective on August 1, 2020.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.
A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 153

HOUSE BILL NO. 515
BY REPRESENTATIVE WRIGHT
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 49:953(1)(a)(vii), relative to administrative rules; to provide relative to the form of notices of intent; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 49:953(1)(a)(vii) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§953. Procedure for adoption of rules; agency rule review
A. Prior to the adoption, amendment, or repeal of any rule, the agency shall:
(1)(a) Give notice of its intended action and a copy of the proposed rules at least ninety days prior to taking action on the rule. The notice shall include:

(vii) ~~A statement indicating whether the agency has prepared a The~~ preamble, which explains the basis and rationale for the intended action; ~~and summarizes the information and data supporting the intended action; and provides information concerning how the preamble may be obtained.~~

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.
A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 154

HOUSE BILL NO. 602
BY REPRESENTATIVE BRYANT AND SENATOR BARROW
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 15:587(A)(1)(a) and 587.1(B)(1) and to enact R.S. 15:576(6) and 587(A)(1)(j) and (I), relative to criminal identification and information; to provide relative to the Louisiana Bureau of Criminal Identification and Information; to provide relative to definitions; to require the bureau to make available to the Louisiana Department of Education criminal history record and identification files; to provide relative to latent fingerprint searches; to provide for an effective date; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 15:587(A)(1)(a) and 587.1(B)(1) are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 15:576(6) and 587(A)(1)(j) and (I) are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§576. Definitions
As used in this Chapter:

(6) The term "FBI rap back system" means a service maintained by the Federal Bureau of Investigation to provide authorized noncriminal and criminal justice agencies ongoing status notifications of any criminal history subsequently reported to the FBI in its criminal history system after the initial criminal or civil transaction.

§587. Duty to provide information; processing fees; Louisiana Bureau of Criminal Identification and Information

A.(1)(a) The bureau shall make available upon request, or at such other times as the deputy secretary shall designate, to any eligible criminal justice agency and the Louisiana Department of Education, the Louisiana Department of Health, the state fire marshal when reviewing applications for licensure, the Department of Children and Family Services, the Department of Insurance, the Louisiana State Racing Commission, the Senate and Governmental Affairs Committee, the House and Governmental Affairs Committee, the secretary of the Louisiana Workforce Commission or his designee, the Board of River Port Pilot Commissioners, the Office of Financial Institutions in the office of the governor, the office of the disciplinary counsel of the Louisiana Attorney Disciplinary Board of the Louisiana State Bar Association; however, as to any licensed attorney such information shall be provided only after the issuance of a formal charge against the attorney, the Louisiana Supreme Court Committee on Bar Admissions, the municipal or parish department or personnel responsible for reviewing applications for alcoholic beverage outlet permits, and the legislative auditor any information contained in the criminal history record and identification files of the bureau. The Department of Children and Family Services may provide information secured pursuant to this Subsection to all federal and state agencies providing child support

enforcement services.

* * *

(j)(i) The Louisiana Department of Education shall be entitled to the criminal history record and identification files of the bureau of any person who has submitted a fingerprint request pursuant to R.S. 15:587.1, R.S. 17:407.42 and 407.71. The bureau is authorized to submit fingerprints to the Federal Bureau of Investigation to be retained in the FBI rap back system for the purpose of being searched by future submissions to the FBI rap back system, including latent fingerprint searches. The bureau shall make available to the Louisiana Department of Education rap backs for requests made pursuant to R.S. 17:407.42 and 407.71.

(ii) The Louisiana Department of Education shall be entitled to criminal history record and identification files of the bureau of any person who has submitted a fingerprint request pursuant to R.S. 15:587.1 and R.S. 17:15. The bureau is authorized to submit fingerprints to the Federal Bureau of Investigation to be retained in the FBI rap back system for the purpose of being searched by future submissions to the FBI rap back system, including latent fingerprint searches. The bureau shall make available to the Louisiana Department of Education rap backs for requests made pursuant to R.S. 17:15.

* * *

I. The bureau is authorized to submit fingerprints to the FBI rap back system to be retained in the FBI rap back system for the purpose of being searched by future submissions to the FBI rap back system, including latent fingerprint searches.

§587.1. Provision of information to protect children

* * *

B.(1)(a) Upon receiving a request pursuant to the provisions of R.S. 17:15, 407.42, and 407.71, and R.S. 46:51.2 when authorized by R.S. 15:587, that meets the requirements of Subsection A of this Section, the bureau of criminal identification and information shall survey its criminal history records and identification files and make a simultaneous request of the Federal Bureau of Investigation for like information from other jurisdictions. The bureau of criminal identification and information shall provide a report promptly and in writing, but provide only such information as is necessary to specify whether or not that person has been arrested for or convicted of or pled nolo contendere to any crime or crimes, the crime or crimes of which he has been arrested for or convicted or to which he has pled nolo contendere, and the date or dates on which they occurred. The report provided pursuant to the provisions of this Subsection shall include arrests, convictions, or other dispositions, including convictions dismissed pursuant to Code of Criminal Procedure Articles 893 and 894.

(b) In addition to the requirements of Subparagraph (a) of this Paragraph, for requests made pursuant to R.S. 17:407.42 and 407.71, the bureau is authorized to submit fingerprints to the Federal Bureau of Investigation to be retained in the FBI rap back system for the purpose of being searched by future submissions to the FBI rap back system, including latent fingerprint searches. The bureau shall make available to the Louisiana Department of Education rap backs for requests made pursuant to R.S. 17:407.42 and 407.71. Any recipient of such information as provided for in this Paragraph shall maintain the confidentiality of such criminal history information in accordance with applicable state or federal law.

(c) In addition to the requirements of Subparagraph (a) of this Paragraph, for requests made pursuant to R.S. 17:15, the bureau is authorized to submit fingerprints to the Federal Bureau of Investigation to be retained in the FBI rap back system for the purpose of being searched by future submissions to the FBI rap back system, including latent fingerprint searches. The bureau shall make available to the Louisiana Department of Education rap backs for requests made pursuant to R.S. 17:15. Any recipient of such information as provided for in this Paragraph shall maintain the confidentiality of such criminal history information in accordance with applicable state or federal law.

* * *

Section 2(A). Except as provided in Subsection B of this Section, this Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

(B). R.S. 15:587(A)(1)(j)(ii) and 587.1(B)(1)(c), enacted by this Act, shall become effective upon the promulgation of rules by the Louisiana State Board of Elementary and Secondary Education providing for a development of a system designed to receive criminal history record and identification files pursuant to the FBI rap back system.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.
A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 155

HOUSE BILL NO. 633
BY REPRESENTATIVE FREIBERG
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 42:1267, relative to cybersecurity training; to provide for the

development of the training; to require all public servants to receive training; to require certain contractors to receive training; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 42:1267 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§1267. Required training; cybersecurity

A.(1) The Department of State Civil Service shall institute, develop, conduct, and otherwise provide for training programs designed to keep state agencies safe from cyberattack. The programs shall be designed to focus on forming information security habits and procedures that protect information resources and teach best practices for detecting, assessing, reporting, and addressing information security threats. The department may make the training available as an online course. The office of technology services shall provide assistance to the Department of State Civil Service in the development of the training program. The cost of instituting, developing, conducting, and otherwise providing cybersecurity awareness training shall be paid in the manner established by R.S. 42:1262.

(2) The Department of State Civil Service shall make the education and training on cybersecurity developed pursuant to Paragraph (1) of this Subsection available to agencies within political subdivisions of the state at as minimal cost as possible to assist those agencies in compliance with the provisions of this Section.

B.(1) Each state and local agency shall identify employees or elected officials who have access to the agency's information technology assets and require those employees and elected officials to complete cybersecurity training. Each new state and local agency official or employee with access to the agency's information technology assets shall complete this training within the first thirty days of initial service or employment with the agency.

(2) The agency head shall verify and report to the Department of State Civil Service on the completion of cybersecurity training by agency employees. The agency head shall periodically require an internal review to ensure compliance.

(3)(a) An agency shall require any contractor who has access to state or local government information technology assets to complete cybersecurity training during the term of the contract and during any renewal period.

(b) Completion of cybersecurity shall be included in the terms of a contract awarded by a state or local government agency to a contractor who has access to its information technology assets.

(c) The person who oversees contract management for the agency shall report each such contractor's completion to the agency head and periodically review agency contracts to ensure compliance.

(d) The agency head shall verify and report to the Department of State Civil Service on the completion of cybersecurity training by each such contractor.

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 156

HOUSE BILL NO. 653
BY REPRESENTATIVE GAROFALO
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 9:159(B)(1) through (3) and 161(B), relative to unclaimed property; to revise reporting thresholds for abandoned property; to revise the minimum value beneath which unclaimed property need not be advertised; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 9:159(B)(1) through (3) and 161(B) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§159. Report of abandoned property
* * *

B. The report shall be verified and shall include all of the following:

(1) Except with respect to a traveler's check or money order, the name if known, and last known address, if any, and the social security number or taxpayer identification number, if readily ascertainable, of the apparent owner of property of the value of fifty ten dollars or more.

(2) An aggregated amount of items valued under fifty ten dollars each.

(3) In the case of unclaimed money amounting to fifty ten dollars or more held or owing under any annuity or life or endowment insurance policy the full name and last known address of the insured or annuitant and of the beneficiary.

* * *
§161. Notice and publication of lists of abandoned property
* * *

B. The administrator is not required to advertise the name and address or location of an owner of property having a total value less than fifty one

hundred dollars, or information concerning a traveler's check, money order, or similar written instrument.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 157

HOUSE BILL NO. 665
BY REPRESENTATIVE CORMIER AND SENATORS BARROW AND
CARTER
AN ACT

To amend and reenact Subpart A of Part IV of Subchapter B of Chapter 5-F of Title 40 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, to be comprised of R.S. 40:1289.1 through 1289.5, and to enact R.S. 36:259(B)(37), relative to toxic mold; to provide for a task force to study the public health impacts of toxic mold in this state; to provide for the composition, functions, and duties of the task force; to terminate the task force on a certain date; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 36:259(B)(37) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§259. Transfer of agencies and functions to Louisiana Department of Health
* * *

B. The following agencies, as defined in R.S. 36:3, are placed within the Louisiana Department of Health and shall perform and exercise their powers, duties, functions, and responsibilities as otherwise provided by law:

(37) The Louisiana Toxic Mold Task Force (R.S. 40:1289.1 et seq.)
* * *

Section 2. Subpart A of Part IV of Subchapter B of Chapter 5-F of Title 40 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, comprised of R.S. 40:1289.1 through 1289.5, is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

PART IV. TOXIC SUBSTANCES
SUBPART A. TOXIC MOLD TASK FORCE

§1289.1. Legislative findings; declaration

A. The legislature hereby finds the following:

(1) Certain forms of mold pose a severe and unacceptable risk to the environment of Louisiana and the health of its people. Moreover, the legislature finds that indoor toxins, specifically toxic mold, represent an insufficiently understood health and environmental problem.

(2) ~~The legislature recognizes that numerous~~ Numerous studies indicate ~~likely that adverse~~ health effects result from mold spores, varying from cold-like symptoms to more serious symptoms, such as allergy and asthma outbreaks. ~~These toxins~~ Toxins in mold can have negative effects on humans when ingested, inhaled, or when they come in contact with the skin. These effects can have serious health consequences for some population subgroups, especially infants, children, pregnant women, persons who are elderly, asthmatics individuals with asthma, individuals with allergies, and individuals with compromised immune systems. Healthcare professionals now acknowledge that molds can cause allergies, trigger asthma attacks, detrimentally affect the function of vital human organs, and increase susceptibility to colds and flu.

(3) ~~The legislature further recognizes that though~~ Though not all molds are toxic, there are certain dangers that molds present within buildings and structures. It is thus imperative that the toxicity of ~~its presence~~ mold be determined where it is found and a corresponding plan of action be implemented to address ~~such~~ mold-related hazards in buildings and structures within this state.

B. The legislature hereby declares that it is in the best interest of the public health, welfare, and safety to establish a task force to lead development of comprehensive policies and promote best practices concerning mitigation and remediation of toxic mold and reducing the adverse health effects caused by this unique threat to public health.

§1289.2. Definition

For the purposes of this Subpart, the term "mold" means any form of multicellular fungi that live on plant or animal matter and in indoor environments. Types of mold include but are not limited to cladosporium, alternaria, aspergillus, trichoderma, memnoniella, mucor, and stachybotrys chartarum.

§1289.3. Toxic Mold Task Force; creation; composition; meetings

A. ~~There is hereby created~~ The legislature hereby creates within the Louisiana Department of Health the Louisiana Toxic Mold Task Force, referred to hereafter in this Subpart as the "task force", which shall be composed of fifteen the following members as follows:

(1) One pediatric environmental health specialist ~~selected and appointed~~ by the secretary of the Louisiana Department of Health.

(2) One person with expertise in toxicology ~~selected and appointed~~ by the secretary of the Louisiana Department of Health.

(3) The assistant secretary of the office of public health of the Louisiana Department of Health or his designee.

(4) ~~One member designated by the office of health affairs and medical education of the Louisiana State University System. The chancellor of the~~

Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center at New Orleans or his designee.

~~(5)~~ (5) The chancellor of the Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center at Shreveport or his designee.

~~(6)~~ (6) The dean of the School of Public Health and Tropical Medicine of Tulane University or his designee.

~~(7)~~ (7) One member ~~designated~~ appointed by the Louisiana State Medical Society.

~~(8)~~ (8) One member ~~designated~~ appointed by the Louisiana Primary Care Association.

~~(9)~~ (9) One member with expertise in consumer protection ~~designated~~ appointed by the Louisiana attorney general.

~~(10)~~ (10) One member ~~designated~~ appointed by the Southern University Law Center.

~~(11)~~ (11) One member ~~designated~~ appointed by the Paul M. Hebert Law Center of Louisiana State University.

~~(12)~~ (12) One member with expertise in toxic mold remediation ~~designated~~ appointed by the Louisiana State Licensing Board for Contractors.

~~(13)~~ (13) One member ~~designated~~ appointed by the Louisiana Housing Corporation.

~~(14)~~ (14) One member ~~designated~~ appointed by the Louisiana Realtors Association.

~~(15)~~ (15) One member ~~designated~~ appointed by the Louisiana Home Builders Association.

~~(16)~~ (16) One member ~~designated~~ appointed by the Apartment Association of Louisiana.

B. The secretary of the Louisiana Department of Health shall take such actions as are necessary to ensure that the initial convening of the task force occurs no later than October 1, ~~2014~~ 2020.

C. The task force members shall select a chairman annually, and he shall serve as chairman without salary.

D. Task force members shall serve without compensation, except per diem or expense reimbursement to which they may be individually entitled by their respective employer organizations.

E. The task force shall hold at least two ~~regular~~ meetings each year at a place designated by the chairman.

~~§1289.4. Functions and duties of the task force; report to the governor and legislature~~

A. The functions of the task force shall include all of the following:

(1) Serve as an advisory body to the legislature on policies and practices that protect all people of this state, particularly tenants, consumers, and vulnerable populations, from harm related to toxic mold.

(2) Serve as a coordinating forum between and among state agencies, local ~~government governments~~, and nongovernmental groups on matters related to toxic mold.

(3) On a regular basis, research and review state regulations, guidelines, policies, and procedures that pertain in any way to toxic mold and make recommendations to the governor, the legislature, and the secretary of the Louisiana Department of Health as deemed necessary and appropriate by the chairman of the task force.

B. On or before January 1, ~~2015~~ 2021, and annually thereafter, the task force shall prepare and submit to the governor and the legislature a report on the status of public health risks from toxic mold in Louisiana. The annual report shall include, without limitation, all of the following:

(1) An assessment, based on scientific evidence, of the nature, scope, and magnitude of the adverse environmental and health impacts caused by toxic mold ~~in the this state~~.

(2) Measurement, based on scientific evidence, of the adverse health effects of exposure to molds on the general population, including specific effects on any subgroups identifiable as being at greater risk of adverse health effects when exposed to molds.

(3) Identification of actions taken by the state, local governments, and any other public or private organizations that have made a positive impact on mitigating the harm to public health of toxic mold.

(4) Identification of best practices for the control of mold in a cost-effective and environmentally sound manner.

C. The task force may request administrative and technical support from the Louisiana Department of Health, office of public health, to carry out the functions and responsibilities provided in this Section.

~~§1289.5. Termination~~

The provisions of this Subpart shall terminate on January 1, ~~2018~~ 2024.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 158

HOUSE BILL NO. 753
BY REPRESENTATIVE ROMERO

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 32:327(D) and to enact R.S. 32:327(E), relative to

THE ADVOCATE

PAGE 22

* As it appears in the enrolled bill

CODING: Words in struck-through type are deletions from existing law; words underscored (House Bills) and underscored and boldfaced (Senate

special restrictions on lamps; to authorize the sale of emergency lights to a person employed in highway construction services; to authorize the possession of emergency lights by highway construction personnel; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 32:327(D) is hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 32:327(E) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§327. Special restrictions on lamps
* * *

D. No person shall sell a dashboard, hood, vehicle front grill, or vehicle roof mounted emergency light that emits a blue ~~or red glow, or that emits a glow in any combination of the colors red, white, and blue, to any person who is not a peace glow to any person.~~

E. No person shall sell a dashboard, hood, vehicle front grill, or vehicle roof mounted emergency light that emits a red glow, or that emits a glow of red and white, to any person who is not a peace officer, a firefighter, or a person employed in the performance of emergency, highway construction, or public utility services. No person shall possess such an emergency light except peace officers; or firefighters; or public utility, highway construction, and or emergency personnel. However, vehicles which are owned and operated by members of nonprofit corporations as provided in R.S. 12:201 et seq. and which are tax exempt in accordance with Section 501(c) of the Internal Revenue Code, for exhibition in shows, parades, tours, and other special events and not for general transportation may be equipped with alternately flashing red lights and these lights may have sufficient intensity to be visible at five hundred feet in normal sunlight, provided that such use shall only be allowed when the vehicle is participating in exhibitions, shows, parades, tours, and other special events, and not for general transportation. The secretary by rule shall establish the criteria to be used in determining which persons, other than members of such nonprofit corporations, qualify to purchase or possess emergency lights as described in this Subsection.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 159

HOUSE BILL NO. 754
BY REPRESENTATIVE DUSTIN MILLER

AN ACT

To enact R.S. 3:734(C) and (D), relative to livestock brand inspectors; to provide for the expansion of powers and duties of livestock brand inspectors as commissioned peace officers under certain circumstances; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 3:734(C) and (D) are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§734. Livestock brand inspectors
* * *

C. Additionally, while on special assignment during any riot, insurrection, or any declared disaster or while in protection of immovable property, movable property, assets, and resources of the Department of Agriculture and Forestry, any commissioned livestock brand inspector shall possess all the powers and authority of regular law enforcement officers of this state.

D. Upon the request of any regular law enforcement agency of this state, livestock brand inspectors shall prevent and detect crime, apprehend criminals, enforce the criminal and traffic laws of the state, keep the peace and good order in the state in the enforcement of the state's police powers, and perform any other related duties imposed upon them by the legislature.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 160

HOUSE BILL NO. 775
BY REPRESENTATIVE MARINO

AN ACT

To amend and reenact Code of Criminal Procedure Articles 551(B), 553(A), 556(E), 556.1(F), 562(A), (B), and (D), and 835 and to repeal Code of Criminal Procedure Articles 533(C), 831(B), 832(B), and 833(C), relative to appearance by the defendant at certain proceedings; to provide relative to the defendant's appearance at arraignment, at the entry of his plea, at a revocation or contempt hearing, and at sentencing; to provide relative to the appearance of a defendant at certain proceedings by way of simultaneous transmission through audio-visual electronic equipment; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Code of Criminal Procedure Articles 551(B), 553(A), 556(E), 556.1(F), 562(A), (B), and (D), and 835 are hereby amended and reenacted to read as

ACT No. 160

HOUSE BILL NO. 775
BY REPRESENTATIVE MARINO

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 32:327(D) and to enact R.S. 32:327(E), relative to

THE ADVOCATE

PAGE 22

* As it appears in the enrolled bill

CODING: Words in struck-through type are deletions from existing law; words underscored (House Bills) and underscored and boldfaced (Senate

follows:

Art. 551. Arraignment of defendant

* * *

B. The court may, by local rule, provide for the defendant's appearance at the arraignment, ~~at and the entry of his plea of guilty, or both,~~ by way of simultaneous transmission through audio-visual electronic equipment ~~in accordance with the provisions of Article 562.~~

* * *

Art. 553. Method of pleading

A. Except when otherwise provided under Paragraph B of this Article or by local rule in accordance with Articles 551 and 562, the defendant in a felony case shall plead in person. In misdemeanor cases, the defendant may plead not guilty through counsel, may plead guilty through counsel with consent of the court, may appear ~~at arraignment, at the entry of and enter~~ his plea of guilty, ~~or both,~~ by way of simultaneous audio-visual transmission in accordance with local rules of court and Articles 551 and 562, and may plead and be arraigned in accordance with procedures established according to R.S. 32:57(C). A corporation may plead through counsel in all cases. The plea shall be made in open court and shall be immediately entered in the minutes of the court. A failure to enter a plea in the minutes shall not affect the validity of any proceeding in the case.

* * *

Art. 556. Plea of guilty or nolo contendere in misdemeanor cases; duty of court

* * *

E. Nothing in this Article prohibits the court, by local rule, from providing for a defendant's appearance at the entry of his plea of guilty or nolo contendere by simultaneous audio-visual transmission ~~in accordance with the provisions of Articles 551 and 562.~~

Art. 556.1. Plea of guilty or nolo contendere in felony cases; duty of court

* * *

F. Nothing in this Article prohibits the court, by local rule, from providing for a defendant's appearance at the entry of his plea of guilty or nolo contendere by simultaneous audio-visual transmission in accordance with the provisions of ~~Articles 551 and~~ Article 562.

* * *

Art. 562. Use of simultaneous audio-visual transmission for certain proceedings

A.(4) In a case where the offense is a noncapital felony or an enhanceable a misdemeanor, the defendant, who is confined in a jail, prison, or other detention facility in Louisiana, may, with the court's consent and the consent of the district attorney, appear ~~at the arraignment, at any preliminary matter or pretrial conference that does not involve the taking of testimony,~~ at the entry of his plea of guilty, ~~and~~ at any revocation hearing for a probation violation, including any hearing for a contempt of court, ~~and at sentencing by simultaneous audio-visual transmission if the court, by local rule, provides for the defendant's appearance in this manner and the defendant waives, in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph D of this Article,~~ his right to be physically present at the proceeding.

~~(2) In a case where the offense is not a felony and is not an enhanceable misdemeanor, the court, with the consent of the district attorney, may require the defendant, who is confined in a jail, prison, or other detention facility in Louisiana, to appear at the arraignment, at any preliminary matter or pretrial conference that does not involve the taking of testimony, at the entry of his plea of guilty, and at any revocation hearing for a probation violation, including any hearing for a contempt of court, by simultaneous audio-visual transmission if the court, by local rule, provides for the defendant's appearance in this manner.~~

~~(3) For purposes of this Paragraph, "enhanceable misdemeanor" means a misdemeanor offense that provides increased or enhanced penalties for a subsequent conviction of the offense or that provides increased or enhanced penalties when certain elements are present during the commission of the offense.~~

B. ~~Notwithstanding the provisions of Paragraph A of this Article, in~~ In a capital case, the defendant may not enter his plea by simultaneous audio-visual transmission.

* * *

~~D.(1) A defendant who elects to appear at the proceeding by simultaneous audio-visual transmission in accordance with the provisions of this Article and enter a plea of guilty or nolo contendere shall submit to the court a form signed by the defendant and, if represented by an attorney at the proceeding, by the defendant's attorney, stating that the defendant waives his right to be physically present at the proceeding and that he has been addressed by the court and informed of his rights pursuant to Article 556 or 556.1. The form shall allow for the defendant to sign, or initial where appropriate, each element of the waiver of rights set forth in Article 556 or 556.1.~~

~~(2) The defendant and, if represented by an attorney at the proceeding, the defendant's attorney may sign, or initial where appropriate, the waiver of presence as set forth in Paragraph A of this Article and the waiver of rights form as set forth in Subparagraph (1) of this Paragraph by use of an electronic signature as defined by R.S. 9:2602. The court, by local rule, shall provide for the method of electronic signature to be used to ensure authenticity of the electronic signature.~~

~~(3) The law enforcement agency who has custody of the defendant at the time of the proceeding shall obtain the fingerprints of the defendant for purposes of Article 871. The fingerprints may be taken electronically or in~~

ink and converted to electronic format.

* * *

Art. 835. Presence of defendant at pronouncement of sentence

~~A. In~~ Except as provided in Paragraph B, in felony cases the defendant shall always be present when sentence is pronounced; ~~in and, in~~ misdemeanor cases, the defendant shall be present when sentence is pronounced, unless excused by the court. If a sentence is improperly pronounced in the defendant's absence, he shall be resentenced when his presence is secured.

~~B. Nothing in this Article prohibits the court, by local rule, from providing for a defendant's appearance at the pronouncement of sentence by simultaneous audio-visual transmission in accordance with the provisions of Article 562.~~

Section 2. Code of Criminal Procedure Articles 553(C), 831(B), 832(B), and 833(C) are hereby repealed in their entirety.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 161

HOUSE BILL NO. 784
BY REPRESENTATIVE MCCORMICK
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 18:1491.5(B)(2), 1491.7(B)(5), 1495.3(B)(2), 1495.5(B)(5), 1505.2(C)(2), and 1505.3(C), relative to the Campaign Finance Disclosure Act; to provide for the method of reporting certain campaign contributions; to change certain record-keeping requirements; to provide for civil and criminal penalties; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 18:1491.5(B)(2), 1491.7(B)(5), 1495.3(B)(2), 1495.5(B)(5), 1505.2(C)(2), and 1505.3(C) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§1491.5. Maintenance of records; valuation of in-kind contributions and expenditures

* * *

B.

* * *

(2) Payments made to purchase raffle tickets, campaign paraphernalia, such as campaign pins, buttons, badges, flags, emblems, hats, shirts, banners, literature, and similar items, other than expenditures made by a political committee for its own paraphernalia, and payments for tickets to testimonials and similar fundraising events are contributions, and records thereof shall be maintained, provided that:

(a) In the case of any single transaction involving the sale of raffle tickets or of items such as campaign pins, buttons, badges, flags, emblems, hats, banners, literature, and similar material which is for an amount not in excess of twenty-five dollars and the proceeds of which are received and deposited by a political committee, no record need be kept by the campaign treasurer for such recipient committee, except the total amount received and deposited from such sale and the fact that such amount was received from such sale.

(b) No person shall sell or buy raffle tickets or campaign paraphernalia in successive single transactions for amounts below those for which specific records are required by this Paragraph as a subterfuge to avoid requirements of this Part that names and addresses of contributors and dates and amounts of contributions be recorded, aggregated, and reported. Such transactions shall be considered single transactions and shall be recorded and reported as provided in this Part. Any person who violates the provisions of this Section shall be subject to the penalties provided in R.S. 18:1505.4, R.S. 18:1505.5, and R.S. 18:1505.6.

* * *

§1491.7. Reports; contents

* * *

B. Each report required to be in conformity with this Section shall contain the following information:

* * *

(5)(a) The gross proceeds received and accepted by the political committee during the reporting period from the sale of items such as political campaign pins, buttons, badges, flags, emblems, hats, banners, literature, and similar materials. Purchases of such campaign items and materials from the committee which are made by the same person and are of such amount as to be reportable, either singly or in the aggregate, under as provided in Paragraph (4) hereof of this Subsection, shall be so reported; however, single transactions to purchase such campaign items or materials which are for not in excess of twenty-five dollars must be reported only in the report of gross proceeds and shall not be required to be reported as provided in Paragraph (4) of this Subsection.

(b) The gross proceeds received and accepted by the political committee during the reporting period from the sale of raffle tickets. Purchases of raffle tickets that are made by the same person and are of such amount as to be reportable, either singly or in the aggregate, as required in Paragraph (4) of this Subsection, shall be so reported; however, single transactions to purchase raffle tickets which are not in excess of twenty-five dollars must be reported only in the report of gross proceeds and shall not be required to be reported as provided in Paragraph (4) of this Subsection.

* * *

§1495.3. Maintenance of records; valuation of in-kind contributions and expenditures

* * *

B.

* * *

(2) Payments made to purchase raffle tickets, campaign paraphernalia, such as campaign pins, buttons, badges, flags, emblems, hats, shirts, banners, literature, and similar items, other than expenditures made by a candidate for his own paraphernalia, and payments for tickets to testimonials and similar fundraising events are contributions, and records thereof shall be maintained, provided that:

(a) In the case of any single transaction involving the sale of raffle tickets or of items such as campaign pins, buttons, badges, flags, emblems, hats, banners, literature, and similar material which is for an amount not in excess of twenty-five dollars and the proceeds of which are received and deposited by a candidate, no record need be kept by the campaign treasurer for such recipient candidate, except the total amount received and deposited from such sale and the fact that such amount was received from such sale.

(b) No person shall sell or buy raffle tickets or campaign paraphernalia in successive single transactions for amounts below those for which specific records are required by this Paragraph as a subterfuge to avoid requirements of this Part that names and addresses of contributors and dates and amounts of contributions be recorded, aggregated, and reported. Such transactions shall be considered single transactions and shall be recorded and reported as provided in this Part. Any person who violates the provisions of this Section shall be subject to the penalties provided in R.S. 18:1505.4, R.S. 18:1505.5, and R.S. 18:1505.6.

* * *

§1495.5. Reports; contents

* * *

B. Each report required to be in conformity with this Section shall contain the following information:

* * *

(5)(a) The gross proceeds received and accepted by the candidate during the reporting period from the sale of items such as political campaign pins, buttons, badges, flags, emblems, hats, banners, literature, and similar materials. Purchases of such campaign items and materials which are made by the same person and which are of such amount as to be reportable, either singly or in the aggregate, ~~under as required in Paragraph (4) hereof of this Subsection~~, shall be so reported; however, single transactions to purchase ~~such campaign~~ items or materials which are for not in excess of twenty-five dollars must be reported only in the report of gross proceeds and shall not be required to be reported as ~~required provided in Paragraph (4) of this Subsection~~.

(b) The gross proceeds received and accepted by the candidate during the reporting period from the sale of raffle tickets. Purchases of raffle tickets that are made by the same person and are of such amount as to be reportable, either singly or in the aggregate, as provided in Paragraph (4) of this Subsection, shall be so reported; however, single transactions to purchase raffle tickets which are not in excess of twenty-five dollars must be reported only in the report of gross proceeds and shall not be required to be reported as provided in Paragraph (4) of this Subsection.

* * *

§1505.2. Contributions; expenditures; certain prohibitions and limitations

* * *

C.

* * *

(2) Upon receipt of a cash contribution of one hundred dollars or less, the candidate or committee receiving the contribution shall provide to the contributor a receipt for the exact amount of the contribution; such receipt shall contain the name, ~~and address, and social security number~~ of the contributor, shall be signed by the contributor, and the candidate or committee receiving the contribution shall retain a copy of the receipt. If the contributor refuses to furnish his name, ~~or address, or social security number~~ or refuses to sign the receipt, the contribution shall be immediately returned to said contributor. If the contributor is unable to write, he shall affix his mark to the receipt, and the person receiving the contribution shall affix the name of the incapacitated person to the receipt, provided he does so in the presence of a witness who shall also sign his name as witness to the mark. The copy of the receipt retained by the candidate or committee provided for in this Subsection shall be available to the supervisory committee for inspection. The supervisory committee shall promulgate rules and regulations relative to the receipt required by this Subsection.

* * *

§1505.3. Subterfuge to avoid compliance with Chapter

* * *

C. As more specifically provided in R.S. 18:1491.5(B)(2)(b) and R.S. 18:1495.3(B)(2)(b), no person shall sell or buy raffle tickets or campaign paraphernalia in successive single transactions for amounts below those for which specific records are required as a subterfuge to avoid the requirements of this Chapter. Any person who violates the provisions of said Paragraphs shall be subject to the penalties provided in R.S. 18:1505.4, R.S. 18:1505.5, and R.S. 18:1505.6.

* * *

Section 2.(A) Any changes to campaign finance disclosure forms as a result of the provisions of this Act shall become effective after February 17, 2021.

(B) This Act shall become effective on January 1, 2021.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin

Secretary of State

ACT No. 162

HOUSE BILL NO. 805
BY REPRESENTATIVE PRESSLY
AN ACT

To enact Part VI of Chapter 1 of Code Title XXIV of Code Book III of Title 9 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, to be comprised of R.S. 9:5828 through 5830, relative to the effect of obligations during certain emergencies and disasters; to provide relative to suspension of prescription, peremptive, and abandonment periods and other legal deadlines; to provide relative to the extension of prescription and peremptive periods and other legal deadlines; to provide relative to the ratification of Proclamation Number JBE 2020-30; to provide for applicability; and to provide for related matters. Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Part VI of Chapter 1 of Code Title XXIV of Code Book III of Title 9 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, to be comprised of R.S. 9:5828 through 5830, is hereby enacted to read as follows:

PART VI. SUSPENSION OR EXTENSION OF PRESCRIPTION AND PEREMPTION DURING 2020 COVID-19 PUBLIC HEALTH EMERGENCY §5828. Purpose; ratification

A. The legislature finds that the COVID-19 public health emergency created a statewide emergency disrupting and forcing the closure of certain courts and public offices and further resulting in the displacement of courts, offices, clients, and counsel. This Part is enacted for the benefit and protection of the state as a whole and its citizens, and to prevent injustice, inequity, and undue hardship to persons who were prevented by the COVID-19 public health emergency from timely access to courts and offices in the exercise of their legal rights, including the filing of documents and pleadings as authorized or required by law. Therefore, this Part shall be liberally construed to effect its purposes.

B. The action of the governor of this state in issuing Proclamation Number JBE 2020-30 and any extensions thereof are hereby approved, ratified, and confirmed subject to the provisions of this Part.

§5829. Suspension and extension of prescription and peremption; exceptions

A. All prescriptions, including liberative, acquisitive, and the prescription of nonuse, abandonment periods, and all peremptive periods shall be subject to a limited suspension or extension during the time period of March 17, 2020, through July 5, 2020; however, the suspension or extension of these periods shall be limited and shall apply only if these periods would have otherwise expired during the time period of March 17, 2020, through July 5, 2020. The right to file a pleading or motion to enforce any right, claim, or action which would have expired during the time period of March 17, 2020, through July 5, 2020, shall expire on July 6, 2020.

B. The provisions of Subsection A of this Section shall not apply to any matter concerning the prescription of nonuse applicable to mineral servitudes, mineral royalty interests, and executive rights which shall be governed by the Louisiana Mineral Code and are not subject to the suspension provisions in this Section.

§5830. Suspension of legal deadlines; extension of legal deadlines; contradictory hearing

A. All deadlines in legal proceedings that were suspended by Proclamation Number JBE 2020-30 and any extensions thereof shall be subject to a limited suspension or extension until July 6, 2020; however, the suspension or extension of these deadlines shall be limited and shall apply only if these deadlines would have otherwise expired during the time period of March 17, 2020, through July 5, 2020. The right to file a pleading or motion to enforce any deadline in legal proceedings which would have expired during the time period of March 17, 2020, through July 5, 2020, shall expire on July 6, 2020.

B. Notwithstanding the provisions of Subsection A of this Section and to the extent that deadlines in legal proceedings were not suspended by Proclamation Number JBE 2020-30 and any extensions thereof, if a deadline in a legal proceeding lapsed during the time period of March 17, 2020, through July 5, 2020, a party shall have the right to seek an extension or suspension of that deadline by contradictory motion or declaratory judgment. The party seeking the extension shall bear the burden of proving that either the party or his attorney was adversely affected by the COVID-19 public health emergency and, but for the adverse effects of the COVID-19 public health emergency, the legal deadline would have been timely met. For good cause shown, the court shall extend the deadline in the legal proceeding, but in no instance shall the extension be later than September 1, 2020.

C. Notwithstanding Subsections A and B of this Section, legal deadlines related to matters set forth in Louisiana Civil Code Book III, Title IX, Chapters 1 through 5 and Louisiana Code of Civil Procedure Book VII, Title XI, Chapters 1 and 2 shall not be suspended or extended beyond the time period provided for by Proclamation Number JBE 2020-30 and any extensions thereof.

Section 2. The provisions of this Act shall preempt and supersede but not repeal any provision of the Civil Code or any other provision of law to the

extent that such provision conflicts with the provisions of this Act.

Section 3. This Act is declared to be interpretative, curative, and procedural and therefore is to be applied retroactively as well as prospectively.

Section 4. The Louisiana State Law Institute shall include as notes to this Act Proclamation Number JBE 2020-30 and any extensions thereof.

Section 5. The provisions of R.S. 9:5829 and 5830 as enacted by this Act shall specifically apply in all administrative hearings and proceedings.

Section 6. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 163

HOUSE BILL NO. 869 (Substitute for House Bill No. 659 by Representative Carrier)

BY REPRESENTATIVE CARRIER

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 30:2011(D)(24)(e), 2018(C), and 2154(C) and to repeal R.S. 30:2180(D)(4), relative to medical waste disposal; to provide for submission of environmental assessment statements to public buildings; to repeal the prohibition on permitting of certain solid waste facilities; to provide for effectiveness; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 30:2011(D)(24)(e), 2018(C), and 2154(C) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§2011. Department of Environmental Quality created; duties; powers; structure

* * *

D. The secretary shall have the following powers and duties:

* * *

(24)

* * *

(e) The provisions of this Paragraph shall not apply to the construction or operation of a medical waste incinerator which is permitted pursuant to the provisions of R.S. 30:2154(C) ~~or 30:2180(D)(4)~~.

* * *

§2018. Environmental assessment hearings

* * *

C. The department ~~may, and if requested, shall~~ shall conduct a public hearing on the environmental assessment statement in the parish where the facility is located. Any public hearing on the environmental assessment statement, ~~whether requested or at the discretion of the department,~~ may be combined with a public hearing on the proposed permit. If the facility is located in more than one parish, the department may conduct a single hearing to serve all the affected parishes in the vicinity of a centrally located facility. Simultaneously with the submission of the statement to the department, the applicant shall also submit copies of the statement to the local governmental authority and designated public ~~library~~ building where the facility is located, at no cost to the local governmental authority or the designated public ~~library~~ building.

* * *

§2154. Powers; duties; restrictions; prohibitions; penalties

* * *

C.(1) Notwithstanding any other provision of the law to the contrary, the secretary ~~shall not may only~~ may only issue any permit ~~or promulgate any rule or regulation~~ which would allow the construction or operation of a medical waste incinerator disposal facility of any type ~~in this state until such rules and regulations are specifically authorized by law.~~

~~(2) The prohibition in this Subsection shall not apply to the regulation or permitting of any such facility possessing a permit or interim permit on April 16, 1990 nor to an application which was pending and had not been denied prior to July 1, 1990.~~

~~(3) In no event shall any such permit be issued without in parishes with a population below fifty thousand according to the latest federal decennial census. In such parishes, a permit may be only issued after prior notification of legislators representing the area which includes the site of the facility, or the proposed site of the facility and after a prior public hearing in that area.~~

~~(4) (2) The department shall promulgate necessary rules and regulations, in accordance with the Administrative Procedure Act, for the permitting of medical waste incinerator disposal facilities within one hundred eighty days after being specifically authorized by law.~~

* * *

Section 2. R.S. 30:2180(D)(4) is hereby repealed in its entirety.

Section 3. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and

subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, June 9, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 164

HOUSE BILL NO. 12
BY REPRESENTATIVE CARPENTER

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 11:2256(A)(5), relative to the Firefighters' Retirement System; to provide with respect to the reemployment of retirees; to provide for suspension of benefits; and to provide for related matters.

Notice of intention to introduce this Act has been published as provided by Article X, Section 29(C) of the Constitution of Louisiana.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 11:2256(A)(5) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§2256. Benefits; refund of contributions, application, and payment

A.

* * *

(5)(a) Upon returning to work as a full-time employee for a fire department of an employer covered by this system, retirement benefits shall cease and the employee and employer shall contribute to the system towards creditable service. The member may not change the option which was selected under the first retirement computation.

(b) When a person who is retired from this system returns to work on a part-time basis for a fire department of an employer covered by this system, employee and employer contributions shall be remitted to the system, but the retiree shall not accrue creditable service. Employee contributions shall be refunded, without interest, and the system shall retain the employer contributions.

* * *

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided in Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 165

HOUSE BILL NO. 52
BY REPRESENTATIVE GREEN

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 18:54, relative to registrars of voters; to provide relative to oaths and bonds filed by registrars; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 18:54 is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§54. Qualification; date; duplicate oath; bond; approval of bond

Within thirty days after the date of his commission, each registrar shall qualify for office by subscribing to the oath of office prescribed by the constitution. The oath shall be filed with the clerk of court, and a duplicate original or a certified copy thereof shall be filed with the secretary of state ~~and with the state treasurer.~~ In a parish containing a municipality with a population of three hundred thousand or more, the oath shall be filed with the clerk of the civil district court. Each registrar also shall file with the ~~state treasurer~~ secretary of state a bond, in favor of the governor and with security, for the faithful performance of the duties required of him and for the payment of such damages as may be sustained by his failure to discharge his duties. The sureties on the bond shall be with a company authorized to do business in Louisiana, and in each parish the bond shall be in the amount of five thousand dollars.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 166

HOUSE BILL NO. 53
BY REPRESENTATIVES JEFFERSON AND MCFARLAND

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 13:621.2 and to repeal Act No. 669 of the 1999 Regular Session of the Legislature, relative to the election of judges for the Second Judicial District; to eliminate the requirement that judges reside in a specific parish of the Second Judicial District; to require judges of the Second Judicial District Court to be elected at large from the Second Judicial District; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 13:621.2 is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:
§621.2. Second judicial district

The Second Judicial District Court shall have three judges who shall be elected at large from the Second Judicial District for six-year terms. The Second Judicial District Court shall be comprised of Division A in Claiborne Parish, Division B in Jackson Parish, and Division C in Bienville Parish. A judge elected to serve in the Second Judicial District shall reside within the district but is not required to reside within the parish where the division is located.

Section 2. Act No. 669 of the 1999 Regular Session of the Legislature is hereby repealed in its entirety.

Section 3. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 167

HOUSE BILL NO. 70

BY REPRESENTATIVES MIKE JOHNSON, ADAMS, AMEDEE, BAGLEY, BEAULLIEU, BRYANT, BUTLER, CARRIER, ROBBY CARTER, WILFORD CARTER, CORMIER, COX, DESHOTEL, DUBUISSON, DUPLESSIS, GADBERRY, GAROFALO, GOUDEAU, HARRIS, HODGES, HORTON, ILLG, LARVADAIN, MCCORMICK, MCFARLAND, MIGUEZ, GREGORY MILLER, MOORE, CHARLES OWEN, ROBERT OWEN, SCHAMERHORN, SEABAUGH, SELDERS, ST. BLANC, THOMPSON, TURNER, WHEAT, AND MINCEY

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 29:26.1(D)(1) and to enact R.S. 29:26.1(B)(11), relative to National Guard death and disability benefits; to provide for qualifying subsequent examinations; to define "qualifying subsequent examination"; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 29:26.1(D)(1) is hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 29:26.1(B)(11) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§26.1. National Guard death and disability benefits

* * *

B. Definitions. As used in this Section, the following terms shall have the following meanings unless a different meaning is clearly required by context:

* * *

(11) "Qualifying subsequent examination" means after initial examination or rating, the guardsman's initial injuries progressed or worsened causing the guardsman to receive one hundred percent permanent total disability rating, or a permanent and total unemployability disability rating as determined by the United States Department of Veterans Affairs.

* * *

D. Benefits available. (1) During periods of activation, subsequent to September 11, 2001, of a guardsman ordered by the governor or by the president of the United States, benefits in a lump-sum amount of two hundred fifty thousand dollars for a qualifying death, ~~and~~ one hundred thousand dollars for a qualifying disability, ~~and fifty thousand dollars for qualifying subsequent examination shall be paid by the state to a guardsman or his beneficiary, when such death or disability occurs during a period of activation in the line of duty as required by this Section. Such benefits shall be paid only when funds are available, having been appropriated for the purpose.~~

* * *

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 168

HOUSE BILL NO. 80
BY REPRESENTATIVE ROMERO
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 16:516(A), relative to district attorneys; to provide for the payment of group health insurance premiums from the district attorney's general fund in certain judicial districts; to establish criteria for

eligibility; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 16:516(A) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§516. Health insurance; retired district attorneys; certain judicial districts

A. The premium costs of group health insurance ~~shall~~ may be paid in full from the district attorney's general fund, in and for the Fifth, Seventh, Eighteenth, Twenty-First, Twenty-Third, Twenty-Fifth, Twenty-Ninth, Thirtieth, ~~Thirty-First, Thirty-Third, Thirty-Sixth,~~ and Fortieth judicial districts as may be applicable, for any district attorney who retired with at least ~~twenty-five~~ twenty-four years of full-time service regardless of age.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 169

HOUSE BILL NO. 88
BY REPRESENTATIVE HUGHES
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 18:154(G)(4) and to enact R.S. 18:154(G)(6), relative to voter registration records and related computer systems; to prohibit disclosure of certain computer system information by the registrar of voters, the clerk of court, and the Department of State; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 18:154(G)(4) is hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 18:154(G)(6) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§154. Records open to inspection; copying; exceptions

* * *

G. Notwithstanding any provision of this Section to the contrary, the registrar, the clerk of court, and the Department of State shall be prohibited from disclosing the following:

* * *

(4) Computer system or program information, including software, related menus, flow charts, network diagrams, usernames, nonpublic uniform resource locators, database object names, computer names, device identifiers and serial numbers, screen printouts and captures, internet protocol address numbers, passwords, source materials, prompts, dialogues, operating and instructional manuals, programming materials or instructions, and any other computer operating or support materials concerning the state voter registration computer system and election management system or voting equipment.

* * *

(6) Internet protocol address numbers submitted to or captured by the state voter registration computer system and election management system.

* * *

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 170

HOUSE BILL NO. 102
BY REPRESENTATIVE GLOVER
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 40:539(C)(8)(g), relative to employees of the Housing Authority of the City of Shreveport; to provide that employees of the authority shall not be in the state civil service; and to provide for related matters.

Notice of intention to introduce this Act has been published as provided by Article III, Section 13 of the Constitution of Louisiana.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 40:539(C)(8)(g) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§539. Selection of chairman and vice chairman; executive director; hiring of employees

* * *

C.

* * *

(8)

* * *

(g) Notwithstanding any provision of Subparagraph (a) of this Paragraph or of any other law to the contrary, the Housing Authority of the City of Shreveport shall not be considered an instrumentality of the state for purposes of

Article X, Section 1(A) of the Constitution of Louisiana, and employees of the authority shall not be included in the state civil service.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.
A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 171

HOUSE BILL NO. 136
BY REPRESENTATIVE MINCEY
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 14:38.1.1, relative to adulterating food products; to create the crime of adulterating food products; to provide for elements of the offense; to provide for definitions; to provide for criminal penalties; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 14:38.1.1 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§38.1.1. Adulterating a food product

A. Adulterating a food product is the intentional contamination of a food product by adding to the product, or mingling with the product, any feces, urine, blood, saliva, semen, any form of human or animal waste, or other bodily substance with the intent that the product be provided to or consumed by another person who has no knowledge of nor consents to the contamination.

B. For purposes of this Section:

(1) "Food product" is any food, drink, condiment, or medication, including all substances and preparations used for or entering into the composition of the product.

(2) "Medication" means any prescription or nonprescription drug.

C. Whoever commits the crime of adulterating a food product shall be fined not more than two thousand dollars, imprisoned with or without hard labor for not more than five years, or both.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.
A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 172

HOUSE BILL NO. 137
BY REPRESENTATIVES MOORE, JONES, ADAMS, AMEDEE, BEAULLIEU, BRASS, CARPENTER, CARRIER, ROBBY CARTER, WILFORD CARTER, CORMIER, COX, CREWS, DEVILLIER, DESHOTEL, DUPLESSIS, ECHOLS, EMERSON, FARNUM, FONTENOT, FREEMAN, FREIBERG, GADBERRY, GAINES, GREEN, HARRIS, HILFERTY, IVEY, JEFFERSON, JENKINS, TRAVIS JOHNSON, KERNER, LARVADAIN, LYONS, MCCORMICK, MCKNIGHT, MIGUEZ, GREGORY MILLER, NELSON, NEWELL, CHARLES OWEN, PHELPS, PIERRE, PRESSLY, RISER, ROMERO, SCHAMERHORN, SELDERS, THOMPSON, WHITE, AND WILLARD AND SENATORS ALLAIN, BARROW, BERNARD, BOUIE, CATHEY, FIELDS, FOIL, HARRIS, JACKSON, JOHNS, MCMATH, MILLIGAN, FRED MILLS, ROBERT MILLS, MIZELL, PRICE, REESE, AND SMITH
AN ACT

To repeal R.S. 14:107, relative to the crime of vagrancy; to repeal the crime of vagrancy; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 14:107 is hereby repealed in its entirety.

Section 2. The repeal of R.S. 14:107 pursuant to this Act shall have prospective application only and shall have no effect on the lawfulness of any arrest, conviction, or sentence which occurred prior to the effective date of this Act.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.
A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 173

HOUSE BILL NO. 142
BY REPRESENTATIVES ROBBY CARTER, BAGLEY, GARY CARTER, WILFORD CARTER, CORMIER, COX, CREWS, GREEN, HARRIS, LACOMBE, LARVADAIN, MARCELLE, MARINO, MOORE, NEWELL, PIERRE, SEABAUGH, AND STAGNI
AN ACT

To amend and reenact Code of Civil Procedure Articles 3421, 3431(A), and 3432.1(A)(8), relative to successions; to provide relative to the definition of small succession; to authorize the administration of certain testate successions without court approval; to provide for certain required information; and to provide for related matters.

CODING: Words in ~~struck through~~ type are deletions from existing law; words underscored (House Bills) and underscored and boldfaced

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Code of Civil Procedure Articles 3421, 3431(A), and 3432.1(A)(8) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

Art. 3421. Small successions defined

A. A small succession, within the meaning of this Title, is the succession or the ancillary succession of a person who at any time has died and the decedent's property in Louisiana has a gross value of one hundred twenty-five thousand dollars or less valued as of the date of death or, if the date of death occurred at least twenty years prior to the date of filing of a small succession affidavit as authorized in this Title, leaving property in Louisiana of any value.

B. A small succession shall also include a succession of a person who has died testate, leaving no immovable property, and probate of the testament of the deceased would have the same effect as if the deceased had died intestate.

* * *

Art. 3431. Small successions; judicial opening unnecessary

A. It shall not be necessary to open judicially the small succession of a person domiciled in Louisiana who died intestate or testate as provided by Article 3421(B), or domiciled outside of Louisiana who died intestate or whose testament has been probated by court order of another state, and whose sole heirs are the following:

- (1) His descendants.
- (2) His ascendants.
- (3) His brothers or sisters, or descendants thereof.
- (4) His surviving spouse.
- (5) His legatees under a testament ~~probated by court order of another state.~~

* * *

Art. 3432.1. Affidavit for small succession for a person ~~domiciled outside of Louisiana~~ who died testate; contents

A. When it is not necessary under the provisions of Article 3431 to open judicially a small succession, at least two persons, including the surviving spouse, if any, and one or more competent legatees of the deceased, may execute one or more multiple originals of an affidavit, duly sworn before any officer or person authorized to administer oaths in the place where the affidavit is executed, setting forth all of the following:

* * *

(8) An attachment consisting of certified copies of the testament and, if the testament has been probated by court order of another state, the probate order of ~~another~~ the other state.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.
A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 174

HOUSE BILL NO. 150
BY REPRESENTATIVES BACALA, ADAMS, AMEDEE, BEAULLIEU, BISHOP, BOURRIQUE, BUTLER, CARRIER, COUSSAN, CREWS, DEVILLIER, DUBUISSON, EDMONDS, EDMONSTON, EMERSON, FARNUM, FIRMENT, FONTENOT, GADBERRY, GAROFALO, GOUDEAU, HARRIS, HODGES, HORTON, ILLG, IVEY, MIKE JOHNSON, MCFARLAND, MCKNIGHT, MCMAHEN, MIGUEZ, GREGORY MILLER, MINCEY, NELSON, CHARLES OWEN, ROBERT OWEN, PRESSLY, RISER, ROMERO, SCHAMERHORN, SCHEXNAYDER, SEABAUGH, SELDERS, STEFANSKI, THOMAS, THOMPSON, WHEAT, AND KERNER
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 14:34.2(A)(3), relative to battery of a police officer; to provide relative to the elements of the crime of battery of a police officer; to specify that the crime includes the throwing of water and other liquids; to remove the requirement that the offender be incarcerated or detained at the time of the throwing; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 14:34.2(A)(3) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§34.2. Battery of a police officer

A.

* * *

(3) For purposes of this Section, "battery of a police officer" includes the use of force or violence upon the person of the police officer by throwing water or any other liquid, feces, urine, blood, saliva, or any form of human waste ~~by an offender while the offender is incarcerated by a court of law and is being detained in any jail, prison, correctional facility, juvenile institution, temporary holding center, halfway house, or detention facility.~~

* * *

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.
A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 175

HOUSE BILL NO. 159

BY REPRESENTATIVES MCFARLAND, ADAMS, BACALA, BEAULLIEU, BOURRIAQUE, BROWN, CARPENTER, CARRIER, ROBBY CARTER, COUSSAN, DESHOTEL, EDMONDS, EMERSON, FIRMENT, FREIBERG, FRIEMAN, GADBERRY, GOUDEAU, GREEN, HARRIS, ILLG, MIKE JOHNSON, TRAVIS JOHNSON, KERNER, LACOMBE, LARVADAIN, LYONS, MCCORMICK, MCKNIGHT, MCMAHEN, MIGUEZ, DUSTIN MILLER, GREGORY MILLER, NELSON, CHARLES OWEN, ROBERT OWEN, PIERRE, PRESSLY, RISER, ROMERO, SCHAMERHORN, SEABAUGH, SELDERS, THOMAS, THOMPSON, AND WHEAT AND SENATORS ALLAIN, BOUIE, CONNICK, FESI, AND HENSGENS

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 56:116.1(D)(2), relative to hunting outlaw quadrupeds, nutria, and beaver; to allow nighttime hunting of outlaw quadrupeds, nutria, and beaver on private property at any time of the year; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 56:116.1(D)(2) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§116.1. Wild birds and wild quadrupeds; times and methods of taking; penalties

* * *

D.

* * *

(2) On private property, the landowner, or his lessee or agent with written permission and the landowner's contact information in his possession, may take outlaw quadrupeds, nutria, or beaver during nighttime hours from one-half hour after official sunset on the last day of February to one-half hour after official sunset the last day of August of that same year. However, no person shall be allowed to participate or be present during nighttime hunting activities if convicted of a class three or greater wildlife violation within the previous five years or if he has any other prohibition which would prevent the legal use of a firearm or participation in a hunting activity. Such taking may be with or without the aid of artificial light, infrared or laser sighting devices, or night vision devices. Any person attempting to take outlaw quadrupeds, nutria, or beaver under the provisions of this Paragraph, shall notify the sheriff of the parish in which the property is located of his intention to attempt to take outlaw quadrupeds, nutria, or beaver within twenty-four hours prior to the attempted taking or immediately upon taking the animal. The sheriff of the parish in which the property is located shall notify the sheriff of the parish in which the property is located of his intention to attempt to take outlaw quadrupeds under the provisions of this Paragraph.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 176

HOUSE BILL NO. 209
BY REPRESENTATIVE HUVAL
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 22:2462(F), relative to the electronic delivery of insurance policy information; to authorize insurers to provide documents electronically without affirmative consent; to require written notice to the insured of the availability of a paper copy of documents; to require insurers to provide a paper copy without cost to the insured; to provide a time limit for providing a paper copy; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 22:2462(F) is hereby enacted to read as follows:
§2462. Electronic delivery of insurance documents and notices

* * *

F.(1) A health insurance issuer may provide a group or individual insurance policy or contract electronically to a party without the affirmative consent of the party if the issuer mails written notice to the party describing all of the following:

- (a) How to access the policy or contract electronically.
- (b) That a paper form of the policy or contract may be requested at any time.
- (c) How to request a copy of the paper form.
- (d) That the paper form will be provided without any cost to the party.

(2) A health insurance issuer that receives a request from a party for a paper form of the policy or contract shall provide the copy without any cost to the party as soon as practicable but no later than fifteen calendar days after the health insurance issuer received the request.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 177

HOUSE BILL NO. 210
BY REPRESENTATIVE MIKE JOHNSON
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 9:315.18 and 315.19, relative to child support; to provide for the schedule of basic child support obligations; to provide for an obligor's right to claim a child as a dependent for tax purposes; to provide for exceptions; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 9:315.18 and 315.19 are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§315.18. Schedule; information

A. The amounts set forth in the schedule in R.S. 9:315.19 presume that the custodial or domiciliary party has the right to claim the federal and state tax dependency deductions and any earned income credit child as a dependent. However, the claiming of dependents for federal and state income tax purposes shall be as provided in Subsection B of this Section.

B.(1) The non-domiciliary party whose child support obligation equals or exceeds fifty percent of the total child support obligation shall be entitled to claim the child as a dependent for federal and state tax dependency deductions purposes if, after a contradictory motion, the judge finds both of the following:

(a) No arrearages are owed by the obligor.

(b) The right to claim the dependency deductions or, child, or some of the children in the case of multiple children, a part thereof, would substantially benefit the non-domiciliary party without significantly harming the domiciliary party.

(2) The child support order shall:

(a) Specify the years in which the party is entitled to claim such deductions the appropriate dependents.

(b) Require the domiciliary party to timely execute all forms required by the Internal Revenue Service authorizing the non-domiciliary party to exercise the claim such deductions.

(c) Prohibit the non-domiciliary party from claiming a dependent for any given tax year if he owes arrears under a child support order for that dependent on the last day of that year.

(3) Subparagraph (2)(c) of this Subsection shall apply to child support orders rendered or modified in accordance with this Section on or after January 1, 2021.

C. The party who receives the benefit of the exemption for such tax year shall not be considered as having received payment of a thing not due if the dependency deduction allocation claim is not maintained by the taxing authorities.

D. Notwithstanding the provisions of Subsection B of this Section, the non-domiciliary party shall be entitled to claim the child as a dependent if, after a contradictory motion, the judge finds all of the following:

(1) The domiciliary party is unemployed and shall not file a tax return for the tax year in question.

(2) The obligor owes arrears.

(3) The obligor's anticipated tax refund may be used to reduce the arrears.

§315.19. Schedule for support
The schedule of support to be used for determining the basic child support obligation is as follows:

LOUISIANA CHILD SUPPORT GUIDELINE
SCHEDULE OF BASIC CHILD SUPPORT OBLIGATIONS

MONTHLY GROSS INCOME	ONE CHILDREN (TOTAL)	TWO CHILDREN (TOTAL)	THREE CHILDREN (TOTAL)	FOUR CHILDREN (TOTAL)	FIVE CHILDREN (TOTAL)	SIX CHILDREN (TOTAL)
0-900 <u>950</u>	100	100	100	100	100	100
950	<u>114</u>	<u>116</u>	<u>117</u>	<u>118</u>	<u>119</u>	<u>121</u>
1000	<u>119</u>	<u>120</u>	<u>122</u>	<u>123</u>	<u>124</u>	<u>126</u>
1050	<u>156</u>	<u>158</u>	<u>160</u>	<u>161</u>	<u>163</u>	<u>165</u>
1100	<u>190</u>	<u>193</u>	<u>195</u>	<u>197</u>	<u>199</u>	<u>201</u>
1150	<u>224</u>	<u>230</u>	<u>233</u>	<u>235</u>	<u>238</u>	<u>240</u>
1200	<u>233</u>	<u>265</u>	<u>268</u>	<u>270</u>	<u>273</u>	<u>276</u>
1250	<u>242</u>	<u>299</u>	<u>303</u>	<u>306</u>	<u>309</u>	<u>312</u>
1300	<u>251</u>	<u>337</u>	<u>340</u>	<u>344</u>	<u>348</u>	<u>352</u>

1350	<u>260</u>	<u>402</u>	<u>375</u>	<u>380</u>	<u>384</u>	<u>388</u>
1400	<u>269</u>	<u>417</u>	<u>413</u>	<u>418</u>	<u>422</u>	<u>427</u>
1450	<u>277</u>	<u>430</u>	<u>448</u>	<u>453</u>	<u>458</u>	<u>463</u>
1500	<u>286</u>	<u>443</u>	<u>483</u>	<u>489</u>	<u>494</u>	<u>499</u>
1550	<u>295</u>	<u>458</u>	<u>561</u>	<u>527</u>	<u>533</u>	<u>538</u>
1600	<u>304</u>	<u>471</u>	<u>578</u>	<u>562</u>	<u>568</u>	<u>574</u>
1650	<u>313</u>	<u>484</u>	<u>594</u>	<u>598</u>	<u>604</u>	<u>611</u>
1700	<u>322</u>	<u>499</u>	<u>612</u>	<u>682</u>	<u>643</u>	<u>650</u>
1750	<u>330</u>	<u>512</u>	<u>628</u>	<u>700</u>	<u>679</u>	<u>686</u>
1800	<u>340</u>	<u>526</u>	<u>646</u>	<u>720</u>	<u>717</u>	<u>725</u>
1850	<u>348</u>	<u>539</u>	<u>661</u>	<u>737</u>	<u>753</u>	<u>761</u>
1900	<u>356</u>	<u>552</u>	<u>677</u>	<u>754</u>	<u>830</u>	<u>796</u>
1950	<u>365</u>	<u>565</u>	<u>693</u>	<u>773</u>	<u>850</u>	<u>834</u>
2000	<u>373</u>	<u>578</u>	<u>709</u>	<u>790</u>	<u>869</u>	<u>869</u>
2050	<u>382</u>	<u>590</u>	<u>724</u>	<u>807</u>	<u>888</u>	<u>904</u>
2100	<u>390</u>	<u>604</u>	<u>740</u>	<u>826</u>	<u>908</u>	<u>988</u>
2150	<u>399</u>	<u>617</u>	<u>756</u>	<u>843</u>	<u>927</u>	<u>1008</u>
2200	<u>407</u>	<u>630</u>	<u>772</u>	<u>861</u>	<u>947</u>	<u>1030</u>
2250	<u>416</u>	<u>643</u>	<u>787</u>	<u>878</u>	<u>966</u>	<u>1051</u>
2300	<u>424</u>	<u>655</u>	<u>803</u>	<u>895</u>	<u>985</u>	<u>1071</u>
2350	<u>433</u>	<u>669</u>	<u>819</u>	<u>914</u>	<u>1005</u>	<u>1093</u>
2400	<u>441</u>	<u>681</u>	<u>835</u>	<u>931</u>	<u>1024</u>	<u>1114</u>
2450	<u>449</u>	<u>694</u>	<u>850</u>	<u>948</u>	<u>1043</u>	<u>1135</u>
2500	<u>458</u>	<u>709</u>	<u>868</u>	<u>968</u>	<u>1064</u>	<u>1158</u>
2550	<u>467</u>	<u>722</u>	<u>884</u>	<u>985</u>	<u>1084</u>	<u>1179</u>
2600	<u>476</u>	<u>736</u>	<u>901</u>	<u>1005</u>	<u>1105</u>	<u>1203</u>
2650	<u>485</u>	<u>749</u>	<u>917</u>	<u>1023</u>	<u>1125</u>	<u>1224</u>
2700	<u>493</u>	<u>762</u>	<u>933</u>	<u>1040</u>	<u>1145</u>	<u>1245</u>
2750	<u>502</u>	<u>776</u>	<u>951</u>	<u>1060</u>	<u>1166</u>	<u>1268</u>
2800	<u>511</u>	<u>790</u>	<u>967</u>	<u>1078</u>	<u>1185</u>	<u>1290</u>
2850	<u>519</u>	<u>803</u>	<u>983</u>	<u>1096</u>	<u>1205</u>	<u>1311</u>
2900	<u>529</u>	<u>817</u>	<u>1000</u>	<u>1115</u>	<u>1226</u>	<u>1334</u>
2950	<u>537</u>	<u>830</u>	<u>1016</u>	<u>1133</u>	<u>1246</u>	<u>1356</u>
3000	<u>546</u>	<u>844</u>	<u>1033</u>	<u>1152</u>	<u>1267</u>	<u>1379</u>
3050	<u>555</u>	<u>857</u>	<u>1048</u>	<u>1169</u>	<u>1286</u>	<u>1399</u>
3100	<u>563</u>	<u>869</u>	<u>1063</u>	<u>1186</u>	<u>1304</u>	<u>1419</u>

3150	<u>572</u>	<u>883</u>	<u>1080</u>	<u>1204</u>	<u>1324</u>	<u>1441</u>
3200	<u>580</u>	<u>895</u>	<u>1095</u>	<u>1221</u>	<u>1343</u>	<u>1461</u>
3250	<u>588</u>	<u>908</u>	<u>1110</u>	<u>1237</u>	<u>1361</u>	<u>1481</u>
3300	<u>597</u>	<u>921</u>	<u>1126</u>	<u>1256</u>	<u>1381</u>	<u>1503</u>
3350	<u>605</u>	<u>934</u>	<u>1141</u>	<u>1272</u>	<u>1400</u>	<u>1523</u>
3400	<u>614</u>	<u>947</u>	<u>1157</u>	<u>1291</u>	<u>1420</u>	<u>1545</u>
3450	<u>622</u>	<u>960</u>	<u>1173</u>	<u>1307</u>	<u>1438</u>	<u>1565</u>
3500	<u>631</u>	<u>973</u>	<u>1188</u>	<u>1324</u>	<u>1457</u>	<u>1585</u>
3550	<u>640</u>	<u>986</u>	<u>1204</u>	<u>1342</u>	<u>1477</u>	<u>1607</u>
3600	<u>648</u>	<u>999</u>	<u>1219</u>	<u>1360</u>	<u>1496</u>	<u>1627</u>
3650	<u>656</u>	<u>1012</u>	<u>1235</u>	<u>1377</u>	<u>1515</u>	<u>1649</u>
3700	<u>666</u>	<u>1026</u>	<u>1253</u>	<u>1397</u>	<u>1537</u>	<u>1672</u>
3750	<u>674</u>	<u>1039</u>	<u>1269</u>	<u>1415</u>	<u>1556</u>	<u>1693</u>
3800	<u>683</u>	<u>1054</u>	<u>1286</u>	<u>1434</u>	<u>1578</u>	<u>1716</u>
3850	<u>692</u>	<u>1067</u>	<u>1302</u>	<u>1452</u>	<u>1597</u>	<u>1738</u>
3900	<u>700</u>	<u>1080</u>	<u>1318</u>	<u>1470</u>	<u>1617</u>	<u>1759</u>
3950	<u>710</u>	<u>1094</u>	<u>1336</u>	<u>1489</u>	<u>1638</u>	<u>1782</u>
4000	<u>718</u>	<u>1107</u>	<u>1352</u>	<u>1507</u>	<u>1658</u>	<u>1804</u>
4050	<u>727</u>	<u>1120</u>	<u>1368</u>	<u>1525</u>	<u>1678</u>	<u>1825</u>
4100	<u>736</u>	<u>1135</u>	<u>1385</u>	<u>1544</u>	<u>1699</u>	<u>1848</u>
4150	<u>745</u>	<u>1148</u>	<u>1401</u>	<u>1562</u>	<u>1719</u>	<u>1870</u>
4200	<u>753</u>	<u>1161</u>	<u>1417</u>	<u>1580</u>	<u>1738</u>	<u>1891</u>
4250	<u>761</u>	<u>1172</u>	<u>1430</u>	<u>1595</u>	<u>1754</u>	<u>1908</u>
4300	<u>768</u>	<u>1183</u>	<u>1443</u>	<u>1609</u>	<u>1770</u>	<u>1926</u>
4350	<u>776</u>	<u>1194</u>	<u>1457</u>	<u>1624</u>	<u>1787</u>	<u>1944</u>
4400	<u>782</u>	<u>1204</u>	<u>1468</u>	<u>1637</u>	<u>1800</u>	<u>1959</u>
4450	<u>789</u>	<u>1213</u>	<u>1479</u>	<u>1649</u>	<u>1814</u>	<u>1974</u>
4500	<u>796</u>	<u>1224</u>	<u>1492</u>	<u>1664</u>	<u>1830</u>	<u>1991</u>
4550	<u>802</u>	<u>1234</u>	<u>1504</u>	<u>1677</u>	<u>1844</u>	<u>2007</u>
4600	<u>810</u>	<u>1245</u>	<u>1517</u>	<u>1691</u>	<u>1860</u>	<u>2024</u>
4650	<u>816</u>	<u>1255</u>	<u>1528</u>	<u>1704</u>	<u>1874</u>	<u>2039</u>
4700	<u>823</u>	<u>1264</u>	<u>1539</u>	<u>1717</u>	<u>1888</u>	<u>2054</u>
4750	<u>830</u>	<u>1275</u>	<u>1552</u>	<u>1731</u>	<u>1904</u>	<u>2072</u>

4800	<u>836</u>	<u>1285</u>	<u>1564</u>	<u>1744</u>	<u>1918</u>	<u>2087</u>
4850	<u>842</u>	<u>1293</u>	<u>1574</u>	<u>1755</u>	<u>1931</u>	<u>2101</u>
4900	<u>847</u>	<u>1301</u>	<u>1583</u>	<u>1765</u>	<u>1941</u>	<u>2112</u>
4950	<u>851</u>	<u>1307</u>	<u>1591</u>	<u>1773</u>	<u>1951</u>	<u>2122</u>
5000	<u>856</u>	<u>1315</u>	<u>1599</u>	<u>1783</u>	<u>1961</u>	<u>2134</u>
5050	<u>861</u>	<u>1321</u>	<u>1607</u>	<u>1792</u>	<u>1971</u>	<u>2144</u>
5100	<u>865</u>	<u>1327</u>	<u>1614</u>	<u>1800</u>	<u>1980</u>	<u>2154</u>
5150	<u>870</u>	<u>1335</u>	<u>1623</u>	<u>1810</u>	<u>1991</u>	<u>2166</u>
5200	<u>874</u>	<u>1341</u>	<u>1631</u>	<u>1818</u>	<u>2000</u>	<u>2176</u>
5250	<u>878</u>	<u>1348</u>	<u>1638</u>	<u>1827</u>	<u>2009</u>	<u>2186</u>
5300	<u>883</u>	<u>1355</u>	<u>1647</u>	<u>1837</u>	<u>2020</u>	<u>2198</u>
5350	<u>887</u>	<u>1361</u>	<u>1655</u>	<u>1845</u>	<u>2030</u>	<u>2208</u>
5400	<u>892</u>	<u>1369</u>	<u>1663</u>	<u>1855</u>	<u>2040</u>	<u>2220</u>
5450	<u>897</u>	<u>1375</u>	<u>1671</u>	<u>1863</u>	<u>2050</u>	<u>2230</u>
5500	<u>901</u>	<u>1381</u>	<u>1679</u>	<u>1872</u>	<u>2059</u>	<u>2240</u>
5550	<u>905</u>	<u>1387</u>	<u>1685</u>	<u>1879</u>	<u>2067</u>	<u>2249</u>
5600	<u>907</u>	<u>1390</u>	<u>1689</u>	<u>1883</u>	<u>2071</u>	<u>2254</u>
5650	<u>909</u>	<u>1394</u>	<u>1693</u>	<u>1887</u>	<u>2076</u>	<u>2259</u>
5700	<u>912</u>	<u>1398</u>	<u>1697</u>	<u>1892</u>	<u>2082</u>	<u>2265</u>
5750	<u>914</u>	<u>1401</u>	<u>1701</u>	<u>1897</u>	<u>2086</u>	<u>2270</u>
5800	<u>917</u>	<u>1405</u>	<u>1705</u>	<u>1901</u>	<u>2092</u>	<u>2276</u>
5850	<u>919</u>	<u>1408</u>	<u>1709</u>	<u>1906</u>	<u>2096</u>	<u>2281</u>
5900	<u>922</u>	<u>1411</u>	<u>1713</u>	<u>1910</u>	<u>2101</u>	<u>2286</u>
5950	<u>924</u>	<u>1415</u>	<u>1717</u>	<u>1915</u>	<u>2106</u>	<u>2292</u>
6000	<u>927</u>	<u>1419</u>	<u>1721</u>	<u>1919</u>	<u>2111</u>	<u>2297</u>
6050	<u>929</u>	<u>1422</u>	<u>1725</u>	<u>1923</u>	<u>2116</u>	<u>2302</u>
6100	<u>931</u>	<u>1426</u>	<u>1729</u>	<u>1928</u>	<u>2121</u>	<u>2308</u>
6150	<u>934</u>	<u>1429</u>	<u>1733</u>	<u>1933</u>	<u>2126</u>	<u>2313</u>
6200	<u>936</u>	<u>1433</u>	<u>1738</u>	<u>1938</u>	<u>2131</u>	<u>2319</u>
6250	<u>941</u>	<u>1440</u>	<u>1745</u>	<u>1946</u>	<u>2141</u>	<u>2329</u>
6300	<u>946</u>	<u>1447</u>	<u>1754</u>	<u>1956</u>	<u>2151</u>	<u>2341</u>
6350	<u>952</u>	<u>1456</u>	<u>1764</u>	<u>1967</u>	<u>2164</u>	<u>2354</u>
6400	<u>957</u>	<u>1463</u>	<u>1773</u>	<u>1977</u>	<u>2174</u>	<u>2366</u>

6450	<u>962</u>	<u>1471</u>	<u>1782</u>	<u>1987</u>	<u>2185</u>	<u>2377</u>
6500	<u>968</u>	<u>1479</u>	<u>1792</u>	<u>1998</u>	<u>2197</u>	<u>2391</u>
6550	<u>973</u>	<u>1487</u>	<u>1800</u>	<u>2007</u>	<u>2208</u>	<u>2403</u>
6600	<u>978</u>	<u>1495</u>	<u>1810</u>	<u>2019</u>	<u>2220</u>	<u>2416</u>
6650	<u>983</u>	<u>1503</u>	<u>1819</u>	<u>2028</u>	<u>2231</u>	<u>2428</u>
6700	<u>989</u>	<u>1510</u>	<u>1828</u>	<u>2038</u>	<u>2242</u>	<u>2439</u>
6750	<u>994</u>	<u>1519</u>	<u>1838</u>	<u>2049</u>	<u>2254</u>	<u>2453</u>
6800	<u>999</u>	<u>1526</u>	<u>1847</u>	<u>2059</u>	<u>2265</u>	<u>2464</u>
6850	<u>1004</u>	<u>1534</u>	<u>1855</u>	<u>2069</u>	<u>2276</u>	<u>2476</u>
6900	<u>1010</u>	<u>1542</u>	<u>1865</u>	<u>2080</u>	<u>2288</u>	<u>2489</u>
6950	<u>1015</u>	<u>1551</u>	<u>1876</u>	<u>2091</u>	<u>2300</u>	<u>2503</u>
7000	<u>1022</u>	<u>1560</u>	<u>1887</u>	<u>2104</u>	<u>2315</u>	<u>2518</u>
7050	<u>1027</u>	<u>1568</u>	<u>1897</u>	<u>2116</u>	<u>2327</u>	<u>2532</u>
7100	<u>1032</u>	<u>1577</u>	<u>1908</u>	<u>2127</u>	<u>2340</u>	<u>2546</u>
7150	<u>1039</u>	<u>1586</u>	<u>1919</u>	<u>2140</u>	<u>2354</u>	<u>2561</u>
7200	<u>1044</u>	<u>1595</u>	<u>1930</u>	<u>2151</u>	<u>2367</u>	<u>2575</u>
7250	<u>1049</u>	<u>1603</u>	<u>1940</u>	<u>2163</u>	<u>2379</u>	<u>2588</u>
7300	<u>1055</u>	<u>1612</u>	<u>1951</u>	<u>2176</u>	<u>2393</u>	<u>2604</u>
7350	<u>1061</u>	<u>1621</u>	<u>1962</u>	<u>2187</u>	<u>2406</u>	<u>2618</u>
7400	<u>1067</u>	<u>1630</u>	<u>1973</u>	<u>2200</u>	<u>2420</u>	<u>2633</u>
7450	<u>1072</u>	<u>1638</u>	<u>1984</u>	<u>2212</u>	<u>2433</u>	<u>2647</u>
7500	<u>1078</u>	<u>1647</u>	<u>1994</u>	<u>2223</u>	<u>2445</u>	<u>2660</u>
7550	<u>1084</u>	<u>1656</u>	<u>2005</u>	<u>2236</u>	<u>2460</u>	<u>2676</u>
7600	<u>1088</u>	<u>1663</u>	<u>2014</u>	<u>2246</u>	<u>2470</u>	<u>2688</u>
7650	<u>1089</u>	<u>1664</u>	<u>2015</u>	<u>2247</u>	<u>2471</u>	<u>2689</u>
7700	<u>1090</u>	<u>1665</u>	<u>2016</u>	<u>2248</u>	<u>2472</u>	<u>2690</u>
7750	<u>1090</u>	<u>1666</u>	<u>2016</u>	<u>2248</u>	<u>2473</u>	<u>2691</u>
7800	<u>1091</u>	<u>1667</u>	<u>2017</u>	<u>2249</u>	<u>2474</u>	<u>2692</u>
7850	<u>1092</u>	<u>1668</u>	<u>2018</u>	<u>2250</u>	<u>2475</u>	<u>2693</u>
7900	<u>1092</u>	<u>1668</u>	<u>2019</u>	<u>2251</u>	<u>2476</u>	<u>2694</u>
7950	<u>1093</u>	<u>1669</u>	<u>2020</u>	<u>2252</u>	<u>2477</u>	<u>2695</u>
8000	<u>1094</u>	<u>1670</u>	<u>2020</u>	<u>2253</u>	<u>2478</u>	<u>2696</u>
8050	<u>1094</u>	<u>1671</u>	<u>2021</u>	<u>2253</u>	<u>2479</u>	<u>2697</u>

8100	<u>1095</u>	<u>1672</u>	<u>2022</u>	<u>2254</u>	<u>2480</u>	<u>2698</u>
8150	<u>1096</u>	<u>1672</u>	<u>2023</u>	<u>2255</u>	<u>2481</u>	<u>2699</u>
8200	<u>1097</u>	<u>1673</u>	<u>2023</u>	<u>2256</u>	<u>2482</u>	<u>2700</u>
8250	<u>1097</u>	<u>1674</u>	<u>2024</u>	<u>2257</u>	<u>2483</u>	<u>2701</u>
8300	<u>1098</u>	<u>1676</u>	<u>2026</u>	<u>2259</u>	<u>2485</u>	<u>2704</u>
8350	<u>1103</u>	<u>1683</u>	<u>2035</u>	<u>2269</u>	<u>2495</u>	<u>2715</u>
8400	<u>1108</u>	<u>1690</u>	<u>2042</u>	<u>2277</u>	<u>2505</u>	<u>2725</u>
8450	<u>1113</u>	<u>1697</u>	<u>2051</u>	<u>2286</u>	<u>2515</u>	<u>2736</u>
8500	<u>1118</u>	<u>1704</u>	<u>2059</u>	<u>2295</u>	<u>2525</u>	<u>2747</u>
8550	<u>1122</u>	<u>1711</u>	<u>2067</u>	<u>2304</u>	<u>2535</u>	<u>2758</u>
8600	<u>1127</u>	<u>1718</u>	<u>2075</u>	<u>2313</u>	<u>2545</u>	<u>2768</u>
8650	<u>1132</u>	<u>1725</u>	<u>2083</u>	<u>2322</u>	<u>2554</u>	<u>2779</u>
8700	<u>1136</u>	<u>1732</u>	<u>2091</u>	<u>2331</u>	<u>2564</u>	<u>2790</u>
8750	<u>1141</u>	<u>1738</u>	<u>2099</u>	<u>2340</u>	<u>2574</u>	<u>2800</u>
8800	<u>1146</u>	<u>1745</u>	<u>2107</u>	<u>2349</u>	<u>2584</u>	<u>2811</u>
8850	<u>1150</u>	<u>1752</u>	<u>2115</u>	<u>2358</u>	<u>2594</u>	<u>2822</u>
8900	<u>1155</u>	<u>1759</u>	<u>2123</u>	<u>2367</u>	<u>2603</u>	<u>2832</u>
8950	<u>1160</u>	<u>1766</u>	<u>2131</u>	<u>2376</u>	<u>2613</u>	<u>2843</u>
9000	<u>1164</u>	<u>1773</u>	<u>2138</u>	<u>2384</u>	<u>2622</u>	<u>2853</u>
9050	<u>1167</u>	<u>1777</u>	<u>2143</u>	<u>2389</u>	<u>2628</u>	<u>2860</u>
9100	<u>1169</u>	<u>1780</u>	<u>2148</u>	<u>2395</u>	<u>2634</u>	<u>2866</u>
9150	<u>1172</u>	<u>1784</u>	<u>2152</u>	<u>2400</u>	<u>2640</u>	<u>2872</u>
9200	<u>1175</u>	<u>1788</u>	<u>2157</u>	<u>2405</u>	<u>2646</u>	<u>2879</u>
9250	<u>1177</u>	<u>1792</u>	<u>2162</u>	<u>2410</u>	<u>2651</u>	<u>2885</u>
9300	<u>1180</u>	<u>1796</u>	<u>2167</u>	<u>2416</u>	<u>2657</u>	<u>2891</u>
9350	<u>1182</u>	<u>1800</u>	<u>2171</u>	<u>2421</u>	<u>2663</u>	<u>2897</u>
9400	<u>1185</u>	<u>1804</u>	<u>2176</u>	<u>2426</u>	<u>2669</u>	<u>2904</u>
9450	<u>1187</u>	<u>1808</u>	<u>2181</u>	<u>2432</u>	<u>2675</u>	<u>2910</u>
9500	<u>1190</u>	<u>1812</u>	<u>2185</u>	<u>2437</u>	<u>2680</u>	<u>2916</u>
9550	<u>1193</u>	<u>1816</u>	<u>2190</u>	<u>2442</u>	<u>2686</u>	<u>2923</u>
9600	<u>1195</u>	<u>1820</u>	<u>2195</u>	<u>2447</u>	<u>2692</u>	<u>2929</u>
9650	<u>1198</u>	<u>1823</u>	<u>2200</u>	<u>2453</u>	<u>2698</u>	<u>2935</u>

9700	<u>1200</u>	<u>1827</u>	<u>2204</u>	<u>2458</u>	<u>2704</u>	<u>2942</u>
9750	<u>1204</u>	<u>1832</u>	<u>2210</u>	<u>2464</u>	<u>2711</u>	<u>2949</u>
9800	<u>1207</u>	<u>1837</u>	<u>2216</u>	<u>2471</u>	<u>2718</u>	<u>2957</u>
9850	<u>1210</u>	<u>1842</u>	<u>2222</u>	<u>2478</u>	<u>2725</u>	<u>2965</u>
9900	<u>1213</u>	<u>1847</u>	<u>2228</u>	<u>2484</u>	<u>2733</u>	<u>2973</u>
9950	<u>1216</u>	<u>1852</u>	<u>2234</u>	<u>2491</u>	<u>2740</u>	<u>2981</u>
10000	<u>1220</u>	<u>1857</u>	<u>2240</u>	<u>2497</u>	<u>2747</u>	<u>2989</u>
10050	<u>1223</u>	<u>1862</u>	<u>2246</u>	<u>2504</u>	<u>2754</u>	<u>2997</u>
10100	<u>1226</u>	<u>1866</u>	<u>2252</u>	<u>2510</u>	<u>2762</u>	<u>3005</u>
10150	<u>1229</u>	<u>1871</u>	<u>2257</u>	<u>2517</u>	<u>2769</u>	<u>3012</u>
10200	<u>1233</u>	<u>1876</u>	<u>2263</u>	<u>2524</u>	<u>2776</u>	<u>3020</u>
10250	<u>1236</u>	<u>1881</u>	<u>2269</u>	<u>2530</u>	<u>2783</u>	<u>3028</u>
10300	<u>1239</u>	<u>1886</u>	<u>2275</u>	<u>2537</u>	<u>2790</u>	<u>3036</u>
10350	<u>1242</u>	<u>1891</u>	<u>2281</u>	<u>2543</u>	<u>2798</u>	<u>3044</u>
10400	<u>1245</u>	<u>1896</u>	<u>2287</u>	<u>2550</u>	<u>2805</u>	<u>3052</u>
10450	<u>1249</u>	<u>1901</u>	<u>2293</u>	<u>2556</u>	<u>2812</u>	<u>3060</u>
10500	<u>1252</u>	<u>1905</u>	<u>2299</u>	<u>2563</u>	<u>2819</u>	<u>3067</u>
10550	<u>1255</u>	<u>1910</u>	<u>2305</u>	<u>2570</u>	<u>2827</u>	<u>3075</u>
10600	<u>1258</u>	<u>1915</u>	<u>2311</u>	<u>2576</u>	<u>2834</u>	<u>3083</u>
10650	<u>1261</u>	<u>1920</u>	<u>2316</u>	<u>2583</u>	<u>2841</u>	<u>3091</u>
10700	<u>1265</u>	<u>1925</u>	<u>2322</u>	<u>2589</u>	<u>2848</u>	<u>3099</u>
10750	<u>1268</u>	<u>1930</u>	<u>2328</u>	<u>2596</u>	<u>2856</u>	<u>3107</u>
10800	<u>1272</u>	<u>1935</u>	<u>2335</u>	<u>2604</u>	<u>2864</u>	<u>3116</u>
10850	<u>1275</u>	<u>1941</u>	<u>2342</u>	<u>2612</u>	<u>2873</u>	<u>3126</u>
10900	<u>1279</u>	<u>1947</u>	<u>2349</u>	<u>2620</u>	<u>2881</u>	<u>3135</u>
10950	<u>1283</u>	<u>1953</u>	<u>2356</u>	<u>2627</u>	<u>2890</u>	<u>3145</u>
11000	<u>1286</u>	<u>1959</u>	<u>2364</u>	<u>2635</u>	<u>2899</u>	<u>3154</u>
11050	<u>1290</u>	<u>1964</u>	<u>2371</u>	<u>2643</u>	<u>2908</u>	<u>3164</u>
11100	<u>1294</u>	<u>1970</u>	<u>2378</u>	<u>2652</u>	<u>2917</u>	<u>3174</u>
11150	<u>1298</u>	<u>1977</u>	<u>2386</u>	<u>2660</u>	<u>2926</u>	<u>3184</u>
11200	<u>1302</u>	<u>1983</u>	<u>2394</u>	<u>2669</u>	<u>2936</u>	<u>3194</u>
11250	<u>1306</u>	<u>1990</u>	<u>2402</u>	<u>2678</u>	<u>2946</u>	<u>3205</u>
11300	<u>1310</u>	<u>1996</u>	<u>2409</u>	<u>2687</u>	<u>2955</u>	<u>3215</u>

11350	<u>1314</u>	<u>2002</u>	<u>2417</u>	<u>2695</u>	<u>2965</u>	<u>3226</u>
11400	<u>1319</u>	<u>2009</u>	<u>2425</u>	<u>2704</u>	<u>2974</u>	<u>3236</u>
11450	<u>1323</u>	<u>2015</u>	<u>2433</u>	<u>2713</u>	<u>2984</u>	<u>3247</u>
11500	<u>1327</u>	<u>2021</u>	<u>2441</u>	<u>2721</u>	<u>2994</u>	<u>3257</u>
11550	<u>1331</u>	<u>2028</u>	<u>2449</u>	<u>2730</u>	<u>3003</u>	<u>3267</u>
11600	<u>1335</u>	<u>2034</u>	<u>2456</u>	<u>2739</u>	<u>3013</u>	<u>3278</u>
11650	<u>1339</u>	<u>2040</u>	<u>2464</u>	<u>2748</u>	<u>3022</u>	<u>3288</u>
11700	<u>1343</u>	<u>2047</u>	<u>2472</u>	<u>2756</u>	<u>3032</u>	<u>3299</u>
11750	<u>1347</u>	<u>2053</u>	<u>2480</u>	<u>2765</u>	<u>3042</u>	<u>3309</u>
11800	<u>1351</u>	<u>2059</u>	<u>2488</u>	<u>2774</u>	<u>3051</u>	<u>3320</u>
11850	<u>1355</u>	<u>2066</u>	<u>2495</u>	<u>2782</u>	<u>3061</u>	<u>3330</u>
11900	<u>1359</u>	<u>2072</u>	<u>2503</u>	<u>2791</u>	<u>3070</u>	<u>3341</u>
11950	<u>1363</u>	<u>2079</u>	<u>2511</u>	<u>2800</u>	<u>3080</u>	<u>3351</u>
12000	<u>1367</u>	<u>2085</u>	<u>2519</u>	<u>2809</u>	<u>3090</u>	<u>3361</u>
12050	<u>1372</u>	<u>2091</u>	<u>2527</u>	<u>2817</u>	<u>3099</u>	<u>3372</u>
12100	<u>1375</u>	<u>2097</u>	<u>2533</u>	<u>2825</u>	<u>3107</u>	<u>3380</u>
12150	<u>1379</u>	<u>2102</u>	<u>2539</u>	<u>2831</u>	<u>3114</u>	<u>3388</u>
12200	<u>1383</u>	<u>2107</u>	<u>2544</u>	<u>2836</u>	<u>3120</u>	<u>3395</u>
12250	<u>1387</u>	<u>2112</u>	<u>2549</u>	<u>2842</u>	<u>3127</u>	<u>3402</u>
12300	<u>1390</u>	<u>2117</u>	<u>2555</u>	<u>2848</u>	<u>3133</u>	<u>3409</u>
12350	<u>1394</u>	<u>2122</u>	<u>2560</u>	<u>2854</u>	<u>3140</u>	<u>3416</u>
12400	<u>1398</u>	<u>2127</u>	<u>2565</u>	<u>2860</u>	<u>3146</u>	<u>3423</u>
12450	<u>1401</u>	<u>2132</u>	<u>2571</u>	<u>2866</u>	<u>3153</u>	<u>3430</u>
12500	<u>1405</u>	<u>2137</u>	<u>2576</u>	<u>2872</u>	<u>3159</u>	<u>3437</u>
12550	<u>1409</u>	<u>2142</u>	<u>2581</u>	<u>2878</u>	<u>3166</u>	<u>3445</u>
12600	<u>1413</u>	<u>2147</u>	<u>2587</u>	<u>2884</u>	<u>3173</u>	<u>3452</u>
12650	<u>1416</u>	<u>2152</u>	<u>2592</u>	<u>2890</u>	<u>3179</u>	<u>3459</u>
12700	<u>1420</u>	<u>2157</u>	<u>2597</u>	<u>2896</u>	<u>3186</u>	<u>3466</u>
12750	<u>1424</u>	<u>2162</u>	<u>2603</u>	<u>2902</u>	<u>3192</u>	<u>3473</u>
12800	<u>1427</u>	<u>2167</u>	<u>2608</u>	<u>2908</u>	<u>3199</u>	<u>3480</u>
12850	<u>1431</u>	<u>2172</u>	<u>2613</u>	<u>2914</u>	<u>3205</u>	<u>3487</u>
12900	<u>1435</u>	<u>2178</u>	<u>2619</u>	<u>2920</u>	<u>3212</u>	<u>3495</u>
12950	<u>1438</u>	<u>2183</u>	<u>2624</u>	<u>2926</u>	<u>3218</u>	<u>3502</u>

13000	<u>1442</u>	<u>2188</u>	<u>2629</u>	<u>2932</u>	<u>3225</u>	<u>3509</u>
13050	<u>1446</u>	<u>2193</u>	<u>2635</u>	<u>2938</u>	<u>3232</u>	<u>3516</u>
13100	<u>1450</u>	<u>2198</u>	<u>2640</u>	<u>2944</u>	<u>3238</u>	<u>3523</u>
13150	<u>1453</u>	<u>2203</u>	<u>2645</u>	<u>2950</u>	<u>3245</u>	<u>3530</u>
13200	<u>1457</u>	<u>2208</u>	<u>2651</u>	<u>2956</u>	<u>3251</u>	<u>3537</u>
13250	<u>1461</u>	<u>2213</u>	<u>2656</u>	<u>2962</u>	<u>3258</u>	<u>3544</u>
13300	<u>1464</u>	<u>2218</u>	<u>2661</u>	<u>2968</u>	<u>3264</u>	<u>3552</u>
13350	<u>1468</u>	<u>2223</u>	<u>2667</u>	<u>2973</u>	<u>3271</u>	<u>3559</u>
13400	<u>1470</u>	<u>2226</u>	<u>2671</u>	<u>2978</u>	<u>3275</u>	<u>3564</u>
13450	<u>1472</u>	<u>2229</u>	<u>2674</u>	<u>2981</u>	<u>3280</u>	<u>3568</u>
13500	<u>1473</u>	<u>2231</u>	<u>2677</u>	<u>2985</u>	<u>3284</u>	<u>3573</u>
13550	<u>1475</u>	<u>2234</u>	<u>2681</u>	<u>2989</u>	<u>3288</u>	<u>3577</u>
13600	<u>1477</u>	<u>2236</u>	<u>2684</u>	<u>2993</u>	<u>3292</u>	<u>3582</u>
13650	<u>1478</u>	<u>2239</u>	<u>2687</u>	<u>2996</u>	<u>3296</u>	<u>3586</u>
13700	<u>1480</u>	<u>2242</u>	<u>2691</u>	<u>3000</u>	<u>3300</u>	<u>3591</u>
13750	<u>1482</u>	<u>2244</u>	<u>2694</u>	<u>3004</u>	<u>3304</u>	<u>3595</u>
13800	<u>1483</u>	<u>2247</u>	<u>2697</u>	<u>3008</u>	<u>3308</u>	<u>3600</u>
13850	<u>1485</u>	<u>2250</u>	<u>2701</u>	<u>3011</u>	<u>3313</u>	<u>3604</u>
13900	<u>1486</u>	<u>2252</u>	<u>2704</u>	<u>3015</u>	<u>3317</u>	<u>3609</u>
13950	<u>1488</u>	<u>2255</u>	<u>2708</u>	<u>3019</u>	<u>3321</u>	<u>3613</u>
14000	<u>1490</u>	<u>2257</u>	<u>2711</u>	<u>3023</u>	<u>3325</u>	<u>3618</u>
14050	<u>1491</u>	<u>2260</u>	<u>2714</u>	<u>3026</u>	<u>3329</u>	<u>3622</u>
14100	<u>1493</u>	<u>2263</u>	<u>2718</u>	<u>3030</u>	<u>3333</u>	<u>3627</u>
14150	<u>1495</u>	<u>2265</u>	<u>2721</u>	<u>3034</u>	<u>3337</u>	<u>3631</u>
14200	<u>1496</u>	<u>2268</u>	<u>2724</u>	<u>3038</u>	<u>3341</u>	<u>3636</u>
14250	<u>1498</u>	<u>2271</u>	<u>2728</u>	<u>3041</u>	<u>3346</u>	<u>3640</u>
14300	<u>1500</u>	<u>2273</u>	<u>2731</u>	<u>3045</u>	<u>3350</u>	<u>3645</u>
14350	<u>1501</u>	<u>2276</u>	<u>2734</u>	<u>3049</u>	<u>3354</u>	<u>3649</u>
14400	<u>1503</u>	<u>2279</u>	<u>2738</u>	<u>3053</u>	<u>3358</u>	<u>3653</u>
14450	<u>1504</u>	<u>2281</u>	<u>2741</u>	<u>3056</u>	<u>3362</u>	<u>3658</u>
14500	<u>1506</u>	<u>2283</u>	<u>2744</u>	<u>3059</u>	<u>3365</u>	<u>3662</u>
14550	<u>1507</u>	<u>2286</u>	<u>2747</u>	<u>3063</u>	<u>3369</u>	<u>3666</u>
14600	<u>1509</u>	<u>2288</u>	<u>2750</u>	<u>3066</u>	<u>3373</u>	<u>3670</u>

14650	<u>1510</u>	<u>2290</u>	<u>2753</u>	<u>3069</u>	<u>3376</u>	<u>3673</u>
14700	<u>1513</u>	<u>2294</u>	<u>2758</u>	<u>3075</u>	<u>3383</u>	<u>3680</u>
14750	<u>1517</u>	<u>2301</u>	<u>2765</u>	<u>3084</u>	<u>3392</u>	<u>3690</u>
14800	<u>1521</u>	<u>2307</u>	<u>2773</u>	<u>3092</u>	<u>3401</u>	<u>3700</u>
14850	<u>1525</u>	<u>2313</u>	<u>2780</u>	<u>3100</u>	<u>3410</u>	<u>3710</u>
14900	<u>1530</u>	<u>2319</u>	<u>2788</u>	<u>3109</u>	<u>3419</u>	<u>3720</u>
14950	<u>1534</u>	<u>2326</u>	<u>2795</u>	<u>3117</u>	<u>3429</u>	<u>3730</u>
15000	<u>1538</u>	<u>2332</u>	<u>2803</u>	<u>3125</u>	<u>3438</u>	<u>3740</u>
15050	<u>1542</u>	<u>2338</u>	<u>2810</u>	<u>3133</u>	<u>3447</u>	<u>3750</u>
15100	<u>1546</u>	<u>2345</u>	<u>2818</u>	<u>3142</u>	<u>3456</u>	<u>3760</u>
15150	<u>1550</u>	<u>2351</u>	<u>2825</u>	<u>3150</u>	<u>3465</u>	<u>3770</u>
15200	<u>1554</u>	<u>2357</u>	<u>2833</u>	<u>3158</u>	<u>3474</u>	<u>3780</u>
15250	<u>1559</u>	<u>2363</u>	<u>2840</u>	<u>3167</u>	<u>3483</u>	<u>3790</u>
15300	<u>1563</u>	<u>2370</u>	<u>2848</u>	<u>3175</u>	<u>3493</u>	<u>3800</u>
15350	<u>1567</u>	<u>2376</u>	<u>2855</u>	<u>3183</u>	<u>3502</u>	<u>3810</u>
15400	<u>1571</u>	<u>2382</u>	<u>2863</u>	<u>3192</u>	<u>3511</u>	<u>3820</u>
15450	<u>1575</u>	<u>2388</u>	<u>2870</u>	<u>3200</u>	<u>3520</u>	<u>3830</u>
15500	<u>1579</u>	<u>2395</u>	<u>2878</u>	<u>3208</u>	<u>3529</u>	<u>3840</u>
15550	<u>1584</u>	<u>2401</u>	<u>2885</u>	<u>3217</u>	<u>3538</u>	<u>3850</u>
15600	<u>1588</u>	<u>2407</u>	<u>2892</u>	<u>3225</u>	<u>3548</u>	<u>3860</u>
15650	<u>1592</u>	<u>2413</u>	<u>2900</u>	<u>3233</u>	<u>3557</u>	<u>3870</u>
15700	<u>1596</u>	<u>2420</u>	<u>2907</u>	<u>3242</u>	<u>3566</u>	<u>3880</u>
15750	<u>1600</u>	<u>2426</u>	<u>2915</u>	<u>3250</u>	<u>3575</u>	<u>3890</u>
15800	<u>1604</u>	<u>2432</u>	<u>2922</u>	<u>3258</u>	<u>3584</u>	<u>3900</u>
15850	<u>1609</u>	<u>2438</u>	<u>2930</u>	<u>3267</u>	<u>3593</u>	<u>3910</u>
15900	<u>1613</u>	<u>2445</u>	<u>2937</u>	<u>3275</u>	<u>3603</u>	<u>3920</u>
15950	<u>1617</u>	<u>2451</u>	<u>2945</u>	<u>3283</u>	<u>3612</u>	<u>3930</u>
16000	<u>1621</u>	<u>2457</u>	<u>2952</u>	<u>3292</u>	<u>3621</u>	<u>3940</u>
16050	<u>1625</u>	<u>2463</u>	<u>2960</u>	<u>3300</u>	<u>3630</u>	<u>3949</u>
16100	<u>1629</u>	<u>2470</u>	<u>2967</u>	<u>3308</u>	<u>3639</u>	<u>3959</u>
16150	<u>1634</u>	<u>2476</u>	<u>2975</u>	<u>3317</u>	<u>3648</u>	<u>3969</u>
16200	<u>1638</u>	<u>2482</u>	<u>2982</u>	<u>3325</u>	<u>3658</u>	<u>3979</u>
16250	<u>1642</u>	<u>2488</u>	<u>2990</u>	<u>3333</u>	<u>3667</u>	<u>3989</u>

16300	<u>1646</u>	<u>2495</u>	<u>2997</u>	<u>3342</u>	<u>3676</u>	<u>3999</u>
16350	<u>1650</u>	<u>2501</u>	<u>3004</u>	<u>3350</u>	<u>3685</u>	<u>4009</u>
16400	<u>1654</u>	<u>2507</u>	<u>3012</u>	<u>3358</u>	<u>3694</u>	<u>4019</u>
16450	<u>1659</u>	<u>2514</u>	<u>3019</u>	<u>3367</u>	<u>3703</u>	<u>4029</u>
16500	<u>1662</u>	<u>2519</u>	<u>3026</u>	<u>3374</u>	<u>3712</u>	<u>4038</u>
16550	<u>1664</u>	<u>2522</u>	<u>3029</u>	<u>3378</u>	<u>3715</u>	<u>4042</u>
16600	<u>1666</u>	<u>2524</u>	<u>3032</u>	<u>3381</u>	<u>3719</u>	<u>4047</u>
16650	<u>1668</u>	<u>2527</u>	<u>3035</u>	<u>3385</u>	<u>3723</u>	<u>4051</u>
16700	<u>1669</u>	<u>2529</u>	<u>3038</u>	<u>3388</u>	<u>3726</u>	<u>4054</u>
16750	<u>1671</u>	<u>2532</u>	<u>3041</u>	<u>3390</u>	<u>3729</u>	<u>4058</u>
16800	<u>1672</u>	<u>2534</u>	<u>3043</u>	<u>3393</u>	<u>3733</u>	<u>4061</u>
16850	<u>1674</u>	<u>2536</u>	<u>3046</u>	<u>3396</u>	<u>3736</u>	<u>4064</u>
16900	<u>1675</u>	<u>2538</u>	<u>3048</u>	<u>3399</u>	<u>3739</u>	<u>4068</u>
16950	<u>1677</u>	<u>2540</u>	<u>3051</u>	<u>3402</u>	<u>3742</u>	<u>4071</u>
17000	<u>1678</u>	<u>2542</u>	<u>3053</u>	<u>3405</u>	<u>3745</u>	<u>4075</u>
17050	<u>1680</u>	<u>2545</u>	<u>3056</u>	<u>3407</u>	<u>3748</u>	<u>4078</u>
17100	<u>1681</u>	<u>2547</u>	<u>3059</u>	<u>3410</u>	<u>3751</u>	<u>4081</u>
17150	<u>1683</u>	<u>2549</u>	<u>3061</u>	<u>3413</u>	<u>3754</u>	<u>4085</u>
17200	<u>1684</u>	<u>2551</u>	<u>3064</u>	<u>3416</u>	<u>3758</u>	<u>4088</u>
17250	<u>1686</u>	<u>2553</u>	<u>3066</u>	<u>3419</u>	<u>3761</u>	<u>4092</u>
17300	<u>1687</u>	<u>2556</u>	<u>3069</u>	<u>3422</u>	<u>3764</u>	<u>4095</u>
17350	<u>1688</u>	<u>2558</u>	<u>3071</u>	<u>3424</u>	<u>3767</u>	<u>4098</u>
17400	<u>1690</u>	<u>2560</u>	<u>3074</u>	<u>3427</u>	<u>3770</u>	<u>4102</u>
17450	<u>1691</u>	<u>2562</u>	<u>3076</u>	<u>3430</u>	<u>3773</u>	<u>4105</u>
17500	<u>1693</u>	<u>2564</u>	<u>3079</u>	<u>3433</u>	<u>3776</u>	<u>4109</u>
17550	<u>1694</u>	<u>2566</u>	<u>3081</u>	<u>3436</u>	<u>3779</u>	<u>4112</u>
17600	<u>1696</u>	<u>2569</u>	<u>3084</u>	<u>3439</u>	<u>3782</u>	<u>4115</u>
17650	<u>1697</u>	<u>2571</u>	<u>3086</u>	<u>3441</u>	<u>3786</u>	<u>4119</u>
17700	<u>1699</u>	<u>2573</u>	<u>3089</u>	<u>3444</u>	<u>3789</u>	<u>4122</u>
17750	<u>1700</u>	<u>2575</u>	<u>3092</u>	<u>3447</u>	<u>3792</u>	<u>4125</u>
17800	<u>1702</u>	<u>2577</u>	<u>3094</u>	<u>3450</u>	<u>3795</u>	<u>4129</u>
17850	<u>1703</u>	<u>2579</u>	<u>3097</u>	<u>3453</u>	<u>3798</u>	<u>4132</u>
17900	<u>1705</u>	<u>2582</u>	<u>3099</u>	<u>3456</u>	<u>3801</u>	<u>4136</u>

17950	<u>1706</u>	<u>2584</u>	<u>3102</u>	<u>3458</u>	<u>3804</u>	<u>4139</u>
18000	<u>1708</u>	<u>2586</u>	<u>3104</u>	<u>3461</u>	<u>3807</u>	<u>4142</u>
18050	<u>1709</u>	<u>2588</u>	<u>3107</u>	<u>3464</u>	<u>3810</u>	<u>4146</u>
18100	<u>1710</u>	<u>2590</u>	<u>3109</u>	<u>3467</u>	<u>3813</u>	<u>4149</u>
18150	<u>1712</u>	<u>2592</u>	<u>3112</u>	<u>3469</u>	<u>3816</u>	<u>4152</u>
18200	<u>1713</u>	<u>2594</u>	<u>3114</u>	<u>3472</u>	<u>3819</u>	<u>4155</u>
18250	<u>1715</u>	<u>2596</u>	<u>3116</u>	<u>3475</u>	<u>3822</u>	<u>4158</u>
18300	<u>1716</u>	<u>2598</u>	<u>3119</u>	<u>3477</u>	<u>3825</u>	<u>4162</u>
18350	<u>1717</u>	<u>2600</u>	<u>3121</u>	<u>3480</u>	<u>3828</u>	<u>4165</u>
18400	<u>1719</u>	<u>2602</u>	<u>3123</u>	<u>3483</u>	<u>3831</u>	<u>4168</u>
18450	<u>1720</u>	<u>2604</u>	<u>3126</u>	<u>3485</u>	<u>3834</u>	<u>4171</u>
18500	<u>1722</u>	<u>2607</u>	<u>3128</u>	<u>3488</u>	<u>3837</u>	<u>4174</u>
18550	<u>1723</u>	<u>2609</u>	<u>3131</u>	<u>3491</u>	<u>3840</u>	<u>4178</u>
18600	<u>1724</u>	<u>2611</u>	<u>3133</u>	<u>3493</u>	<u>3843</u>	<u>4181</u>
18650	<u>1726</u>	<u>2613</u>	<u>3135</u>	<u>3496</u>	<u>3846</u>	<u>4184</u>
18700	<u>1727</u>	<u>2615</u>	<u>3138</u>	<u>3499</u>	<u>3849</u>	<u>4187</u>
18750	<u>1728</u>	<u>2617</u>	<u>3140</u>	<u>3501</u>	<u>3851</u>	<u>4190</u>
18800	<u>1730</u>	<u>2619</u>	<u>3143</u>	<u>3504</u>	<u>3854</u>	<u>4194</u>
18850	<u>1731</u>	<u>2621</u>	<u>3145</u>	<u>3507</u>	<u>3857</u>	<u>4197</u>
18900	<u>1733</u>	<u>2623</u>	<u>3147</u>	<u>3509</u>	<u>3860</u>	<u>4200</u>
18950	<u>1734</u>	<u>2625</u>	<u>3150</u>	<u>3512</u>	<u>3863</u>	<u>4203</u>
19000	<u>1735</u>	<u>2627</u>	<u>3152</u>	<u>3515</u>	<u>3866</u>	<u>4206</u>
19050	<u>1737</u>	<u>2629</u>	<u>3155</u>	<u>3517</u>	<u>3869</u>	<u>4210</u>
19100	<u>1738</u>	<u>2631</u>	<u>3157</u>	<u>3520</u>	<u>3872</u>	<u>4213</u>
19150	<u>1740</u>	<u>2633</u>	<u>3159</u>	<u>3523</u>	<u>3875</u>	<u>4216</u>
19200	<u>1741</u>	<u>2635</u>	<u>3162</u>	<u>3525</u>	<u>3878</u>	<u>4219</u>
19250	<u>1742</u>	<u>2637</u>	<u>3164</u>	<u>3528</u>	<u>3881</u>	<u>4222</u>
19300	<u>1744</u>	<u>2639</u>	<u>3167</u>	<u>3531</u>	<u>3884</u>	<u>4225</u>
19350	<u>1745</u>	<u>2641</u>	<u>3169</u>	<u>3533</u>	<u>3887</u>	<u>4229</u>
19400	<u>1746</u>	<u>2643</u>	<u>3171</u>	<u>3536</u>	<u>3890</u>	<u>4232</u>
19450	<u>1748</u>	<u>2645</u>	<u>3174</u>	<u>3539</u>	<u>3893</u>	<u>4235</u>
19500	<u>1749</u>	<u>2647</u>	<u>3176</u>	<u>3541</u>	<u>3895</u>	<u>4238</u>
19550	<u>1751</u>	<u>2649</u>	<u>3178</u>	<u>3544</u>	<u>3898</u>	<u>4241</u>

19600	<u>1752</u>	<u>2652</u>	<u>3181</u>	<u>3547</u>	<u>3901</u>	<u>4245</u>
19650	<u>1753</u>	<u>2654</u>	<u>3183</u>	<u>3549</u>	<u>3904</u>	<u>4248</u>
19700	<u>1755</u>	<u>2656</u>	<u>3186</u>	<u>3552</u>	<u>3907</u>	<u>4251</u>
19750	<u>1756</u>	<u>2658</u>	<u>3188</u>	<u>3555</u>	<u>3910</u>	<u>4254</u>
19800	<u>1758</u>	<u>2660</u>	<u>3190</u>	<u>3557</u>	<u>3913</u>	<u>4257</u>
19850	<u>1759</u>	<u>2662</u>	<u>3193</u>	<u>3560</u>	<u>3916</u>	<u>4261</u>
19900	<u>1760</u>	<u>2664</u>	<u>3195</u>	<u>3563</u>	<u>3919</u>	<u>4264</u>
19950	<u>1762</u>	<u>2666</u>	<u>3198</u>	<u>3565</u>	<u>3922</u>	<u>4267</u>
20000	<u>1763</u>	<u>2668</u>	<u>3200</u>	<u>3568</u>	<u>3925</u>	<u>4270</u>
20050	<u>1764</u>	<u>2670</u>	<u>3202</u>	<u>3571</u>	<u>3928</u>	<u>4273</u>
20100	<u>1766</u>	<u>2672</u>	<u>3205</u>	<u>3573</u>	<u>3931</u>	<u>4277</u>
20150	<u>1768</u>	<u>2676</u>	<u>3209</u>	<u>3578</u>	<u>3936</u>	<u>4283</u>
20200	<u>1771</u>	<u>2680</u>	<u>3214</u>	<u>3584</u>	<u>3942</u>	<u>4289</u>
20250	<u>1774</u>	<u>2684</u>	<u>3219</u>	<u>3589</u>	<u>3948</u>	<u>4295</u>
20300	<u>1776</u>	<u>2688</u>	<u>3224</u>	<u>3594</u>	<u>3954</u>	<u>4302</u>
20350	<u>1779</u>	<u>2692</u>	<u>3228</u>	<u>3600</u>	<u>3960</u>	<u>4308</u>
20400	<u>1782</u>	<u>2696</u>	<u>3233</u>	<u>3605</u>	<u>3965</u>	<u>4314</u>
20450	<u>1784</u>	<u>2700</u>	<u>3238</u>	<u>3610</u>	<u>3971</u>	<u>4321</u>
20500	<u>1787</u>	<u>2704</u>	<u>3243</u>	<u>3616</u>	<u>3977</u>	<u>4327</u>
20550	<u>1790</u>	<u>2708</u>	<u>3247</u>	<u>3621</u>	<u>3983</u>	<u>4333</u>
20600	<u>1792</u>	<u>2712</u>	<u>3252</u>	<u>3626</u>	<u>3989</u>	<u>4340</u>
20650	<u>1795</u>	<u>2716</u>	<u>3257</u>	<u>3631</u>	<u>3995</u>	<u>4346</u>
20700	<u>1797</u>	<u>2720</u>	<u>3262</u>	<u>3637</u>	<u>4000</u>	<u>4352</u>
20750	<u>1800</u>	<u>2724</u>	<u>3266</u>	<u>3642</u>	<u>4006</u>	<u>4359</u>
20800	<u>1803</u>	<u>2728</u>	<u>3271</u>	<u>3647</u>	<u>4012</u>	<u>4365</u>
20850	<u>1805</u>	<u>2732</u>	<u>3276</u>	<u>3653</u>	<u>4018</u>	<u>4372</u>
20900	<u>1808</u>	<u>2736</u>	<u>3281</u>	<u>3658</u>	<u>4024</u>	<u>4378</u>
20950	<u>1811</u>	<u>2740</u>	<u>3285</u>	<u>3663</u>	<u>4030</u>	<u>4384</u>
21000	<u>1813</u>	<u>2744</u>	<u>3290</u>	<u>3669</u>	<u>4035</u>	<u>4391</u>
21050	<u>1816</u>	<u>2748</u>	<u>3295</u>	<u>3674</u>	<u>4041</u>	<u>4397</u>
21100	<u>1819</u>	<u>2751</u>	<u>3300</u>	<u>3679</u>	<u>4047</u>	<u>4403</u>
21150	<u>1821</u>	<u>2755</u>	<u>3304</u>	<u>3685</u>	<u>4053</u>	<u>4410</u>
21200	<u>1824</u>	<u>2759</u>	<u>3309</u>	<u>3690</u>	<u>4059</u>	<u>4416</u>

21250	<u>1826</u>	<u>2763</u>	<u>3314</u>	<u>3695</u>	<u>4065</u>	<u>4422</u>
21300	<u>1829</u>	<u>2767</u>	<u>3319</u>	<u>3700</u>	<u>4070</u>	<u>4429</u>
21350	<u>1832</u>	<u>2771</u>	<u>3324</u>	<u>3706</u>	<u>4076</u>	<u>4435</u>
21400	<u>1834</u>	<u>2775</u>	<u>3328</u>	<u>3711</u>	<u>4082</u>	<u>4441</u>
21450	<u>1837</u>	<u>2779</u>	<u>3333</u>	<u>3716</u>	<u>4088</u>	<u>4448</u>
21500	<u>1840</u>	<u>2783</u>	<u>3338</u>	<u>3722</u>	<u>4094</u>	<u>4454</u>
21550	<u>1842</u>	<u>2787</u>	<u>3343</u>	<u>3727</u>	<u>4100</u>	<u>4460</u>
21600	<u>1845</u>	<u>2791</u>	<u>3347</u>	<u>3732</u>	<u>4105</u>	<u>4467</u>
21650	<u>1848</u>	<u>2795</u>	<u>3352</u>	<u>3738</u>	<u>4111</u>	<u>4473</u>
21700	<u>1850</u>	<u>2799</u>	<u>3357</u>	<u>3743</u>	<u>4117</u>	<u>4479</u>
21750	<u>1853</u>	<u>2803</u>	<u>3362</u>	<u>3748</u>	<u>4123</u>	<u>4486</u>
21800	<u>1856</u>	<u>2807</u>	<u>3366</u>	<u>3753</u>	<u>4129</u>	<u>4492</u>
21850	<u>1858</u>	<u>2811</u>	<u>3371</u>	<u>3759</u>	<u>4135</u>	<u>4498</u>
21900	<u>1861</u>	<u>2815</u>	<u>3376</u>	<u>3764</u>	<u>4140</u>	<u>4505</u>
21950	<u>1863</u>	<u>2819</u>	<u>3381</u>	<u>3769</u>	<u>4146</u>	<u>4511</u>
22000	<u>1866</u>	<u>2823</u>	<u>3385</u>	<u>3775</u>	<u>4152</u>	<u>4518</u>
22050	<u>1869</u>	<u>2827</u>	<u>3390</u>	<u>3780</u>	<u>4158</u>	<u>4524</u>
22100	<u>1871</u>	<u>2831</u>	<u>3395</u>	<u>3785</u>	<u>4164</u>	<u>4530</u>
22150	<u>1874</u>	<u>2835</u>	<u>3400</u>	<u>3791</u>	<u>4170</u>	<u>4537</u>
22200	<u>1877</u>	<u>2839</u>	<u>3404</u>	<u>3796</u>	<u>4175</u>	<u>4543</u>
22250	<u>1879</u>	<u>2843</u>	<u>3409</u>	<u>3801</u>	<u>4181</u>	<u>4549</u>
22300	<u>1882</u>	<u>2847</u>	<u>3414</u>	<u>3807</u>	<u>4187</u>	<u>4556</u>
22350	<u>1885</u>	<u>2851</u>	<u>3419</u>	<u>3812</u>	<u>4193</u>	<u>4562</u>
22400	<u>1887</u>	<u>2855</u>	<u>3423</u>	<u>3817</u>	<u>4199</u>	<u>4568</u>
22450	<u>1890</u>	<u>2859</u>	<u>3428</u>	<u>3822</u>	<u>4205</u>	<u>4575</u>
22500	<u>1892</u>	<u>2863</u>	<u>3433</u>	<u>3828</u>	<u>4211</u>	<u>4581</u>
22550	<u>1895</u>	<u>2867</u>	<u>3438</u>	<u>3833</u>	<u>4216</u>	<u>4587</u>
22600	<u>1898</u>	<u>2871</u>	<u>3442</u>	<u>3838</u>	<u>4222</u>	<u>4594</u>
22650	<u>1900</u>	<u>2875</u>	<u>3447</u>	<u>3844</u>	<u>4228</u>	<u>4600</u>
22700	<u>1903</u>	<u>2879</u>	<u>3452</u>	<u>3849</u>	<u>4234</u>	<u>4606</u>
22750	<u>1906</u>	<u>2883</u>	<u>3457</u>	<u>3854</u>	<u>4240</u>	<u>4613</u>
22800	<u>1908</u>	<u>2887</u>	<u>3461</u>	<u>3860</u>	<u>4246</u>	<u>4619</u>
22850	<u>1911</u>	<u>2891</u>	<u>3466</u>	<u>3865</u>	<u>4251</u>	<u>4625</u>

22900	<u>1914</u>	<u>2895</u>	<u>3471</u>	<u>3870</u>	<u>4257</u>	<u>4632</u>
22950	<u>1916</u>	<u>2899</u>	<u>3476</u>	<u>3875</u>	<u>4263</u>	<u>4638</u>
23000	<u>1919</u>	<u>2903</u>	<u>3481</u>	<u>3881</u>	<u>4269</u>	<u>4645</u>
23050	<u>1921</u>	<u>2907</u>	<u>3485</u>	<u>3886</u>	<u>4275</u>	<u>4651</u>
23100	<u>1924</u>	<u>2911</u>	<u>3490</u>	<u>3891</u>	<u>4281</u>	<u>4657</u>
23150	<u>1927</u>	<u>2915</u>	<u>3495</u>	<u>3897</u>	<u>4286</u>	<u>4664</u>
23200	<u>1929</u>	<u>2919</u>	<u>3500</u>	<u>3902</u>	<u>4292</u>	<u>4670</u>
23250	<u>1932</u>	<u>2923</u>	<u>3504</u>	<u>3907</u>	<u>4298</u>	<u>4676</u>
23300	<u>1935</u>	<u>2927</u>	<u>3509</u>	<u>3913</u>	<u>4304</u>	<u>4683</u>
23350	<u>1937</u>	<u>2931</u>	<u>3514</u>	<u>3918</u>	<u>4310</u>	<u>4689</u>
23400	<u>1940</u>	<u>2935</u>	<u>3519</u>	<u>3923</u>	<u>4316</u>	<u>4695</u>
23450	<u>1943</u>	<u>2939</u>	<u>3523</u>	<u>3929</u>	<u>4321</u>	<u>4702</u>
23500	<u>1945</u>	<u>2943</u>	<u>3528</u>	<u>3934</u>	<u>4327</u>	<u>4708</u>
23550	<u>1948</u>	<u>2947</u>	<u>3533</u>	<u>3939</u>	<u>4333</u>	<u>4714</u>
23600	<u>1951</u>	<u>2951</u>	<u>3538</u>	<u>3944</u>	<u>4339</u>	<u>4721</u>
23650	<u>1953</u>	<u>2955</u>	<u>3542</u>	<u>3950</u>	<u>4345</u>	<u>4727</u>
23700	<u>1956</u>	<u>2959</u>	<u>3547</u>	<u>3955</u>	<u>4351</u>	<u>4733</u>
23750	<u>1958</u>	<u>2962</u>	<u>3552</u>	<u>3960</u>	<u>4356</u>	<u>4740</u>
23800	<u>1961</u>	<u>2966</u>	<u>3557</u>	<u>3966</u>	<u>4362</u>	<u>4746</u>
23850	<u>1964</u>	<u>2970</u>	<u>3561</u>	<u>3971</u>	<u>4368</u>	<u>4752</u>
23900	<u>1966</u>	<u>2974</u>	<u>3566</u>	<u>3976</u>	<u>4374</u>	<u>4759</u>
23950	<u>1969</u>	<u>2978</u>	<u>3571</u>	<u>3982</u>	<u>4380</u>	<u>4765</u>
24000	<u>1972</u>	<u>2982</u>	<u>3576</u>	<u>3987</u>	<u>4386</u>	<u>4771</u>
24050	<u>1974</u>	<u>2986</u>	<u>3580</u>	<u>3992</u>	<u>4391</u>	<u>4778</u>
24100	<u>1977</u>	<u>2990</u>	<u>3585</u>	<u>3997</u>	<u>4397</u>	<u>4784</u>
24150	<u>1980</u>	<u>2994</u>	<u>3590</u>	<u>4003</u>	<u>4403</u>	<u>4791</u>
24200	<u>1982</u>	<u>2998</u>	<u>3595</u>	<u>4008</u>	<u>4409</u>	<u>4797</u>
24250	<u>1985</u>	<u>3002</u>	<u>3599</u>	<u>4013</u>	<u>4415</u>	<u>4803</u>
24300	<u>1987</u>	<u>3006</u>	<u>3604</u>	<u>4019</u>	<u>4421</u>	<u>4810</u>
24350	<u>1990</u>	<u>3010</u>	<u>3609</u>	<u>4024</u>	<u>4426</u>	<u>4816</u>
24400	<u>1993</u>	<u>3014</u>	<u>3614</u>	<u>4029</u>	<u>4432</u>	<u>4822</u>
24450	<u>1995</u>	<u>3018</u>	<u>3618</u>	<u>4035</u>	<u>4438</u>	<u>4829</u>
24500	<u>1998</u>	<u>3022</u>	<u>3623</u>	<u>4040</u>	<u>4444</u>	<u>4835</u>

24550	<u>2001</u>	<u>3026</u>	<u>3628</u>	<u>4045</u>	<u>4450</u>	<u>4841</u>
24600	<u>2003</u>	<u>3030</u>	<u>3633</u>	<u>4051</u>	<u>4456</u>	<u>4848</u>
24650	<u>2006</u>	<u>3034</u>	<u>3638</u>	<u>4056</u>	<u>4461</u>	<u>4854</u>
24700	<u>2009</u>	<u>3038</u>	<u>3642</u>	<u>4061</u>	<u>4467</u>	<u>4860</u>
24750	<u>2011</u>	<u>3042</u>	<u>3647</u>	<u>4066</u>	<u>4473</u>	<u>4867</u>
24800	<u>2014</u>	<u>3046</u>	<u>3652</u>	<u>4072</u>	<u>4479</u>	<u>4873</u>
24850	<u>2017</u>	<u>3050</u>	<u>3657</u>	<u>4077</u>	<u>4485</u>	<u>4879</u>
24900	<u>2019</u>	<u>3054</u>	<u>3661</u>	<u>4082</u>	<u>4491</u>	<u>4886</u>
24950	<u>2022</u>	<u>3058</u>	<u>3666</u>	<u>4088</u>	<u>4496</u>	<u>4892</u>
25000	<u>2024</u>	<u>3062</u>	<u>3671</u>	<u>4093</u>	<u>4502</u>	<u>4898</u>
25050	<u>2027</u>	<u>3066</u>	<u>3676</u>	<u>4098</u>	<u>4508</u>	<u>4905</u>
25100	<u>2030</u>	<u>3070</u>	<u>3680</u>	<u>4104</u>	<u>4514</u>	<u>4911</u>
25150	<u>2032</u>	<u>3074</u>	<u>3685</u>	<u>4109</u>	<u>4520</u>	<u>4917</u>
25200	<u>2035</u>	<u>3078</u>	<u>3690</u>	<u>4114</u>	<u>4526</u>	<u>4924</u>
25250	<u>2038</u>	<u>3082</u>	<u>3695</u>	<u>4119</u>	<u>4531</u>	<u>4930</u>
25300	<u>2040</u>	<u>3086</u>	<u>3699</u>	<u>4125</u>	<u>4537</u>	<u>4937</u>
25350	<u>2043</u>	<u>3090</u>	<u>3704</u>	<u>4130</u>	<u>4543</u>	<u>4943</u>
25400	<u>2046</u>	<u>3094</u>	<u>3709</u>	<u>4135</u>	<u>4549</u>	<u>4949</u>
25450	<u>2048</u>	<u>3098</u>	<u>3714</u>	<u>4141</u>	<u>4555</u>	<u>4956</u>
25500	<u>2051</u>	<u>3102</u>	<u>3718</u>	<u>4146</u>	<u>4561</u>	<u>4962</u>
25550	<u>2053</u>	<u>3106</u>	<u>3723</u>	<u>4151</u>	<u>4566</u>	<u>4968</u>
25600	<u>2056</u>	<u>3110</u>	<u>3728</u>	<u>4157</u>	<u>4572</u>	<u>4975</u>
25650	<u>2059</u>	<u>3114</u>	<u>3733</u>	<u>4162</u>	<u>4578</u>	<u>4981</u>
25700	<u>2061</u>	<u>3118</u>	<u>3737</u>	<u>4167</u>	<u>4584</u>	<u>4987</u>
25750	<u>2064</u>	<u>3122</u>	<u>3742</u>	<u>4173</u>	<u>4590</u>	<u>4994</u>
25800	<u>2067</u>	<u>3126</u>	<u>3747</u>	<u>4178</u>	<u>4596</u>	<u>5000</u>
25850	<u>2069</u>	<u>3130</u>	<u>3752</u>	<u>4183</u>	<u>4601</u>	<u>5006</u>
25900	<u>2072</u>	<u>3134</u>	<u>3756</u>	<u>4188</u>	<u>4607</u>	<u>5013</u>
25950	<u>2075</u>	<u>3138</u>	<u>3761</u>	<u>4194</u>	<u>4613</u>	<u>5019</u>
26000	<u>2077</u>	<u>3142</u>	<u>3766</u>	<u>4199</u>	<u>4619</u>	<u>5025</u>
26050	<u>2080</u>	<u>3146</u>	<u>3771</u>	<u>4204</u>	<u>4625</u>	<u>5032</u>
26100	<u>2083</u>	<u>3150</u>	<u>3775</u>	<u>4210</u>	<u>4631</u>	<u>5038</u>
26150	<u>2085</u>	<u>3154</u>	<u>3780</u>	<u>4215</u>	<u>4636</u>	<u>5044</u>

26200	<u>2088</u>	<u>3158</u>	<u>3785</u>	<u>4220</u>	<u>4642</u>	<u>5051</u>
26250	<u>2090</u>	<u>3162</u>	<u>3790</u>	<u>4226</u>	<u>4648</u>	<u>5057</u>
26300	<u>2093</u>	<u>3166</u>	<u>3794</u>	<u>4231</u>	<u>4654</u>	<u>5063</u>
26350	<u>2096</u>	<u>3170</u>	<u>3799</u>	<u>4236</u>	<u>4660</u>	<u>5070</u>
26400	<u>2098</u>	<u>3174</u>	<u>3804</u>	<u>4241</u>	<u>4666</u>	<u>5076</u>
26450	<u>2101</u>	<u>3177</u>	<u>3809</u>	<u>4247</u>	<u>4671</u>	<u>5083</u>
26500	<u>2104</u>	<u>3181</u>	<u>3814</u>	<u>4252</u>	<u>4677</u>	<u>5089</u>
26550	<u>2106</u>	<u>3185</u>	<u>3818</u>	<u>4257</u>	<u>4683</u>	<u>5095</u>
26600	<u>2109</u>	<u>3189</u>	<u>3823</u>	<u>4263</u>	<u>4689</u>	<u>5102</u>
26650	<u>2112</u>	<u>3193</u>	<u>3828</u>	<u>4268</u>	<u>4695</u>	<u>5108</u>
26700	<u>2114</u>	<u>3197</u>	<u>3833</u>	<u>4273</u>	<u>4701</u>	<u>5114</u>
26750	<u>2117</u>	<u>3201</u>	<u>3837</u>	<u>4279</u>	<u>4706</u>	<u>5121</u>
26800	<u>2119</u>	<u>3205</u>	<u>3842</u>	<u>4284</u>	<u>4712</u>	<u>5127</u>
26850	<u>2122</u>	<u>3209</u>	<u>3847</u>	<u>4289</u>	<u>4718</u>	<u>5133</u>
26900	<u>2125</u>	<u>3213</u>	<u>3852</u>	<u>4295</u>	<u>4724</u>	<u>5140</u>
26950	<u>2127</u>	<u>3217</u>	<u>3856</u>	<u>4300</u>	<u>4730</u>	<u>5146</u>
27000	<u>2130</u>	<u>3221</u>	<u>3861</u>	<u>4305</u>	<u>4736</u>	<u>5152</u>
27050	<u>2133</u>	<u>3225</u>	<u>3866</u>	<u>4310</u>	<u>4741</u>	<u>5159</u>
27100	<u>2135</u>	<u>3229</u>	<u>3871</u>	<u>4316</u>	<u>4747</u>	<u>5165</u>
27150	<u>2138</u>	<u>3233</u>	<u>3875</u>	<u>4321</u>	<u>4753</u>	<u>5171</u>
27200	<u>2141</u>	<u>3237</u>	<u>3880</u>	<u>4326</u>	<u>4759</u>	<u>5178</u>
27250	<u>2143</u>	<u>3241</u>	<u>3885</u>	<u>4332</u>	<u>4765</u>	<u>5184</u>
27300	<u>2146</u>	<u>3245</u>	<u>3890</u>	<u>4337</u>	<u>4771</u>	<u>5190</u>
27350	<u>2148</u>	<u>3249</u>	<u>3894</u>	<u>4342</u>	<u>4776</u>	<u>5197</u>
27400	<u>2151</u>	<u>3253</u>	<u>3899</u>	<u>4348</u>	<u>4782</u>	<u>5203</u>
27450	<u>2154</u>	<u>3257</u>	<u>3904</u>	<u>4353</u>	<u>4788</u>	<u>5210</u>
27500	<u>2156</u>	<u>3261</u>	<u>3909</u>	<u>4358</u>	<u>4794</u>	<u>5216</u>
27550	<u>2159</u>	<u>3265</u>	<u>3913</u>	<u>4363</u>	<u>4800</u>	<u>5222</u>
27600	<u>2162</u>	<u>3269</u>	<u>3918</u>	<u>4369</u>	<u>4806</u>	<u>5229</u>
27650	<u>2164</u>	<u>3273</u>	<u>3923</u>	<u>4374</u>	<u>4811</u>	<u>5235</u>
27700	<u>2167</u>	<u>3277</u>	<u>3928</u>	<u>4379</u>	<u>4817</u>	<u>5241</u>
27750	<u>2170</u>	<u>3281</u>	<u>3932</u>	<u>4385</u>	<u>4823</u>	<u>5248</u>
27800	<u>2172</u>	<u>3285</u>	<u>3937</u>	<u>4390</u>	<u>4829</u>	<u>5254</u>

27850	<u>2175</u>	<u>3289</u>	<u>3942</u>	<u>4395</u>	<u>4835</u>	<u>5260</u>
27900	<u>2178</u>	<u>3293</u>	<u>3947</u>	<u>4401</u>	<u>4841</u>	<u>5267</u>
27950	<u>2180</u>	<u>3297</u>	<u>3951</u>	<u>4406</u>	<u>4846</u>	<u>5273</u>
28000	<u>2183</u>	<u>3301</u>	<u>3956</u>	<u>4411</u>	<u>4852</u>	<u>5279</u>
28050	<u>2185</u>	<u>3305</u>	<u>3961</u>	<u>4417</u>	<u>4858</u>	<u>5286</u>
28100	<u>2188</u>	<u>3309</u>	<u>3966</u>	<u>4422</u>	<u>4864</u>	<u>5292</u>
28150	<u>2191</u>	<u>3313</u>	<u>3971</u>	<u>4427</u>	<u>4870</u>	<u>5298</u>
28200	<u>2193</u>	<u>3317</u>	<u>3975</u>	<u>4432</u>	<u>4876</u>	<u>5305</u>
28250	<u>2196</u>	<u>3321</u>	<u>3980</u>	<u>4438</u>	<u>4882</u>	<u>5311</u>
28300	<u>2199</u>	<u>3325</u>	<u>3985</u>	<u>4443</u>	<u>4887</u>	<u>5317</u>
28350	<u>2201</u>	<u>3329</u>	<u>3990</u>	<u>4448</u>	<u>4893</u>	<u>5324</u>
28400	<u>2204</u>	<u>3333</u>	<u>3994</u>	<u>4454</u>	<u>4899</u>	<u>5330</u>
28450	<u>2207</u>	<u>3337</u>	<u>3999</u>	<u>4459</u>	<u>4905</u>	<u>5336</u>
28500	<u>2209</u>	<u>3341</u>	<u>4004</u>	<u>4464</u>	<u>4911</u>	<u>5343</u>
28550	<u>2212</u>	<u>3345</u>	<u>4009</u>	<u>4470</u>	<u>4917</u>	<u>5349</u>
28600	<u>2214</u>	<u>3349</u>	<u>4013</u>	<u>4475</u>	<u>4922</u>	<u>5356</u>
28650	<u>2217</u>	<u>3353</u>	<u>4018</u>	<u>4480</u>	<u>4928</u>	<u>5362</u>
28700	<u>2220</u>	<u>3357</u>	<u>4023</u>	<u>4485</u>	<u>4934</u>	<u>5368</u>
28750	<u>2222</u>	<u>3361</u>	<u>4028</u>	<u>4491</u>	<u>4940</u>	<u>5375</u>
28800	<u>2225</u>	<u>3365</u>	<u>4032</u>	<u>4496</u>	<u>4946</u>	<u>5381</u>
28850	<u>2228</u>	<u>3369</u>	<u>4037</u>	<u>4501</u>	<u>4952</u>	<u>5387</u>
28900	<u>2230</u>	<u>3373</u>	<u>4042</u>	<u>4507</u>	<u>4957</u>	<u>5394</u>
28950	<u>2233</u>	<u>3377</u>	<u>4047</u>	<u>4512</u>	<u>4963</u>	<u>5400</u>
29000	<u>2236</u>	<u>3381</u>	<u>4051</u>	<u>4517</u>	<u>4969</u>	<u>5406</u>
29050	<u>2238</u>	<u>3385</u>	<u>4056</u>	<u>4523</u>	<u>4975</u>	<u>5413</u>
29100	<u>2241</u>	<u>3388</u>	<u>4061</u>	<u>4528</u>	<u>4981</u>	<u>5419</u>
29150	<u>2244</u>	<u>3392</u>	<u>4066</u>	<u>4533</u>	<u>4987</u>	<u>5425</u>
29200	<u>2246</u>	<u>3396</u>	<u>4070</u>	<u>4539</u>	<u>4992</u>	<u>5432</u>
29250	<u>2249</u>	<u>3400</u>	<u>4075</u>	<u>4544</u>	<u>4998</u>	<u>5438</u>
29300	<u>2251</u>	<u>3404</u>	<u>4080</u>	<u>4549</u>	<u>5004</u>	<u>5444</u>
29350	<u>2254</u>	<u>3408</u>	<u>4085</u>	<u>4554</u>	<u>5010</u>	<u>5451</u>
29400	<u>2257</u>	<u>3412</u>	<u>4089</u>	<u>4560</u>	<u>5016</u>	<u>5457</u>
29450	<u>2259</u>	<u>3416</u>	<u>4094</u>	<u>4565</u>	<u>5022</u>	<u>5463</u>

29500	<u>2262</u>	<u>3420</u>	<u>4099</u>	<u>4570</u>	<u>5027</u>	<u>5470</u>
29550	<u>2265</u>	<u>3424</u>	<u>4104</u>	<u>4576</u>	<u>5033</u>	<u>5476</u>
29600	<u>2267</u>	<u>3428</u>	<u>4108</u>	<u>4581</u>	<u>5039</u>	<u>5482</u>
29650	<u>2270</u>	<u>3432</u>	<u>4113</u>	<u>4586</u>	<u>5045</u>	<u>5489</u>
29700	<u>2273</u>	<u>3436</u>	<u>4118</u>	<u>4592</u>	<u>5051</u>	<u>5495</u>
29750	<u>2275</u>	<u>3440</u>	<u>4123</u>	<u>4597</u>	<u>5057</u>	<u>5502</u>
29800	<u>2278</u>	<u>3444</u>	<u>4127</u>	<u>4602</u>	<u>5062</u>	<u>5508</u>
29850	<u>2280</u>	<u>3448</u>	<u>4132</u>	<u>4607</u>	<u>5068</u>	<u>5514</u>
29900	<u>2283</u>	<u>3452</u>	<u>4137</u>	<u>4613</u>	<u>5074</u>	<u>5521</u>
29950	<u>2286</u>	<u>3456</u>	<u>4142</u>	<u>4618</u>	<u>5080</u>	<u>5527</u>
30000	<u>2288</u>	<u>3460</u>	<u>4147</u>	<u>4623</u>	<u>5086</u>	<u>5533</u>
30050	<u>2291</u>	<u>3464</u>	<u>4151</u>	<u>4629</u>	<u>5092</u>	<u>5540</u>
30100	<u>2294</u>	<u>3468</u>	<u>4156</u>	<u>4634</u>	<u>5097</u>	<u>5546</u>
30150	<u>2296</u>	<u>3472</u>	<u>4161</u>	<u>4639</u>	<u>5103</u>	<u>5552</u>
30200	<u>2299</u>	<u>3476</u>	<u>4166</u>	<u>4645</u>	<u>5109</u>	<u>5559</u>
30250	<u>2302</u>	<u>3480</u>	<u>4170</u>	<u>4650</u>	<u>5115</u>	<u>5565</u>
30300	<u>2304</u>	<u>3484</u>	<u>4175</u>	<u>4655</u>	<u>5121</u>	<u>5571</u>
30350	<u>2307</u>	<u>3488</u>	<u>4180</u>	<u>4661</u>	<u>5127</u>	<u>5578</u>
30400	<u>2309</u>	<u>3492</u>	<u>4185</u>	<u>4666</u>	<u>5132</u>	<u>5584</u>
30450	<u>2312</u>	<u>3496</u>	<u>4189</u>	<u>4671</u>	<u>5138</u>	<u>5590</u>
30500	<u>2315</u>	<u>3500</u>	<u>4194</u>	<u>4676</u>	<u>5144</u>	<u>5597</u>
30550	<u>2317</u>	<u>3504</u>	<u>4199</u>	<u>4682</u>	<u>5150</u>	<u>5603</u>
30600	<u>2320</u>	<u>3508</u>	<u>4204</u>	<u>4687</u>	<u>5156</u>	<u>5609</u>
30650	<u>2323</u>	<u>3512</u>	<u>4208</u>	<u>4692</u>	<u>5162</u>	<u>5616</u>
30700	<u>2325</u>	<u>3516</u>	<u>4213</u>	<u>4698</u>	<u>5167</u>	<u>5622</u>
30750	<u>2328</u>	<u>3520</u>	<u>4218</u>	<u>4703</u>	<u>5173</u>	<u>5628</u>
30800	<u>2331</u>	<u>3524</u>	<u>4223</u>	<u>4708</u>	<u>5179</u>	<u>5635</u>
30850	<u>2333</u>	<u>3528</u>	<u>4227</u>	<u>4714</u>	<u>5185</u>	<u>5641</u>
30900	<u>2336</u>	<u>3532</u>	<u>4232</u>	<u>4719</u>	<u>5191</u>	<u>5648</u>
30950	<u>2339</u>	<u>3536</u>	<u>4237</u>	<u>4724</u>	<u>5197</u>	<u>5654</u>
31000	<u>2341</u>	<u>3540</u>	<u>4242</u>	<u>4729</u>	<u>5202</u>	<u>5660</u>
31050	<u>2344</u>	<u>3544</u>	<u>4246</u>	<u>4735</u>	<u>5208</u>	<u>5667</u>
31100	<u>2346</u>	<u>3548</u>	<u>4251</u>	<u>4740</u>	<u>5214</u>	<u>5673</u>

31150	<u>2349</u>	<u>3552</u>	<u>4256</u>	<u>4745</u>	<u>5220</u>	<u>5679</u>
31200	<u>2352</u>	<u>3556</u>	<u>4261</u>	<u>4751</u>	<u>5226</u>	<u>5686</u>
31250	<u>2354</u>	<u>3560</u>	<u>4265</u>	<u>4756</u>	<u>5232</u>	<u>5692</u>
31300	<u>2357</u>	<u>3564</u>	<u>4270</u>	<u>4761</u>	<u>5237</u>	<u>5698</u>
31350	<u>2360</u>	<u>3568</u>	<u>4275</u>	<u>4767</u>	<u>5243</u>	<u>5705</u>
31400	<u>2362</u>	<u>3572</u>	<u>4280</u>	<u>4772</u>	<u>5249</u>	<u>5711</u>
31450	<u>2365</u>	<u>3576</u>	<u>4284</u>	<u>4777</u>	<u>5255</u>	<u>5717</u>
31500	<u>2368</u>	<u>3580</u>	<u>4289</u>	<u>4783</u>	<u>5261</u>	<u>5724</u>
31550	<u>2370</u>	<u>3584</u>	<u>4294</u>	<u>4788</u>	<u>5267</u>	<u>5730</u>
31600	<u>2373</u>	<u>3588</u>	<u>4299</u>	<u>4793</u>	<u>5272</u>	<u>5736</u>
31650	<u>2375</u>	<u>3592</u>	<u>4304</u>	<u>4798</u>	<u>5278</u>	<u>5743</u>
31700	<u>2378</u>	<u>3596</u>	<u>4308</u>	<u>4804</u>	<u>5284</u>	<u>5749</u>
31750	<u>2381</u>	<u>3600</u>	<u>4313</u>	<u>4809</u>	<u>5290</u>	<u>5755</u>
31800	<u>2383</u>	<u>3603</u>	<u>4318</u>	<u>4814</u>	<u>5296</u>	<u>5762</u>
31850	<u>2386</u>	<u>3607</u>	<u>4323</u>	<u>4820</u>	<u>5302</u>	<u>5768</u>
31900	<u>2389</u>	<u>3611</u>	<u>4327</u>	<u>4825</u>	<u>5307</u>	<u>5774</u>
31950	<u>2391</u>	<u>3615</u>	<u>4332</u>	<u>4830</u>	<u>5313</u>	<u>5781</u>
32000	<u>2394</u>	<u>3619</u>	<u>4337</u>	<u>4836</u>	<u>5319</u>	<u>5787</u>
32050	<u>2397</u>	<u>3623</u>	<u>4342</u>	<u>4841</u>	<u>5325</u>	<u>5794</u>
32100	<u>2399</u>	<u>3627</u>	<u>4346</u>	<u>4846</u>	<u>5331</u>	<u>5800</u>
32150	<u>2402</u>	<u>3631</u>	<u>4351</u>	<u>4851</u>	<u>5337</u>	<u>5806</u>
32200	<u>2405</u>	<u>3635</u>	<u>4356</u>	<u>4857</u>	<u>5342</u>	<u>5813</u>
32250	<u>2407</u>	<u>3639</u>	<u>4361</u>	<u>4862</u>	<u>5348</u>	<u>5819</u>
32300	<u>2410</u>	<u>3643</u>	<u>4365</u>	<u>4867</u>	<u>5354</u>	<u>5825</u>
32350	<u>2412</u>	<u>3647</u>	<u>4370</u>	<u>4873</u>	<u>5360</u>	<u>5832</u>
32400	<u>2415</u>	<u>3651</u>	<u>4375</u>	<u>4878</u>	<u>5366</u>	<u>5838</u>
32450	<u>2418</u>	<u>3655</u>	<u>4380</u>	<u>4883</u>	<u>5372</u>	<u>5844</u>
32500	<u>2420</u>	<u>3659</u>	<u>4384</u>	<u>4889</u>	<u>5377</u>	<u>5851</u>
32550	<u>2423</u>	<u>3663</u>	<u>4389</u>	<u>4894</u>	<u>5383</u>	<u>5857</u>
32600	<u>2426</u>	<u>3667</u>	<u>4394</u>	<u>4899</u>	<u>5389</u>	<u>5863</u>
32650	<u>2428</u>	<u>3671</u>	<u>4399</u>	<u>4905</u>	<u>5395</u>	<u>5870</u>
32700	<u>2431</u>	<u>3675</u>	<u>4403</u>	<u>4910</u>	<u>5401</u>	<u>5876</u>
32750	<u>2434</u>	<u>3679</u>	<u>4408</u>	<u>4915</u>	<u>5407</u>	<u>5882</u>

32800	<u>2436</u>	<u>3683</u>	<u>4413</u>	<u>4920</u>	<u>5412</u>	<u>5889</u>
32850	<u>2439</u>	<u>3687</u>	<u>4418</u>	<u>4926</u>	<u>5418</u>	<u>5895</u>
32900	<u>2441</u>	<u>3691</u>	<u>4422</u>	<u>4931</u>	<u>5424</u>	<u>5901</u>
32950	<u>2444</u>	<u>3695</u>	<u>4427</u>	<u>4936</u>	<u>5430</u>	<u>5908</u>
33000	<u>2447</u>	<u>3699</u>	<u>4432</u>	<u>4942</u>	<u>5436</u>	<u>5914</u>
33050	<u>2449</u>	<u>3703</u>	<u>4437</u>	<u>4947</u>	<u>5442</u>	<u>5921</u>
33100	<u>2452</u>	<u>3707</u>	<u>4441</u>	<u>4952</u>	<u>5447</u>	<u>5927</u>
33150	<u>2455</u>	<u>3711</u>	<u>4446</u>	<u>4958</u>	<u>5453</u>	<u>5933</u>
33200	<u>2457</u>	<u>3715</u>	<u>4451</u>	<u>4963</u>	<u>5459</u>	<u>5940</u>
33250	<u>2460</u>	<u>3719</u>	<u>4456</u>	<u>4968</u>	<u>5465</u>	<u>5946</u>
33300	<u>2463</u>	<u>3723</u>	<u>4461</u>	<u>4973</u>	<u>5471</u>	<u>5952</u>
33350	<u>2465</u>	<u>3727</u>	<u>4465</u>	<u>4979</u>	<u>5477</u>	<u>5959</u>
33400	<u>2468</u>	<u>3731</u>	<u>4470</u>	<u>4984</u>	<u>5482</u>	<u>5965</u>
33450	<u>2471</u>	<u>3735</u>	<u>4475</u>	<u>4989</u>	<u>5488</u>	<u>5971</u>
33500	<u>2473</u>	<u>3739</u>	<u>4480</u>	<u>4995</u>	<u>5494</u>	<u>5978</u>
33550	<u>2476</u>	<u>3743</u>	<u>4484</u>	<u>5000</u>	<u>5500</u>	<u>5984</u>
33600	<u>2478</u>	<u>3747</u>	<u>4489</u>	<u>5005</u>	<u>5506</u>	<u>5990</u>
33650	<u>2481</u>	<u>3751</u>	<u>4494</u>	<u>5011</u>	<u>5512</u>	<u>5997</u>
33700	<u>2484</u>	<u>3755</u>	<u>4499</u>	<u>5016</u>	<u>5517</u>	<u>6003</u>
33750	<u>2486</u>	<u>3759</u>	<u>4503</u>	<u>5021</u>	<u>5523</u>	<u>6009</u>
33800	<u>2489</u>	<u>3763</u>	<u>4508</u>	<u>5027</u>	<u>5529</u>	<u>6016</u>
33850	<u>2492</u>	<u>3767</u>	<u>4513</u>	<u>5032</u>	<u>5535</u>	<u>6022</u>
33900	<u>2494</u>	<u>3771</u>	<u>4518</u>	<u>5037</u>	<u>5541</u>	<u>6028</u>
33950	<u>2497</u>	<u>3775</u>	<u>4522</u>	<u>5042</u>	<u>5547</u>	<u>6035</u>
34000	<u>2500</u>	<u>3779</u>	<u>4527</u>	<u>5048</u>	<u>5552</u>	<u>6041</u>
34050	<u>2502</u>	<u>3783</u>	<u>4532</u>	<u>5053</u>	<u>5558</u>	<u>6047</u>
34100	<u>2505</u>	<u>3787</u>	<u>4537</u>	<u>5058</u>	<u>5564</u>	<u>6054</u>
34150	<u>2507</u>	<u>3791</u>	<u>4541</u>	<u>5064</u>	<u>5570</u>	<u>6060</u>
34200	<u>2510</u>	<u>3795</u>	<u>4546</u>	<u>5069</u>	<u>5576</u>	<u>6067</u>
34250	<u>2513</u>	<u>3799</u>	<u>4551</u>	<u>5074</u>	<u>5582</u>	<u>6073</u>
34300	<u>2515</u>	<u>3803</u>	<u>4556</u>	<u>5080</u>	<u>5588</u>	<u>6079</u>
34350	<u>2518</u>	<u>3807</u>	<u>4560</u>	<u>5085</u>	<u>5593</u>	<u>6086</u>
34400	<u>2521</u>	<u>3811</u>	<u>4565</u>	<u>5090</u>	<u>5599</u>	<u>6092</u>

34450	<u>2523</u>	<u>3814</u>	<u>4570</u>	<u>5095</u>	<u>5605</u>	<u>6098</u>
34500	<u>2526</u>	<u>3818</u>	<u>4575</u>	<u>5101</u>	<u>5611</u>	<u>6105</u>
34550	<u>2529</u>	<u>3822</u>	<u>4579</u>	<u>5106</u>	<u>5617</u>	<u>6111</u>
34600	<u>2531</u>	<u>3826</u>	<u>4584</u>	<u>5111</u>	<u>5623</u>	<u>6117</u>
34650	<u>2534</u>	<u>3830</u>	<u>4589</u>	<u>5117</u>	<u>5628</u>	<u>6124</u>
34700	<u>2536</u>	<u>3834</u>	<u>4594</u>	<u>5122</u>	<u>5634</u>	<u>6130</u>
34750	<u>2539</u>	<u>3838</u>	<u>4598</u>	<u>5127</u>	<u>5640</u>	<u>6136</u>
34800	<u>2542</u>	<u>3842</u>	<u>4603</u>	<u>5133</u>	<u>5646</u>	<u>6143</u>
34850	<u>2544</u>	<u>3846</u>	<u>4608</u>	<u>5138</u>	<u>5652</u>	<u>6149</u>
34900	<u>2547</u>	<u>3850</u>	<u>4613</u>	<u>5143</u>	<u>5658</u>	<u>6155</u>
34950	<u>2550</u>	<u>3854</u>	<u>4617</u>	<u>5149</u>	<u>5663</u>	<u>6162</u>
35000	<u>2552</u>	<u>3858</u>	<u>4622</u>	<u>5154</u>	<u>5669</u>	<u>6168</u>
35050	<u>2555</u>	<u>3862</u>	<u>4627</u>	<u>5159</u>	<u>5675</u>	<u>6174</u>
35100	<u>2558</u>	<u>3866</u>	<u>4632</u>	<u>5164</u>	<u>5681</u>	<u>6181</u>
35150	<u>2560</u>	<u>3870</u>	<u>4637</u>	<u>5170</u>	<u>5687</u>	<u>6187</u>
35200	<u>2563</u>	<u>3874</u>	<u>4641</u>	<u>5175</u>	<u>5693</u>	<u>6193</u>
35250	<u>2566</u>	<u>3878</u>	<u>4646</u>	<u>5180</u>	<u>5698</u>	<u>6200</u>
35300	<u>2568</u>	<u>3882</u>	<u>4651</u>	<u>5186</u>	<u>5704</u>	<u>6206</u>
35350	<u>2571</u>	<u>3886</u>	<u>4656</u>	<u>5191</u>	<u>5710</u>	<u>6213</u>
35400	<u>2573</u>	<u>3890</u>	<u>4660</u>	<u>5196</u>	<u>5716</u>	<u>6219</u>
35450	<u>2576</u>	<u>3894</u>	<u>4665</u>	<u>5202</u>	<u>5722</u>	<u>6225</u>
35500	<u>2579</u>	<u>3898</u>	<u>4670</u>	<u>5207</u>	<u>5728</u>	<u>6232</u>
35550	<u>2581</u>	<u>3902</u>	<u>4675</u>	<u>5212</u>	<u>5733</u>	<u>6238</u>
35600	<u>2584</u>	<u>3906</u>	<u>4679</u>	<u>5217</u>	<u>5739</u>	<u>6244</u>
35650	<u>2587</u>	<u>3910</u>	<u>4684</u>	<u>5223</u>	<u>5745</u>	<u>6251</u>
35700	<u>2589</u>	<u>3914</u>	<u>4689</u>	<u>5228</u>	<u>5751</u>	<u>6257</u>
35750	<u>2592</u>	<u>3918</u>	<u>4694</u>	<u>5233</u>	<u>5757</u>	<u>6263</u>
35800	<u>2595</u>	<u>3922</u>	<u>4698</u>	<u>5239</u>	<u>5763</u>	<u>6270</u>
35850	<u>2597</u>	<u>3926</u>	<u>4703</u>	<u>5244</u>	<u>5768</u>	<u>6276</u>
35900	<u>2600</u>	<u>3930</u>	<u>4708</u>	<u>5249</u>	<u>5774</u>	<u>6282</u>
35950	<u>2602</u>	<u>3934</u>	<u>4713</u>	<u>5255</u>	<u>5780</u>	<u>6289</u>
36000	<u>2605</u>	<u>3938</u>	<u>4717</u>	<u>5260</u>	<u>5786</u>	<u>6295</u>
36050	<u>2608</u>	<u>3942</u>	<u>4722</u>	<u>5265</u>	<u>5792</u>	<u>6301</u>

36100	<u>2610</u>	<u>3946</u>	<u>4727</u>	<u>5271</u>	<u>5798</u>	<u>6308</u>
36150	<u>2613</u>	<u>3950</u>	<u>4732</u>	<u>5276</u>	<u>5803</u>	<u>6314</u>
36200	<u>2616</u>	<u>3954</u>	<u>4736</u>	<u>5281</u>	<u>5809</u>	<u>6320</u>
36250	<u>2618</u>	<u>3958</u>	<u>4741</u>	<u>5286</u>	<u>5815</u>	<u>6327</u>
36300	<u>2621</u>	<u>3962</u>	<u>4746</u>	<u>5292</u>	<u>5821</u>	<u>6333</u>
36350	<u>2624</u>	<u>3966</u>	<u>4751</u>	<u>5297</u>	<u>5827</u>	<u>6339</u>
36400	<u>2626</u>	<u>3970</u>	<u>4755</u>	<u>5302</u>	<u>5833</u>	<u>6346</u>
36450	<u>2629</u>	<u>3974</u>	<u>4760</u>	<u>5308</u>	<u>5838</u>	<u>6352</u>
36500	<u>2632</u>	<u>3978</u>	<u>4765</u>	<u>5313</u>	<u>5844</u>	<u>6359</u>
36550	<u>2634</u>	<u>3982</u>	<u>4770</u>	<u>5318</u>	<u>5850</u>	<u>6365</u>
36600	<u>2637</u>	<u>3986</u>	<u>4774</u>	<u>5324</u>	<u>5856</u>	<u>6371</u>
36650	<u>2639</u>	<u>3990</u>	<u>4779</u>	<u>5329</u>	<u>5862</u>	<u>6378</u>
36700	<u>2642</u>	<u>3994</u>	<u>4784</u>	<u>5334</u>	<u>5868</u>	<u>6384</u>
36750	<u>2645</u>	<u>3998</u>	<u>4789</u>	<u>5339</u>	<u>5873</u>	<u>6390</u>
36800	<u>2647</u>	<u>4002</u>	<u>4794</u>	<u>5345</u>	<u>5879</u>	<u>6397</u>
36850	<u>2650</u>	<u>4006</u>	<u>4798</u>	<u>5350</u>	<u>5885</u>	<u>6403</u>
36900	<u>2653</u>	<u>4010</u>	<u>4803</u>	<u>5355</u>	<u>5891</u>	<u>6409</u>
36950	<u>2655</u>	<u>4014</u>	<u>4808</u>	<u>5361</u>	<u>5897</u>	<u>6416</u>
37000	<u>2658</u>	<u>4018</u>	<u>4813</u>	<u>5366</u>	<u>5903</u>	<u>6422</u>
37050	<u>2661</u>	<u>4022</u>	<u>4817</u>	<u>5371</u>	<u>5908</u>	<u>6428</u>
37100	<u>2663</u>	<u>4025</u>	<u>4822</u>	<u>5377</u>	<u>5914</u>	<u>6435</u>
37150	<u>2666</u>	<u>4029</u>	<u>4827</u>	<u>5382</u>	<u>5920</u>	<u>6441</u>
37200	<u>2668</u>	<u>4033</u>	<u>4832</u>	<u>5387</u>	<u>5926</u>	<u>6447</u>
37250	<u>2671</u>	<u>4037</u>	<u>4836</u>	<u>5393</u>	<u>5932</u>	<u>6454</u>
37300	<u>2674</u>	<u>4041</u>	<u>4841</u>	<u>5398</u>	<u>5938</u>	<u>6460</u>
37350	<u>2676</u>	<u>4045</u>	<u>4846</u>	<u>5403</u>	<u>5943</u>	<u>6466</u>
37400	<u>2679</u>	<u>4049</u>	<u>4851</u>	<u>5408</u>	<u>5949</u>	<u>6473</u>
37450	<u>2682</u>	<u>4053</u>	<u>4855</u>	<u>5414</u>	<u>5955</u>	<u>6479</u>
37500	<u>2684</u>	<u>4057</u>	<u>4860</u>	<u>5419</u>	<u>5961</u>	<u>6485</u>
37550	<u>2687</u>	<u>4061</u>	<u>4865</u>	<u>5424</u>	<u>5967</u>	<u>6492</u>
37600	<u>2690</u>	<u>4065</u>	<u>4870</u>	<u>5430</u>	<u>5973</u>	<u>6498</u>
37650	<u>2692</u>	<u>4069</u>	<u>4874</u>	<u>5435</u>	<u>5978</u>	<u>6505</u>
37700	<u>2695</u>	<u>4073</u>	<u>4879</u>	<u>5440</u>	<u>5984</u>	<u>6511</u>

37750	<u>2698</u>	<u>4077</u>	<u>4884</u>	<u>5446</u>	<u>5990</u>	<u>6517</u>
37800	<u>2700</u>	<u>4081</u>	<u>4889</u>	<u>5451</u>	<u>5996</u>	<u>6524</u>
37850	<u>2703</u>	<u>4085</u>	<u>4893</u>	<u>5456</u>	<u>6002</u>	<u>6530</u>
37900	<u>2705</u>	<u>4089</u>	<u>4898</u>	<u>5461</u>	<u>6008</u>	<u>6536</u>
37950	<u>2708</u>	<u>4093</u>	<u>4903</u>	<u>5467</u>	<u>6013</u>	<u>6543</u>
38000	<u>2711</u>	<u>4097</u>	<u>4908</u>	<u>5472</u>	<u>6019</u>	<u>6549</u>
38050	<u>2713</u>	<u>4101</u>	<u>4912</u>	<u>5477</u>	<u>6025</u>	<u>6555</u>
38100	<u>2716</u>	<u>4105</u>	<u>4917</u>	<u>5483</u>	<u>6031</u>	<u>6562</u>
38150	<u>2719</u>	<u>4109</u>	<u>4922</u>	<u>5488</u>	<u>6037</u>	<u>6568</u>
38200	<u>2721</u>	<u>4113</u>	<u>4927</u>	<u>5493</u>	<u>6043</u>	<u>6574</u>
38250	<u>2724</u>	<u>4117</u>	<u>4931</u>	<u>5499</u>	<u>6048</u>	<u>6581</u>
38300	<u>2727</u>	<u>4121</u>	<u>4936</u>	<u>5504</u>	<u>6054</u>	<u>6587</u>
38350	<u>2729</u>	<u>4125</u>	<u>4941</u>	<u>5509</u>	<u>6060</u>	<u>6593</u>
38400	<u>2732</u>	<u>4129</u>	<u>4946</u>	<u>5515</u>	<u>6066</u>	<u>6600</u>
38450	<u>2734</u>	<u>4133</u>	<u>4951</u>	<u>5520</u>	<u>6072</u>	<u>6606</u>
38500	<u>2737</u>	<u>4137</u>	<u>4955</u>	<u>5525</u>	<u>6078</u>	<u>6612</u>
38550	<u>2740</u>	<u>4141</u>	<u>4960</u>	<u>5530</u>	<u>6083</u>	<u>6619</u>
38600	<u>2742</u>	<u>4145</u>	<u>4965</u>	<u>5536</u>	<u>6089</u>	<u>6625</u>
38650	<u>2745</u>	<u>4149</u>	<u>4970</u>	<u>5541</u>	<u>6095</u>	<u>6632</u>
38700	<u>2748</u>	<u>4153</u>	<u>4974</u>	<u>5546</u>	<u>6101</u>	<u>6638</u>
38750	<u>2750</u>	<u>4157</u>	<u>4979</u>	<u>5552</u>	<u>6107</u>	<u>6644</u>
38800	<u>2753</u>	<u>4161</u>	<u>4984</u>	<u>5557</u>	<u>6113</u>	<u>6651</u>
38850	<u>2756</u>	<u>4165</u>	<u>4989</u>	<u>5562</u>	<u>6118</u>	<u>6657</u>
38900	<u>2758</u>	<u>4169</u>	<u>4993</u>	<u>5568</u>	<u>6124</u>	<u>6663</u>
38950	<u>2761</u>	<u>4173</u>	<u>4998</u>	<u>5573</u>	<u>6130</u>	<u>6670</u>
39000	<u>2763</u>	<u>4177</u>	<u>5003</u>	<u>5578</u>	<u>6136</u>	<u>6676</u>
39050	<u>2766</u>	<u>4181</u>	<u>5008</u>	<u>5583</u>	<u>6142</u>	<u>6682</u>
39100	<u>2769</u>	<u>4185</u>	<u>5012</u>	<u>5589</u>	<u>6148</u>	<u>6689</u>
39150	<u>2771</u>	<u>4189</u>	<u>5017</u>	<u>5594</u>	<u>6153</u>	<u>6695</u>
39200	<u>2774</u>	<u>4193</u>	<u>5022</u>	<u>5599</u>	<u>6159</u>	<u>6701</u>
39250	<u>2777</u>	<u>4197</u>	<u>5027</u>	<u>5605</u>	<u>6165</u>	<u>6708</u>
39300	<u>2779</u>	<u>4201</u>	<u>5031</u>	<u>5610</u>	<u>6171</u>	<u>6714</u>
39350	<u>2782</u>	<u>4205</u>	<u>5036</u>	<u>5615</u>	<u>6177</u>	<u>6720</u>

39400	<u>2785</u>	<u>4209</u>	<u>5041</u>	<u>5621</u>	<u>6183</u>	<u>6727</u>
39450	<u>2787</u>	<u>4213</u>	<u>5046</u>	<u>5626</u>	<u>6188</u>	<u>6733</u>
39500	<u>2790</u>	<u>4217</u>	<u>5050</u>	<u>5631</u>	<u>6194</u>	<u>6739</u>
39550	<u>2793</u>	<u>4221</u>	<u>5055</u>	<u>5637</u>	<u>6200</u>	<u>6746</u>
39600	<u>2795</u>	<u>4225</u>	<u>5060</u>	<u>5642</u>	<u>6206</u>	<u>6752</u>
39650	<u>2798</u>	<u>4229</u>	<u>5065</u>	<u>5647</u>	<u>6212</u>	<u>6758</u>
39700	<u>2800</u>	<u>4233</u>	<u>5069</u>	<u>5652</u>	<u>6218</u>	<u>6765</u>
39750	<u>2803</u>	<u>4237</u>	<u>5074</u>	<u>5658</u>	<u>6223</u>	<u>6771</u>
39800	<u>2806</u>	<u>4240</u>	<u>5079</u>	<u>5663</u>	<u>6229</u>	<u>6778</u>
39850	<u>2808</u>	<u>4244</u>	<u>5084</u>	<u>5668</u>	<u>6235</u>	<u>6784</u>
39900	<u>2811</u>	<u>4248</u>	<u>5088</u>	<u>5674</u>	<u>6241</u>	<u>6790</u>
39950	<u>2814</u>	<u>4252</u>	<u>5093</u>	<u>5679</u>	<u>6247</u>	<u>6797</u>
40000	<u>2816</u>	<u>4256</u>	<u>5098</u>	<u>5684</u>	<u>6253</u>	<u>6803</u>

Section 2. This Act shall become effective on January 1, 2021.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 178

HOUSE BILL NO. 246

BY REPRESENTATIVE COUSSAN AND SENATOR CORTEZ AND REPRESENTATIVES ADAMS, AMEDEE, BACALA, BEAULLIEU, ROBBY CARTER, CORMIER, COX, DAVIS, DEVILLIER, DESHOTEL, EDMONDS, EMERSON, FIRMENT, FRIEMAN, GADBERRY, GOUDEAU, HARRIS, HILFERTY, HUGHES, ILLG, IVEY, MIKE JOHNSON, TRAVIS JOHNSON, JONES, JORDAN, MCCORMICK, MCKNIGHT, MCMAHEN, MIGUEZ, CHARLES OWEN, PIERRE, PRESSLY, RISER, ROMERO, SCHAMERHORN, SCHEXNAYDER, SEABAUGH, SELDERS, THOMAS, THOMPSON, AND WHEAT

AN ACT

To enact R.S. 56:641.2, relative to hunting and fishing licenses; to authorize the secretary of the Department of Wildlife and Fisheries to certify certain organizations involved in hunting or fishing activities; to exempt from the hunting and fishing license requirements individuals engaged in hunting or fishing activities sponsored by those organizations; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 56:641.2 is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§641.2. Certification of certain not-for-profit organizations involved in charitable hunting and fishing activities; exemption from license requirements

The secretary of the Department of Wildlife and Fisheries is hereby authorized to certify a not-for-profit organization as an "organization involved in charitable hunting and fishing activities". Individuals engaged in hunting or fishing activities conducted by a not-for-profit organization certified by the secretary as an "organization involved in charitable hunting and fishing activities" shall be exempt from the requirement for a hunting or fishing license while engaged in activities sponsored by that organization.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 179

HOUSE BILL NO. 247

BY REPRESENTATIVE GREEN
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 22:651(A), (B), (C)(introductory paragraph), (E)(introductory paragraph) and (1), and (F) through (K) and to enact R.S. 22:651(L), relative to reinsurance credits; to provide for additional requirements for foreign and alien insurers; to provide for recognition of reciprocal jurisdictions; to provide relative to the duties and obligations of assuming insurers; to provide for applicability; to provide for definitions and criteria; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 22:651(A), (B), (C)(introductory paragraph), (E)(introductory paragraph) and (1), and (F) through (K) is hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 22:651(L) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§651. Reinsurance credits

A. The commissioner shall allow credit for reinsurance to a domestic ceding insurer as either an asset or deduction from liability when the assuming insurer satisfies the requirements of Subsection B, C, D, E, ~~or F~~, or G of this Section. Additionally, the commissioner may adopt by regulation pursuant to R.S. 22:661(B) specific additional requirements relating to or setting forth the valuation of assets or reserve credits, the amount and forms of security supporting reinsurance arrangements described in R.S. 22:661(B), or the circumstances pursuant to which credit will be reduced or eliminated. The commissioner shall allow credit under Subsection B or C of this Section pertaining only to cessions of those kinds or classes of business that the assuming insurer is licensed or otherwise permitted to write or assume in its state of domicile or, in the case of a United States branch of an alien assuming insurer, in the state through which it is entered and licensed to transact insurance or reinsurance. The commissioner shall allow the credit for reinsurance pursuant to Subsection D of this Section only if the assuming insurer satisfies the requirements of Subsection ~~G~~ H of this Section.

B. The commissioner shall allow credit for reinsurance when the assuming insurer ~~is authorized in this state. An authorized insurer is one that holds a certificate of authority to transact insurance or reinsurance in this state.~~

C. The commissioner shall allow credit for reinsurance when the assuming insurer is an accredited ~~by the commissioner~~ as a reinsurer in this state. To be eligible for accreditation and to receive the commissioner's approval of its application for accreditation, a reinsurer shall complete each of the following:

* * *

E.(1) The commissioner shall allow credit for reinsurance when the assuming insurer is a certified ~~by the commissioner~~ as a reinsurer in this state and secures its obligations in accordance with the requirements of this Subsection.

(4) To be eligible for certification, the assuming insurer shall meet the following requirements:

(a) The assuming insurer shall be domiciled and licensed to transact insurance or reinsurance in a qualified jurisdiction, as determined by the commissioner pursuant to Paragraph (3) of this Subsection.

(b) The assuming insurer shall maintain minimum capital and surplus or its equivalent, in an amount ~~to be~~ determined by the commissioner, pursuant to regulation.

(c) The assuming insurer shall maintain financial strength ratings from two or more rating agencies deemed acceptable by the commissioner pursuant to regulation.

(d) The assuming insurer shall agree to submit to the jurisdiction of this state, appoint the commissioner as its agent for service of process in this state, and agree to provide security for one hundred percent of the assuming insurer's liabilities attributable to reinsurance ceded by United States ceding insurers if it resists enforcement of a final United States judgment.

(e) The assuming insurer shall agree to meet applicable information filing requirements as determined by the commissioner for its initial application for certification and for its continual maintenance of certification as a reinsurer.

(f) The assuming insurer shall satisfy any other requirements for certification deemed relevant by the commissioner.

* * *

F.(1) The commissioner shall allow credit for reinsurance when the reinsurance is ceded to an assuming insurer meeting each of the following conditions:

(a)(i) The assuming insurer has its head office or is domiciled in, as applicable, and is licensed in a reciprocal jurisdiction.

(ii) As used in this Subsection, a "reciprocal jurisdiction" is a jurisdiction that meets one of the following criteria:

(aa) A non-United States jurisdiction that is subject to an in-force covered agreement with the United States, each within its legal authority or, in the case of a covered agreement between the United States and the European Union, is a member state of the European Union. For purposes of this Subsection, a "covered agreement" is an agreement entered into pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, 31 U.S.C. 313 and 314, which is currently in effect or in a period of provisional application and addresses the elimination, under specified conditions, of collateral requirements as a condition for entering into any reinsurance agreement with a ceding insurer domiciled in this state or for allowing the ceding insurer to recognize credit for reinsurance.

(bb) A United States jurisdiction that meets the requirements for accreditation under the NAIC financial standards and accreditation program.

(cc) A qualified jurisdiction, as determined by the commissioner pursuant to Paragraph (E)(3) of this Section, which is not otherwise described in Subitem

(aa) or (bb) of this Item and which meets certain additional requirements, consistent with the terms and conditions of in-force covered agreements, as specified by the commissioner pursuant to regulation.

(b) The assuming insurer has and maintains, on an ongoing basis, minimum capital and surplus, or its equivalent, calculated according to the methodology of its domiciliary jurisdiction, in an amount to be set forth in regulation. If the assuming insurer is an association, including incorporated and individual unincorporated underwriters, it shall have and maintain, on an ongoing basis, minimum capital and surplus equivalents, net of liabilities, calculated according to the methodology applicable in its domiciliary jurisdiction, and a central fund containing a balance in amounts to be set forth in regulation.

(c) The assuming insurer has and maintains, on an ongoing basis, a minimum solvency or capital ratio, as applicable, which will be set forth in regulation. If the assuming insurer is an association, including incorporated and individual unincorporated underwriters, it shall have and maintain, on an ongoing basis, a minimum solvency or capital ratio in the reciprocal jurisdiction where the assuming insurer has its head office or is domiciled, as applicable, and is also licensed.

(d) The assuming insurer agrees and provides adequate assurance to the commissioner, in a form specified by the commissioner pursuant to regulation, that it will comply with all of the following:

(i) The assuming insurer shall provide prompt written notice and explanation to the commissioner if it falls below the minimum requirements set forth in Subparagraph (b) or (c) of this Paragraph or if any regulatory action is taken against it for serious noncompliance with applicable law.

(ii) The assuming insurer shall consent in writing to the jurisdiction of the courts of this state and to the appointment of the commissioner as agent for service of process. The commissioner may require that consent for service of process be provided to the commissioner and included in each reinsurance agreement. Nothing in this Section limits, or in any way alters, the capacity of parties to a reinsurance agreement to agree to alternative dispute resolution mechanisms, except to the extent such agreements are unenforceable under applicable insolvency or delinquency laws.

(iii) The assuming insurer shall consent in writing to pay any final judgment that has been declared enforceable in a jurisdiction where the judgment was obtained, wherever enforcement is sought by a ceding insurer or its legal successor.

(iv) Each reinsurance agreement shall include a provision requiring the assuming insurer to provide security in an amount equal to one hundred percent of the assuming insurer's liabilities attributable to reinsurance ceded pursuant to that agreement if the assuming insurer resists enforcement of a final judgment that is enforceable under the law of the jurisdiction in which it was obtained or a properly enforceable arbitration award, whether obtained by the ceding insurer or by its legal successor on behalf of its resolution estate.

(v) The assuming insurer shall confirm that it is not presently participating in any solvent scheme of arrangement which involves this state's ceding insurers and agree to notify the ceding insurer and the commissioner and to provide security in an amount equal to one hundred percent of the assuming insurer's liabilities to the ceding insurer, should the assuming insurer enter into such a solvent scheme of arrangement. Such security shall be in a form consistent with Subsection E of this Section, R.S. 22:652, and as specified by the commissioner pursuant to regulations.

(e) The assuming insurer or its legal successor provides, if requested by the commissioner, on behalf of itself and any legal predecessors, certain documentation to the commissioner, as specified by the commissioner pursuant to regulations.

(f) The assuming insurer maintains a practice of prompt payment of claims under reinsurance agreements, pursuant to criteria set forth in regulation.

(g) The assuming insurer's supervisory authority confirms to the commissioner on an annual basis, as of the preceding December thirty-first or at the annual date otherwise statutorily reported to the reciprocal jurisdiction, that the assuming insurer complies with the requirements set forth in Subparagraphs (b) and (c) of this Paragraph.

(2) Nothing in this Subsection precludes an assuming insurer from providing the commissioner with information on a voluntary basis.

(3) The commissioner shall timely create and publish a list of reciprocal jurisdictions, subject to the following:

(a) A list of reciprocal jurisdictions is published through the NAIC Committee Process. The commissioner's list shall include any reciprocal jurisdiction as defined pursuant to Subitems (1)(a)(ii)(aa) and (bb) of this Subsection, and shall consider any other reciprocal jurisdiction included on the NAIC list. The commissioner may approve a jurisdiction that does not appear on the NAIC list of reciprocal jurisdictions in accordance with criteria developed pursuant to regulations.

(b) The commissioner may remove a jurisdiction from the list of reciprocal jurisdictions upon a determination that the jurisdiction no longer meets the requirements of a reciprocal jurisdiction, in accordance with a process set forth in regulations, except that the commissioner shall not remove from the list a reciprocal jurisdiction as defined pursuant to Subitems (1)(a)(ii)(aa) and (bb) of this Subsection. Upon removal of a reciprocal jurisdiction from this list, credit for reinsurance ceded to an assuming insurer which has its home office or is domiciled in that jurisdiction shall be allowed, if otherwise allowed pursuant to this Section.

(4) The commissioner shall timely create and publish a list of assuming insurers that have satisfied the conditions set forth in this Subsection and to

which cessions shall be granted credit in accordance with this Subsection. The commissioner may add an assuming insurer to the list if an NAIC-accredited jurisdiction has added the assuming insurer to a list of the assuming insurers or if, upon initial eligibility, the assuming insurer submits the information to the commissioner as required pursuant to Subparagraph (1)(d) of this Subsection and complies with any additional requirements that the commissioner may impose by regulation, except to the extent that those requirements conflict with an applicable covered agreement.

(5) If the commissioner determines that an assuming insurer no longer meets one or more of the requirements of this Subsection, the commissioner may revoke or suspend the eligibility of the assuming insurer for recognition under this Subsection in accordance with procedures set forth in regulations.

(a) While an assuming insurer's eligibility is suspended, no reinsurance agreement issued, amended, or renewed after the effective date of the suspension qualifies for credit except to the extent that the assuming insurer's obligations under the contract are secured in accordance with R.S. 22:652.

(b) If an assuming insurer's eligibility is revoked, no credit for reinsurance may be granted after the effective date of the revocation with respect to any reinsurance agreements entered into by the assuming insurer, including reinsurance agreements entered into prior to the date of revocation, except to the extent that the assuming insurer's obligations under the contract are secured in a form acceptable to the commissioner and consistent with the provisions of R.S. 22:652.

(6) If subject to a legal process of rehabilitation, liquidation, or conservation, as applicable, the ceding insurer, or its representative, may seek and, if determined appropriate by the court in which the proceedings are pending, may obtain an order requiring that the assuming insurer post security for all outstanding ceded liabilities.

(7) Nothing in this Subsection shall limit or, in any way, alter the capacity of parties to a reinsurance agreement to agree on requirements for security or other terms in that reinsurance agreement, except as expressly prohibited by this Subpart or other applicable law or regulation.

(8)(a) Credit may be taken pursuant to this Subsection only for reinsurance agreements entered into, amended, or renewed on or after the effective date of this Subsection and only with respect to losses incurred and reserves reported on or after the date on which the assuming insurer has met all eligibility requirements pursuant to Paragraph (1) of this Subsection or the effective date of the new reinsurance agreement, amendment, or renewal, whichever is later.

(b) This Paragraph does not alter or impair a ceding insurer's right to take credit for reinsurance, to the extent that credit is not available pursuant to this Subsection, as long as the reinsurance qualifies for credit pursuant to any other applicable provision of this Subpart.

(9) Nothing in this Subsection authorizes an assuming insurer to withdraw or reduce the security provided under any reinsurance agreement except as permitted by the terms of the agreement.

(10) Nothing in this Subsection limits, or in any way alters the capacity of parties to any reinsurance agreement to renegotiate the agreement.

F. G. Any credit for reinsurance shall also be allowed when the reinsurance is ceded to an assuming insurer not meeting the requirements of Subsection B, C, D, ~~or~~ E, or F of this Section, but only as to the insurance of risks located in jurisdictions where the reinsurance is required by applicable law of that jurisdiction.

G. H. If the assuming insurer is not ~~authorized~~, accredited, or certified or does not hold a certificate of authority to transact insurance or reinsurance in this state, the commissioner shall not allow the credit permitted by Subsection D of this Section unless each of the following criteria ~~are~~ is met:

(1)(a) The assuming insurer provides the following in all reinsurance agreements:

(i) That in the event of the failure of the assuming insurer to perform its obligations under the terms of the reinsurance agreement, the assuming insurer, at the request of the ceding insurer, shall submit to the jurisdiction of any court of competent jurisdiction in any state of the United States, comply with all requirements necessary to give such court jurisdiction, and abide by the final decision of the district court or appellate court.

(ii) To designate the commissioner as its true and lawful attorney, who may be served any lawful service of process in any action, suit, or proceeding instituted by or on behalf of the ceding insurer.

(b) The provisions of Items (a)(i) and (ii) of this Paragraph shall not be construed to conflict with or override the obligation of the parties to a reinsurance agreement to arbitrate their disputes, if such an obligation is created in the reinsurance agreement.

(2) The assuming insurer files with the commissioner a list identifying its officers and directors, or similar principals, along with biographical information for each and provides an annual update of this information.

(3) The assuming insurer agrees to allow the commissioner to examine its books and records and to waive any protection it has under any secrecy laws of its domiciliary jurisdiction of the reinsurer, except that any examination shall take place only upon showing of good cause by the commissioner for concern about the financial soundness or solvency of the subject entity.

H. I. The ceding insurer may take credit for the reserves on such ceded risks to the extent reinsured, except that:

(1) The ceding insurer shall not take credit for such reserves unless the insurer accepting the reinsurance meets the requirements set forth in this Section as valid assuming insurers.

(2) The commissioner shall not allow credit to any ceding insurer for

reinsurance, as an admitted asset or as a deduction from liability, unless the reinsurance shall be payable, in the event of insolvency of the ceding insurer, to its liquidator or receiver on the basis of the claim or claims allowed against the insolvent ceding insurer by any court of competent jurisdiction or any justice or judge thereof, or by any receiver or liquidator having authority to determine and allow such claims, except either where the reinsurance contract with the consent of the direct insured or insureds specifically provides another payee of such reinsurance in the event of the insolvency of the ceding insurer, or when the assuming insurer with the consent of the direct insured or insureds has assumed such policy obligations of the ceding insurer as direct obligations of the assuming insurer to the payees under such policies and in substitution for the obligations of the ceding insurer to such payees.

(3) The commissioner shall not permit credit for reinsurance unless the assuming insurer has been doing business in its country of domicile for at least three years, or is an affiliate of an insurer or reinsurer that has been doing business in its country of domicile for at least three years, unless the commissioner, for good cause shown, waives this three-year operating requirement by rule or regulation.

F. J. If the assuming insurer does not meet the requirements of Subsection B, ~~or~~ C, or E of this Section, the credit permitted by Subsection D or E of this Section shall not be allowed unless the assuming insurer agrees in the trust agreements to each of the following conditions:

(1) Notwithstanding any other provisions in the trust instrument, if the trust fund is inadequate because it contains an amount less than the amount required by Paragraph (D)(3) of this Section, or if the grantor of the trust has been declared insolvent or placed into receivership, rehabilitation, liquidation, or similar proceedings under the laws of its state or country of domicile, the trustee shall comply with an order of the commissioner with regulatory oversight over the trust or with an order of a court of competent jurisdiction directing the trustee to transfer to the commissioner with regulatory oversight all of the assets of the trust fund.

(2) The commissioner with regulatory oversight, according to the laws relative to the liquidation of domestic insurance companies of the state in which the trust is domiciled, shall distribute the assets and shall value claims. Claims shall also be directed to the commissioner with the regulatory oversight as provided in this Paragraph.

(3) If the commissioner with regulatory oversight determines that the assets of the trust fund or any part thereof are not necessary to satisfy the claims of the United States ceding insurers of the grantor of the trust, the assets or part thereof shall be returned by the commissioner with regulatory oversight to the trustee for distribution in accordance with the trust agreement.

(4) The grantor shall waive any right otherwise available to it under United States law that is inconsistent with this provision.

F. K. If an accredited or certified reinsurer ceases to meet the requirements for accreditation or certification, the commissioner may suspend or revoke the reinsurer's accreditation or certification.

(1) The commissioner shall give the reinsurer notice and opportunity for a hearing. The suspension or revocation may not take effect until after the commissioner's order upon a hearing unless one of the following circumstances are present:

(a) The reinsurer waives its right to a hearing.

(b) The commissioner's order is based upon regulatory action by the reinsurer's domiciliary jurisdiction or upon the voluntary surrender or termination of the reinsurer's eligibility to transact insurance or reinsurance business in its domiciliary jurisdiction or in the primary certifying state of the reinsurer under Paragraph (E)(6) of this Section.

(c) The commissioner finds that an emergency requires immediate action and a court of competent jurisdiction has not stayed the commissioner's action.

(2) While a reinsurer's accreditation or certification is suspended, no reinsurance contract issued or renewed after the effective date of the suspension qualifies for credit except to the extent that the reinsurer's obligations under the contract are secured in accordance with R.S. 22:652. If a reinsurer's accreditation or certification is revoked, no credit for reinsurance may be granted after the effective date of the revocation, except to the extent that the reinsurer's obligations under the contract are secured in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph (E)(5) of this Section or in accordance with R.S. 22:652.

K. L.(1) A ceding insurer shall take steps to manage its reinsurance recoverables proportionate to its own book of business. A domestic ceding insurer shall notify the commissioner within thirty days after reinsurance recoverables from any single assuming insurer, or group of affiliated insurers, exceeds fifty percent of the domestic ceding insurer's last reported surplus to policyholders, or after it is determined that reinsurance recoverables from any single assuming insurer, or group of affiliated assuming insurers, is likely to exceed this limit. The notification shall demonstrate that the exposure is safely managed by the domestic ceding insurer.

(2) A ceding insurer shall take steps to diversify its reinsurance program. A domestic ceding insurer shall notify the commissioner within thirty days after ceding to any single assuming insurer, or group of affiliated assuming insurers, more than twenty percent of the ceding insurer's gross written premium in the prior calendar year, or after it has determined that the reinsurance ceded to any single assuming insurer, or group of affiliated assuming insurers, is likely to exceed this limit. The notification shall demonstrate that the exposure is safely managed by the domestic ceding insurer.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 180

HOUSE BILL NO. 251

BY REPRESENTATIVES HILFERTY AND EDMONDS AND SENATOR MIZELL AND REPRESENTATIVES ADAMS, BACALA, BAGLEY, BRASS, BROWN, BRYANT, BUTLER, GARY CARTER, WILFORD CARTER, CORMIER, COX, CREWS, DAVIS, DESHOTEL, DUPLESSIS, FARNUM, FREEMAN, FREIBERG, GAINES, GAROFALO, GREEN, HORTON, HUGHES, ILLG, MIKE JOHNSON, TRAVIS JOHNSON, JONES, JORDAN, KERNER, LACOMBE, LANDRY, LARVADAIN, LYONS, MACK, MARCELLE, MARINO, MCKNIGHT, MCMAHEN, MOORE, NEWELL, CHARLES OWEN, PIERRE, PRESSLY, SCHEXNAYDER, SELDERS, ST. BLANC, STAGNI, THOMAS, WHITE, WILLARD, AND WRIGHT

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 17:407.51(H)(2), to enact R.S. 17:407.23(D)(3), Part X-F of Chapter 1 of Title 17 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, to be comprised of R.S. 17:407.101, and R.S. 36:651(G)(8), and to repeal R.S. 17:407.23(D)(3), Part X-F of Chapter 1 of Title 17 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, comprised of R.S. 17:407.101, and R.S. 36:651(G)(8), relative to the development of early childhood care and education; to establish the Early Childhood Care and Education Commission; to provide relative to the purpose, membership, and meetings of the commission; to require the commission to study and make recommendations relative to specific matters; to require the commission to report to the legislature; to provide for termination of the commission; to provide for the authority and responsibilities of the State Board of Elementary and Secondary Education; to provide for the powers and duties of the Advisory Council on Early Childhood Care and Education; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 17:407.51(H)(2) is hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 17:407.23(D)(3) and Part X-F of Chapter 1 of Title 17 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, comprised of R.S. 17:407.101, are hereby enacted to read as follows:§407.23. Early Childhood Care and Education Network; creation; components; duties and responsibilities; pilot programs

* * *

D.

* * *

(3) The state Department of Education shall provide updates on the pilot programs to the Early Childhood Care and Education Commission.

* * *

§407.51. Advisory Council

* * *

H.

* * *

(2) Beginning ~~April 1, 2020~~, July 2, 2022, the council shall regularly evaluate the implementation of the plan for early childhood care and education established by the Early Childhood Care and Education Commission and provide recommendations to support its implementation.

* * *

PART X-F. EARLY CHILDHOOD CARE AND EDUCATION COMMISSION

§407.101. Early Childhood Care and Education Commission

A. The legislature finds that the early childhood care and education network established by Act No. 3 of the 2012 Regular Session of the Legislature and community networks created by the State Board of Elementary and Secondary Education have been instrumental in improving kindergarten readiness. Community networks, especially those with the highest performance, are able to demonstrate that affordable access can be achieved when provided with adequate resources. Providing early childhood programming of high quality, rather than affordable access alone, must remain a state priority. While quality can be measured on a statewide basis, it is best assured through community-based plans and local early childhood program collaboration.

B. The Early Childhood Care and Education Commission is hereby established for the purpose of building on the foundation established by Act No. 3 of the 2012 Regular Session of the Legislature to create a vision for the future of early childhood care and education in Louisiana.

C.(1) The commission is composed of forty-one members as follows:

(a) One representative of a municipality that receives Head Start funding, appointed by the governor.

(b) One representative of a Head Start program, appointed by the governor.

(c) One representative of a child advocacy or community organization, appointed by the governor.

(d) One representative of a special-needs advocacy organization, appointed by the governor.

(e) One representative of the governor's office, appointed by the governor.

(f) One business representative, appointed by the speaker of the House of Representatives.

(g) One local school superintendent, appointed by the speaker of the House of Representatives.

(h) One representative of Type III early learning centers, appointed by the

speaker of the House of Representatives.

(i) One representative of a child advocacy or community organization, appointed by the speaker of the House of Representatives.

(j) One parent of a child in a publicly funded child daycare center, Early Head Start Center, Head Start Center, or stand-alone prekindergarten program, appointed by the speaker of the House of Representatives.

(k) Two members of the House of Representatives, appointed by the speaker of the House of Representatives.

(l) One business representative, appointed by the president of the Senate.

(m) One local school superintendent, appointed by the president of the Senate.

(n) One representative of Type III early learning centers, appointed by the president of the Senate.

(o) One representative of a child advocacy or community organization, appointed by the president of the Senate.

(p) One parent of a child in a publicly funded child daycare center, Early Head Start Center, Head Start Center, or stand-alone prekindergarten program, appointed by the president of the Senate.

(q) Two members of the Senate, appointed by the president of the Senate.

(r) Two representatives of high-performing community early childhood care and education networks, appointed by the State Board of Elementary and Secondary Education upon recommendation of the state superintendent of education.

(s) One representative of a nonpublic school participating in a publicly funded early childhood care and education program, appointed by the State Board of Elementary and Secondary Education.

(t) A member appointed by the American Academy of Pediatrics, Louisiana Chapter.

(u) One person with professional expertise in the operations of a family care center, appointed by the governor.

(v) One early care and education researcher from a public postsecondary education institution, appointed by the speaker of the House of Representatives.

(w) One representative from either a Type I or Type II early learning center, appointed by the president of the Senate.

(x) One representative of maternal, infant, and early childhood home visitation programs within the Bureau of Family Health, appointed by the secretary of the Louisiana Department of Health.

(y) One representative of the Early Steps program within the Bureau of Family Health, appointed by the secretary of the Louisiana Department of Health.

(z) One representative of early childhood programs within the state Department of Education, appointed by the state superintendent of education.

(aa) One representative of the Louisiana Head Start Collaboration Office, appointed by the state superintendent of education.

(bb) One representative of the special education programs within the Department of Education, appointed by the state superintendent of education.

(cc) A staff member of the Board of Regents, appointed by the Board of Regents.

(dd) The secretary of the Louisiana Workforce Commission, or his designee.

(ee) The secretary of the Department of Economic Development, or his designee.

(ff) The secretary of the Department of Children and Family Services, or his designee.

(gg) One professional with expertise in the socioemotional development and well-being of children from birth through age four, appointed by the governor.

(hh) One early intervention researcher from a Louisiana public postsecondary education institution, appointed by the Board of Regents.

(ii) One early childhood education researcher from a Louisiana public postsecondary education institution, appointed by the Board of Regents.

(jj) One member of the State Board of Elementary and Secondary Education, appointed by the president of the board.

(kk) One early childhood development and education specialist, appointed by the president of the Center for Development and Learning.

(ll) One member of the Louisiana Educational Television Authority, appointed by the chairman of the authority.

(2) A vacancy in the membership of the commission shall be filled in the same manner as the original appointment.

(3) The chairman of the House Committee on Education and chairman of the Senate Committee on Education, acting jointly, shall select two members to serve as co-chairmen of the commission.

(4) The members of the commission shall serve without compensation.

D. The state Department of Education shall provide staff support for the commission.

E. The commission shall study and make recommendations relative to establishing a vision for the future of early childhood care and education in Louisiana. When conducting analysis and making recommendations relative to a vision and framework, the commission shall do all of the following:

(1) Gather and analyze data relative to the current availability, quality, and cost of early childhood care and education throughout the state for children from birth through age four, determine needs and priorities, and develop a plan focused on family access, affordability, and quality.

(2) Consider research, local coordination currently established in Louisiana including current high-performing community networks, and related work done in other states to determine best practices for the purpose of informing

and fostering the continued development of local governing entities that coordinate across programs and providers in order to meet family needs, drive quality improvement, maximize financial resources, and support children from birth through age four and their families.

(3) Determine a sustainable infrastructure to ensure quality programs across providers. Such infrastructure shall include workforce and professional development, monitoring and assessment, coordinated enrollment, and data-informed decisionmaking.

(4) Identify opportunities for collaboration and coordination among programs and agencies responsible for development of children from birth through age four.

(5) Define a timeframe for achieving the vision and determine benchmarks for the intervening years.

(6) Determine the amount of funding needed to achieve affordable access to quality care and education for all children from birth through age four and recommend policies that prioritize the allocation of future funding.

(7) Gather and analyze data, laws, and policy in Louisiana and other states where children are in the care of family child care providers and consider and make recommendations relative to the incorporation of such providers into the early childhood care and education network.

(8) Establish and appoint members to a task force to identify and recommend alternative state and local funding strategies for quality early childhood care and education. The commission shall incorporate the task force's findings and recommendations into the report that the commission produces pursuant to Subsection F of this Section.

(a) The state Department of Education shall provide staff support for the task force.

(b) The task force shall have the following nine members:

(i) The two co-chairs of the commission, each of whom may designate someone to serve in his place.

(ii) One representative of the business community.

(iii) One person with significant experience in the generation and administration of local government revenue.

(iv) One representative of a statewide public policy organization involved in early childhood issues.

(v) One representative of a statewide foundation or nonprofit organization involved in early childhood issues.

(vi) One representative of a child advocacy or community organization.

(vii) One representative of a public postsecondary education institution in Louisiana representing the discipline of economics with experience in the study of local, state, and regional fiscal policy.

(viii) One parent of a child in a publicly funded childcare center, Early Head Start Center, Head Start Center, or stand-alone prekindergarten program.

F. Not later than fourteen days prior to the beginning of the 2021 Regular Session of the Legislature, the commission shall produce a report of its findings and recommendations. Not later than fourteen days prior to the beginning of the 2022 Regular Session of the Legislature, the commission shall produce a report on the status of the implementation of its recommendations. The reports shall be provided to the governor, members of the legislature, the state superintendent of education, and the State Board of Elementary and Secondary Education no less than fourteen days prior to the first day of the regular session.

G. The commission shall meet at least twice between the 2020 and 2021 Regular Sessions of the Legislature and shall meet at least twice between the 2021 and 2022 Regular Sessions of the Legislature during which meetings the state Department of Education shall provide updates on how the commission's recommendations are being implemented. The commission shall make any further recommendations it deems necessary to advance the vision and goals established.

H. A majority of the members of the commission shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. The commission shall be domiciled in Baton Rouge but may hold public hearings elsewhere in the state.

Section 2. R.S. 36:651(G)(8) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§651. Transfer of boards, commissions, departments, and agencies to Department of Education; boards, commissions, and agencies within Department of Education

* * *

G. The following agencies, as defined by R.S. 36:3, are transferred to and hereafter shall be within the Department of Education as provided in Part III of Chapter 22 of this Title:

* * *

(8) The Early Childhood Care and Education Commission (R.S. 17:407.101).

* * *

Section 3. R.S. 17:407.23(D)(3), Part X-F of Chapter 1 of Title 17 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, comprised of R.S. 17:407.101, and R.S. 36:651(G)(8) are hereby repealed in their entirety.

Section 4.(A) Sections 1 and 2 and this Section of this Act shall become effective upon signature of this Act by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If this Act is vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, Sections 1 and 2 and this Section of this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

(B) Section 3 of this Act shall become effective on July 1, 2022.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 181

HOUSE BILL NO. 263
BY REPRESENTATIVE HUVAL
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 22:1053, relative to coverage of step therapy or fail first protocols; to provide for clinical review criteria and use of clinical practice guidelines to be used as minimum standards in developing a step therapy or fail first protocol; to provide for clarification on providers lawfully allowed to prescribe; to provide for an override request process for restricted prescription drugs; to provide for override clinical evidence; to provide for decision-making timelines; to provide for appeal rights; to provide for definitions; to provide for application; to provide for effectiveness; to provide for technical changes; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 22:1053 is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows: §1053. Requirement for coverage of step therapy or fail first protocols

A.(1) Any health coverage plan specified in Subsection H L of this Section which includes prescription benefits as part of its policy or contract, which utilizes step therapy or fail first protocols, and which is issued for delivery, delivered, renewed, or otherwise contracted for in this state ~~on or after January 1, 2011,~~ shall comply with the provisions of this Section.

(2) The provisions of this Section shall not be construed to prohibit the substitution of an AB-rated generic equivalent or interchangeable biological product as designated by the federal Food and Drug Administration.

B.(1) Any step therapy or fail first protocol established by a health coverage plan shall consider clinical review criteria and clinical practice guidelines that are developed and endorsed by a multidisciplinary panel of experts who manage conflicts of interest among the members of writing and review groups by doing all of the following:

(a) Requiring members to disclose any potential conflicts of interest with health coverage plans or pharmaceutical manufacturers and to recuse themselves from voting if they have a conflict of interest.

(b) Using a methodologist to work with writing groups to provide objectivity in data analysis and ranking of evidence through the preparation of evidence tables and facilitating consensus.

(c) Offering opportunities for public review and comments.

(d) Creating an explicit and transparent decisionmaking process.

(e) Basing decisions on high quality studies, research, peer-reviewed publications, and medical practice.

(f) Minimizing biases and conflicts of interest.

(g) Explaining the relationship between treatment options and outcomes.

(h) Rating the quality of the evidence supporting recommendations.

(i) Considering relevant patient subgroups and preferences.

(j) Considering the needs of atypical patient populations and diagnoses when establishing clinical review criteria.

(k) Recommending that the prescription drugs be taken in the specific sequence required by the step therapy protocol.

(l)(i) Continuously reviewing new evidence, research, and newly developed treatments to update the clinical review criteria and clinical practice guidelines.

(ii) If clinical practice guidelines are not reasonably available, any step therapy or fail first protocol established by a health coverage plan shall consider peer-reviewed publications or expert guidance from independent experts, which may include practioners with expertise applicable to the relevant health condition.

(2) This Subsection shall not be construed to require health coverage plans to establish a new entity to develop clinical review criteria used for step therapy or fail first protocols.

C. When medications for the treatment of any medical condition are restricted for use by ~~an insurer by any health coverage plan~~ through a step therapy or fail first protocol, the prescribing ~~physician~~ practitioner shall have access to a clear and convenient process to expeditiously request an override of ~~such the restriction from the insurer. The override process shall be made easily accessible on the health coverage plan's website. An override of such the restriction shall be expeditiously granted by the insurer under health coverage plan if the prescribing practitioner, using sound clinical evidence, can demonstrate any of the following circumstances:~~

(1) ~~The prescribing physician can demonstrate to the health coverage plan, based on sound clinical evidence, that the The preferred treatment required under the step therapy or fail first protocol has been ineffective in the treatment of the insured's patient's disease or medical condition. The prescribing practitioner shall demonstrate to the health coverage plan that the patient has tried the required prescription drug while under his current or a previous health insurance or health coverage plan, or another prescription drug in the same pharmacologic class or with the same mechanism of action, and the prescription drug was discontinued due to lack of efficacy or effectiveness, diminished effect, or an adverse event.~~

(2) ~~The prescribing physician can demonstrate to the health coverage plan, based on sound clinical evidence, that the The preferred treatment required~~

under the step therapy or fail first protocol is reasonably expected to be ineffective based on the known relevant physical or mental characteristics and medical history of the ~~insured patient~~ and known characteristics of the drug regimen.

~~(3) The prescribing physician can demonstrate to the health coverage plan, based on sound clinical evidence, that the The preferred treatment required under the step therapy or fail first protocol will cause is contraindicated or will likely cause an adverse reaction or other physical or mental harm to the insured patient.~~

~~(4) The patient is currently receiving a positive therapeutic outcome on a prescription drug for the medical condition under consideration if, while on his current health coverage plan or the immediately preceding health coverage plan, the patient received coverage for the prescription drug.~~

~~(5) The required prescription drug is not in the best interest of the patient based on medical necessity as evidenced by valid documentation submitted by the prescriber.~~

~~D. Approval of a step therapy or fail first protocol override request, when issued by a health coverage plan, shall include clear authorization of coverage for the prescription drug prescribed by the patient's prescribing practitioner, provided the drug is covered under the health coverage plan.~~

~~E. Denial of a step therapy or fail first protocol override request shall not be considered a final adverse determination and shall be eligible for an appeal of coverage determination pursuant to R.S. 22:2401.~~

~~F. A health coverage plan shall approve or deny a step therapy or fail first protocol override request within seventy-two hours of receipt. In cases where exigent circumstances exist, a health coverage plan shall approve or deny a step therapy or fail first protocol override request within twenty-four hours of receipt. If a health coverage plan fails to comply with the timelines provided for in this Subsection, the override request shall be considered approved.~~

~~G. In the case of a denial, the health coverage plan shall provide the patient and the prescribing practitioner with the reason for the denial, an alternative covered medication, if applicable, and information regarding the procedure for submitting an appeal to the denial.~~

~~H. In the case of an appeal, the practitioner or, if appropriate, other healthcare provider deciding the appeal shall consider atypical diagnoses and the needs of atypical patient populations.~~

~~E. L. The duration of any step therapy or fail first protocol shall not be longer than the customary period for the medication when such the treatment is demonstrated by the prescribing physician practitioner to be clinically ineffective. When the health coverage plan can demonstrate, through sound clinical evidence, that the originally prescribed medication is likely to require more than the customary period for such the medication to provide any relief or an amelioration to the insured patient, the step therapy or fail first protocol may be extended for an additional period of time no longer than the original customary period for the medication.~~

~~D. J.(1) No health coverage plan shall use step therapy or fail first protocols as the basis to restrict any prescription benefit for the treatment of stage-four advanced, metastatic cancer or associated conditions if at least one of the following criteria is met:~~

~~(1)(a) The prescribed drug or drug regimen has the United States Food and Drug Administration approved indication.~~

~~(2)(b) The prescribed drug or drug regimen has the National Comprehensive Cancer Network Drugs and Biologics Compendium indication.~~

~~(3)(c) The prescribed drug or drug regimen is supported by peer-reviewed, evidenced-based medical literature.~~

~~E.(2) The provisions of this Subsection D of this Section shall not apply if the preferred drug or drug regimen is considered clinically equivalent for therapy, contains the identical active ingredient or ingredients, and is proven to have the same efficacy. For purposes of this Subsection, different salts proven to have the same efficacy shall not be considered as different active ingredients.~~

~~F.(3) For drugs prescribed for associated conditions as defined in this Section, the treating healthcare provider shall inform the health coverage plan that the condition is a condition associated with stage-four advanced, metastatic cancer when requesting authorization.~~

~~G. K.(1) If a prescribed drug is denied by a health coverage plan based upon step therapy or fail first protocols, the health coverage plan shall provide the prescriber with a list of the alternative comparable formulary medications in writing and attached to the letter of denial of prescription drug coverage.~~

~~(2) It shall be deemed sufficient to meet the requirements of this Subsection if a health coverage plan includes the information required by this Subsection in the denial letter sent by the health coverage plan or its agent. For any request made by providers utilizing electronic health records with capabilities, the notice may be sent electronically.~~

~~(3) Simple notification of the availability and location of the formulary shall not be deemed sufficient to meet the requirements of this Subsection.~~

~~L. As used in this Section, the following definitions shall apply:~~

~~(1) "Health coverage plan" means:~~

~~(a) An individual or group plan or program which is established by contract, certificate, law, plan, policy, subscriber agreement, or by any other method and which is entered into, issued, or offered for the purpose of arranging for, delivering, paying for, providing, or reimbursing any of the costs of health or medical care, including pharmacy services, drugs, or devices.~~

~~H.(1)(a) As used in this Section, a "health coverage plan" shall mean any~~

~~(b) Any hospital, health, or medical expense insurance policy, hospital or medical service contract, employee welfare benefit plan, contract or~~

agreement with a health maintenance organization or a preferred provider organization, health and accident insurance policy, or any other insurance contract of this type, including a group insurance plan and the Office of Group Benefits programs.

~~(b)(c) "Health coverage plan" shall include any Any plan that is subject to the provisions of this Section which is administered by a pharmacy benefit manager.~~

~~(2) As used in this Section, "stage-four "Stage-four advanced, metastatic cancer" means cancer that has spread from the lymph nodes or other areas or parts of the body.~~

~~(3) As used in this Section, and "associated conditions" means the symptoms or side effects associated with stage-four advanced, metastatic cancer or its treatment.~~

Section 2.(A) This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

(B) This Act shall apply to any new health coverage plan specified in R.S. 22:1053(A) and issued in this state on and after January 1, 2021.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 182

HOUSE BILL NO. 269
BY REPRESENTATIVE GARY CARTER
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 39:94(C)(3) and (4) and 100.116(C)(introductory paragraph) and to enact R.S. 39:73(D) and 94(A)(5) and (C)(5), relative to the Budget Stabilization Fund; to provide for the uses of the fund; to provide for limits on the use of the fund; to provide for the incorporation of a certain amount of the fund in the official forecast for costs incurred by the state associated with a federally declared disaster; to provide for deposit of certain monies into the fund; to provide for allotment and expenditure of the amount incorporated into the official forecast; to provide certain limitations and requirements; to provide for effectiveness; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 39:94(C)(3) and (4) and 100.116(C)(introductory paragraph) are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 39:73(D) and 94(A)(5) and (C)(5) are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§73. Allotments to govern expenditures; transfers of allotments

* * *

D. If the Revenue Estimating Conference incorporates an amount of the Budget Stabilization Fund into the official forecast because of a federally declared disaster pursuant to R.S. 39:94(C)(3), the increase in revenues shall be available for allotment and expenditure by an agency on approval of an increase in the appropriation to the agency by the commissioner of administration and the Joint Legislative Committee on the Budget. The amount available to the agency shall be equal to the amount specified in the resolution or ballot used for the required consent of the elected members of each house pursuant to R.S. 39:94(C)(3) and shall not exceed the amount of costs incurred by the agency associated with the disaster.

* * *

§94. Budget Stabilization Fund

A. There is hereby created in the state treasury a special fund to be designated as the Budget Stabilization Fund, hereafter referred to in this Section as the "fund", which shall consist of all money deposited into the fund in accordance with Article VII, Section 10.3 of the Constitution of Louisiana. Money shall be deposited in the fund as follows:

* * *

(5) An amount equivalent to the money received by the state from the federal government for the reimbursement of costs associated with a federally declared disaster, not to exceed the amount of costs appropriated out of the fund for the same disaster pursuant to Paragraph (C)(3) of this Section.

* * *

C. The money in the fund shall not be available for appropriation except under the following conditions:

* * *

(3)(a) If there is a federally declared disaster in the state, the Revenue Estimating Conference shall incorporate a specified amount of the fund into the official forecast for the year in which the state incurs costs associated with the disaster pursuant to a concurrent resolution adopted by a favorable vote of two-thirds of the elected members of each house.

(b) If the legislature is not in session, the two-thirds consent requirement shall be obtained by procedures provided in R.S. 39:87.

(c) The resolution or ballot used for the required consent of the elected members of each house shall specify the amount of the fund that will be available for allotment and expenditure by each agency. The amount specified to be received by an agency shall not exceed the amount of costs

incurred by the agency associated with the disaster, adjusted for any federal reimbursement received.

(d) The amount of the fund that may be incorporated into the official forecast of the Revenue Estimating Conference for the year in which the state incurs costs associated with the disaster shall not exceed either of the following:

(i) The costs incurred by the state associated with the disaster.

(ii) One-third of the fund balance, determined in accordance with R.S. 39:95, at the beginning of the current fiscal year.

(4) In no event shall the amount included in the official forecast for the ensuing fiscal year pursuant to Paragraph (1) of this Subsection plus the amount included in the official forecast in the current fiscal year pursuant to Paragraph (2) of this Subsection, plus the amount included in the official forecast pursuant to Paragraph (3) of this Subsection, exceed one-third of the fund balance, determined in accordance with R.S. 39:95, at the beginning of the current fiscal year.

(5) No appropriation or deposit to the fund shall be made if such appropriation or deposit would cause the balance in the fund to exceed four percent of total state revenue receipts for the previous fiscal year. For the purposes of this Section, total state revenue receipts shall not include any monies received by the state from the Federal Emergency Management Agency or other sources providing disaster relief assistance.

~~Notwithstanding any provision of this Section to the contrary, except pursuant to a specific appropriation by the legislature, Paragraph (A)(1) of this Section, or the annual deposit required by Paragraph (A)(3) of this Section, no appropriation or deposit to the fund shall be made in the same fiscal year as an appropriation, use or withdrawal is made from the fund or until such time as the official forecast exceeds the actual collections of state general fund (direct) revenue for Fiscal Year 2008. The provisions of this Subparagraph shall be null, void, and of no effect on July 1, 2017.~~

* * *

§100.116. Dedication of mineral revenues

* * *

C. Mineral revenues in excess of the base which would otherwise be deposited into the Budget Stabilization Fund under R.S. 39:94(A)(2), but are prohibited from being deposited into the fund under R.S. 39:94(C)(4)(5), shall be distributed as follows:

* * *

Section 2. This Act shall take effect and become operative if and when the proposed amendment of Article VII of the Constitution of Louisiana contained in the Act which originated as House Bill No. 267 of this 2020 Regular Session of the Legislature is adopted at a statewide election and becomes effective.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 183

HOUSE BILL NO. 284
BY REPRESENTATIVE DAVIS
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 6:2(2), 452, and 532(6) and to enact R.S. 6:453 and 454, relative to financial institutions; to provide for loan production offices; to provide for deposit production offices; to provide definitions; to require written notification; to provide for objections; to provide for powers of the commissioner; to provide for rules and regulations; to provide for permissible activity; to provide for compliance; to provide for combined offices; to provide for electronic financial terminals; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 6:2(2), 452, and 532(6) are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 6:453 and 454 are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§2. General definitions

As used in this law:

* * *

(2) "Branch" or "branch office" means any manned office of a bank, including a branch of an out-of-state bank, other than an automated teller machine, electronic fund transfer terminal, point of sale terminal, or similar device or terminal. The term "branch" or "branch office" shall not include a loan production office or deposit production office or any combination thereof.

* * *

§452. Loan production offices; power of commissioner to adopt rules and regulations

A.(1) Any Louisiana state-chartered bank, savings bank, or savings and loan association, or a wholly owned operating subsidiary of such bank, savings bank, or savings and loan association, may open one or more loan production offices. Prior to opening a loan production office, the financial institution shall give written notice to the commissioner. Upon receiving the written notice, the commissioner has forty-five days to object. If the commissioner does not raise a timely objection, the financial institution may proceed with opening the loan production office. If the commissioner raises an objection, the commissioner shall, upon request, notify the financial institution in writing as to the nature of the objection.

(2) "Loan production office" means a physically manned location, other than

the main office or branch office of a bank, savings bank, or savings and loan association, with the authority to conduct the solicitation and origination of applications for loans.

B. The commissioner shall authorize permissible activities of a loan production office by rule or regulation. The commissioner shall have the right, and is empowered to promulgate any rules, regulations, applications, filing procedures, instructions, and fees that he deems necessary for the creation of loan production offices in the state.

C. Notwithstanding Subsections A and B of this Section, or any other law, rule, or regulation to the contrary, any state-chartered bank, savings bank, or savings and loan association may seek to conduct any activity at a loan production office that is a permissible activity for a loan production office of a national bank by complying with R.S. 6:242(C).

§453. Deposit production offices; power of commissioner to adopt rules and regulations

A.(1) Any Louisiana state-chartered bank, savings bank, or savings and loan association, or a wholly owned operating subsidiary of such bank, savings bank, or savings and loan association, may open one or more deposit production offices. Prior to opening a deposit production office, the financial institution shall give written notice to the commissioner. Upon receiving the written notice, the commissioner has forty-five days to object. If the commissioner does not raise a timely objection, the financial institution may proceed with opening the deposit production office. If the commissioner raises an objection, the commissioner shall, upon request, notify the financial institution in writing as to the nature of his objection.

(2) "Deposit production office" means a physically manned location, other than the main office or branch office of a bank, savings bank, or savings and loan association, with the authority to solicit deposits, provide information about deposit products, and assist persons in completing application forms and related documents to open deposit accounts.

B. The commissioner shall authorize permissible activities of a deposit production office by rule or regulation. The commissioner shall have the right, and is empowered to promulgate any rules, regulations, filing procedures, instructions, and fees that he deems necessary for the creation of deposit production offices in the state.

C. Notwithstanding Subsections A and B of this Section, or any other law, rule, or regulation to the contrary, any state-chartered bank, savings bank, or savings and loan association may seek to conduct any activity at a deposit production office that is a permissible activity for a deposit production office of a national bank by complying with R.S. 6:242(C).

§454. Combination of loan production office; deposit production office; and electronic financial terminal

Any Louisiana state-chartered bank, savings bank, or savings and loan association may operate, at the same location, a loan production office, a deposit production office, and an electronic financial terminal, or any combination of these facilities, and it shall not be considered a branch. Prior to opening a combined loan production office, deposit production office, and electronic financial terminal, the financial institution shall give written notice to the commissioner. Prior to opening a combined loan production office and deposit production office, a financial institution may satisfy the notice requirements of R.S. 6:452 and 453 by giving one combined written notice to the commissioner. Upon receiving the written notice, the commissioner has forty-five days to object. If the commissioner does not raise a timely objection, the financial institution may proceed with opening the combined office. If the commissioner raises an objection, the commissioner shall, upon request, notify the financial institution in writing as to the nature of the objection.

* * *

§532. Definitions

As used in this Part, unless the context otherwise requires, the term:

* * *

(6) "Branch" and "branch office" means any manned office of a bank but shall not include a trust production office, an automated teller machine, electronic funds transfer terminal, point of sale terminal, or similar electronic device or terminal, but shall not include a loan or trust production office. The term "branch" or "branch office" shall not include a loan production office or deposit production office or any combination thereof.

* * *

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 184

HOUSE BILL NO. 292
BY REPRESENTATIVE DWIGHT
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 33:4574.1(C), 4574.9(C)(1)(b), 4574.12(D)(1)(b), and 4574.13(C)(1)(b), relative to certain tourist commissions and convention and visitors bureaus; to provide relative to hotel occupancy taxes levied by such commissions and bureaus; to provide relative to the definition of hotel with respect to the levy of such taxes; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 33:4574.1.1(C), 4574.9(C)(1)(b), 4574.12(D)(1)(b), and 4574.13(C)(1)(b) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§4574.1.1. Occupancy taxes levied by the commissions

* * *

C.(1) The word "hotel" as used in this Section shall mean and include any establishment, either public or private, engaged in the business of furnishing or providing rooms and overnight camping facilities intended or designed for dwelling, lodging, or sleeping purposes to transient guests where such establishment consists of two or more guest rooms and does not encompass any hospital, convalescent or nursing home or sanitarium, or any hotel-like facility operated by or in connection with a hospital or medical clinic providing rooms exclusively for patients and their families has the meaning provided in R.S. 47:301(6).

(2) Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in the parish of Lafourche the word "hotel" as used in this Section shall mean and include any establishment, either public or private, engaged in the business of furnishing or providing rooms and overnight camping facilities intended or designed for dwelling, lodging, or sleeping purposes to transient guests where such establishment consists of one or more guest rooms and does not encompass any hospital, convalescent or nursing home or sanitarium, or any hotel-like facility operated by or in connection with a hospital or medical clinic providing rooms exclusively for patients and their families.

* * *

§4574.9. Concordia Parish Tourist Commission

* * *

C.(1)

* * *

(b) The word "hotel" as used herein shall mean and include any establishment, both public and private, engaged in the business of furnishing or providing rooms and overnight camping facilities intended or designed for dwelling, lodging, or sleeping purposes to transient guests where such establishment consists of two or more guest rooms and does not encompass any hospital, convalescent or nursing home, or sanitarium, or any hotel-like facility operated by or in connection with a hospital or medical clinic providing rooms exclusively for patients and their families in this Section has the meaning provided in R.S. 47:301(6).

* * *

§4574.12. River Parishes Convention, Tourist, and Visitors District; commission

* * *

D.(1)

* * *

(b) The word "hotel/motel" as used in this Section shall mean and include any establishment, public or private, engaged in the business of furnishing or providing rooms intended or designed for dwelling, lodging, or sleeping purposes to transient guests where such establishment consists of two or more guest rooms and shall include overnight camping facilities. The term shall specifically include bed and breakfasts and country inns but does not encompass any hospital, convalescent or nursing home, or sanitarium, or any hotel-like facility operated by or in connection with a hospital or medical clinic providing rooms exclusively for patients and their families has the meaning of "hotel" provided in R.S. 47:301(6).

* * *

§4574.13. Madison Parish Tourism Commission; creation; governance; powers

* * *

C.(1)

* * *

(b) The word "hotel" as used herein in this Section shall have has the meaning provided in R.S. 33:4574.1(A)(1)(b) R.S. 47:301(6).

* * *

Section 2. This Act shall become effective on July 1, 2020; if vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on July 1, 2020, or on the day following such approval by the legislature, whichever is later.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 185

HOUSE BILL NO. 296

BY REPRESENTATIVES ILLG, BRYANT, DEVILLIER, HORTON, MARINO, AND MCFARLAND
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 22:885(A) and (C) and to enact R.S. 22:885(F), relative to the cancellation of an insurance policy by the insured party; to require cancellation by the insured to be effected by written notice; to remove the requirement to surrender the policy or binder; to remove the deadline for providing the notice; to provide an effective date; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 22:885(A) and (C) are hereby amended and reenacted and

R.S. 22:885(F) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§885. Cancellation by the insured; surrender

A. Cancellation by the insured of any policy which by its terms may be cancelled at the insured's option or of any binder based on such the policy may shall be effected only by written notice thereof to the insurer, and surrender of the policy or binder for cancellation prior to or on the effective date of such cancellation. In the event the policy or binder has been lost or destroyed and cannot be surrendered, the insurer may in lieu of such surrender accept and in good faith rely upon the insured's written statement setting forth the fact of such loss or destruction. Nothing in this Subsection shall be construed to require an insurer to cancel any policy or any binder based on the policy prior to the date of receipt by the insurer of the written notice required by this Subsection.

* * *

C. The surrender written notice of cancellation of a policy to the insurer for any cause by any person named therein as having an interest insured under the policy shall create a presumption that such surrender the cancellation is agreed to by all persons so named.

* * *

F. For purposes of this Section, "written" shall mean the insured's intentional recording of words in a visual form, whether in the form of handwriting, printing, typewriting, electronic communication, or any other tangible form.

Section 2. This Act shall become effective on January 1, 2021.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 186

HOUSE BILL NO. 334

BY REPRESENTATIVES FONTENOT, AMEDEE, BACALA, BEAULLIEU, BUTLER, CARRIER, WILFORD CARTER, CORMIER, CREWS, DEVILLIER, DESHOTEL, EDMONSTON, EMERSON, FIRMENT, FRIEMAN, GADBERRY, GAROFALO, GOUDEAU, HARRIS, HORTON, MIKE JOHNSON, TRAVIS JOHNSON, KERNER, MCCORMICK, MCFARLAND, MCKNIGHT, MIGUEZ, MINCEY, CHARLES OWEN, ROBERT OWEN, RISER, ROMERO, SCHAMERHORN, SEABAUGH, THOMAS, WHEAT, WRIGHT, AND ZERINGUE

AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 40:1379.3(N)(8) and to repeal R.S. 40:1379.3(U), relative to concealed handgun permits; to provide relative to the authority of a concealed handgun permit holder; to provide relative to the limitations on the authority of a concealed handgun permit holder to carry in certain places; to authorize a concealed handgun permit holder to carry a concealed handgun in a place of worship; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 40:1379.3(N)(8) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§1379.3. Statewide permits for concealed handguns; application procedures; definitions

* * *

N. No concealed handgun may be carried into and no concealed handgun permit issued pursuant to this Section shall authorize or entitle a permittee to carry a concealed handgun in any of the following:

* * *

(8) Any church, synagogue, mosque, or other similar place of worship, eligible for qualification as a tax-exempt organization under 26 U.S.C. 501, except as provided for in Subsection U of this Section unless authorized by the person who has authority over the administration of the church, synagogue, mosque, or other similar place of worship.

* * *

Section 2. R.S. 40:1379.3(U) is hereby repealed.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 187

HOUSE BILL NO. 353

BY REPRESENTATIVE BROWN
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 22:1151(7) and (8) and 1157.1, relative to downcoding by dental service contractors; to prohibit downcoding unless certain criteria are met; to require an explanation of the change of procedure code; to require disclosure of downcoding policies; to define key terms; to provide for penalties; to provide for prohibitions; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 22:1151(7) and (8) and 1157.1 are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§1151. Definitions

For the purposes of this Subpart, the following words and phrases shall be defined as follows:

* * *

(7) "Downcode" or "downcoding" means the alteration by a dental service contractor, insurer, or other third-party payer of a service code submitted with a claim for reimbursement by a dentist or other healthcare provider to one of lesser complexity, resulting in decreased reimbursement.

(8) "Regular fee" means the fee a dentist or other healthcare provider would normally charge for a procedure before any discounts applicable by a preferred provider organization network, dental benefit plan, dental referral plan, direct primary care agreement, or similar contracts.

* * *

§1157.1. Dental reimbursement or payments; procedure codes; downcoding; prohibitions

A.(1) A dental service contractor shall not systematically downcode with the intent to deny reimbursement otherwise due to a dentist or other healthcare provider.

(2) A violation of Paragraph (1) of this Subsection shall be considered an unfair or deceptive practice pursuant to Part IV of Chapter 7 of this Title and shall be subject to the penalties contained in that Part.

B. No dental service contractor shall change a procedure code submitted by a dentist or other healthcare provider unless both of the following conditions are met:

- (1) The change is consistent with the dental service contractor's policies.
(2) The dental service contractor has sufficient information to make the change.

C.(1) If a procedure code change is made pursuant to Subsection B of this Section, the explanation of benefits provided to the subscriber shall include the reason for the downcoding and citation of the dental service contractor's applicable policy.

(2) The explanation of benefits shall not state or infer that the code billed by the dentist or other healthcare provider was inappropriate unless there is clear evidence the code listed on the claim by the dentist or provider in no way related to the procedure actually performed.

(3) The explanation of benefits shall not state or infer that the dentist or other healthcare provider's charge was excessive unless there is clear evidence the charge was substantially higher than the dentist's or provider's regular fees.

D. The dental service contractor shall disclose in its provider contracts, on its website, or both, the specific downcoding policies that the dental service contractor reasonably expects to be applied to the provider or provider's services on a routine basis as a matter of policy.

E. Notwithstanding any provision of this Section to the contrary, a dental service contractor, insurer, or other third-party payer shall not downcode the installation service of a fixed bridge to a removable bridge.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 188

HOUSE BILL NO. 363
BY REPRESENTATIVE DUPLESSIS
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 37:764.1 and 795(B)(1)(o), relative to retired volunteer dental hygienists; to authorize the licensure of retired dental hygienists who provide voluntary dental hygiene services; to provide for the procedures and requirements to obtain a retired volunteer dental hygienist license; to provide for a limitation of liability for retired volunteer dental hygienists and an exception to the limitation of liability; to provide for a return to active licensure status; to provide a renewal date; to provide for fees and costs; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 37:764.1 and 795(B)(1)(o) are hereby enacted to read as follows:
§764.1. Retired volunteer dental hygienist license; issuance; applicant's requirements; limitation of liability; denial; violations; status change; continuing education

A. The board may issue a retired volunteer dental hygienist license to an applicant to practice dental hygiene if the dental hygienist's practice consists only of voluntary care, as defined by the board rule. Holders of a retired volunteer dental hygienist license shall submit with the application to the board a notarized statement that they shall not accept any form of remuneration directly or indirectly for providing dental hygiene services. Any application for licensure pursuant to this Section shall be in the form and manner designated by the board.

B. The applicant for licensure shall meet all of the following conditions:
(1) The applicant shall maintain, for at least ten years prior to retirement, full licensure in good standing in Louisiana without disciplinary action that restricted the applicant's license or resulted in the applicant's license being placed on probation, suspended, restricted, revoked, surrendered, resigned, or otherwise allowed to lapse or expire in lieu of disciplinary action being taken.

(2) The applicant shall have held an active status dental hygienist license in good standing in Louisiana within one year prior to the date of application for a retired volunteer dental hygienist license; however, the board may waive the one-year requirement in the event that the applicant demonstrates that he possesses the knowledge and skills requisite to the practice of dental hygiene by successfully completing such examinations required by the board.

(3) The applicant shall be of good moral character and affirm that he has no felony convictions or other criminal convictions that would affect his ability to render competent care.

C. For purposes of this Section, a person shall be considered retired from practice if his license has been surrendered or allowed to expire with the intention of ceasing to practice as a dental hygienist for remuneration.

D.(1) No dental hygienist holding a retired volunteer license to practice dental hygiene who in good faith gratuitously renders health care to a patient shall be liable for any civil damages as a result of any act or omission in rendering the care or services or as a result of any act or failure to act to provide or arrange for further medical or dental treatment or care to any person receiving the services, unless the damages were caused by the gross negligence or willful or wanton misconduct of the dental hygienist.

(2) This Subsection shall not apply if the dental hygienist holding a retired volunteer license treats a patient in a private clinic where payment by the patient is expected and the patient or the patient's private insurer pays the clinic or the clinic owner for the treatment, even if the dental hygienist holding the volunteer license is providing the treatment without being remunerated.

(3)(a) The provisions of this Subsection shall be applicable only if the person receiving the healthcare services receives prior notice from the facility, where the licensed retired volunteer dental hygienist is providing services, of the limitation of liability provided for in this Subsection.

(b) Either at the initial screening of a person or at the time healthcare services are provided, the facility or the licensed retired volunteer dental hygienist providing the services shall inform such person of the limitation of liability by distributing to such person a written notice. Such notice shall also be posted at a prominent place where patients entering the facility will see it. The notice shall read substantially as follows: "NOTICE - If you are injured here because of things we do or fail to do, you do not have the same legal recourse as you would have against other healthcare providers."

(c) The posted notice shall be printed in type size sufficient to be easily read by patients upon entering the facility.

(d) Failure to follow notice procedures as provided in this Subsection shall negate the limitation of liability.

E. All documentation and certification shall be submitted to the board for review. Any plan to reestablish competency shall be submitted to and pre-approved by the board. Demonstration of professional ability, skills, and knowledge may be accomplished by successfully completing a reentry program at an accredited dental institution, which will certify that the licensee's proficiency meets or exceeds the competency level required of a graduating student in his senior year from the institution.

F. The board shall deny issuance of a retired volunteer dental hygienist license to a person who is not qualified pursuant to this Section to hold a retired volunteer dental hygienist license.

G. The holder of a license pursuant to this Section who practices dental hygiene other than as authorized in this Section shall be guilty of a felony with each day's violation constituting a separate offense. Upon proof of practice other than as authorized in this Section or of a violation of R.S. 37:776, the board may suspend or revoke the retired volunteer dental hygienist license after notice to the licensee. For violations of the dental practice act or rules adopted under the act that are applicable to dental hygiene practice under this Section, the board shall have the same authority to investigate and impose sanctions on retired volunteer license holders as it has for those holding an active license.

H. Any person licensed pursuant to this Section may apply to the board for a return to active licensure status by filing an application in the form and manner prescribed by the board and meeting all applicable requirements of this Chapter. Licensees who desire to change a retired volunteer license to an active license and who have not practiced within the year immediately preceding application for an active license shall document and certify to the board how they have maintained their professional ability, skills, and knowledge and shall be subject, at the board's discretion, to the provisions of LAC 46:XXXIII.124.

I. The retired volunteer status of a licensee shall be plainly indicated on the face of any retired volunteer license issued pursuant to this Section.

J. A holder of a retired volunteer dental hygienist license who practices not more than two hundred fifty hours in a calendar year shall be exempt from all continuing education requirements. However, a retired volunteer dental hygienist shall maintain his cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) training.

K. The board may charge an administrative fee for issuing a retired volunteer dental hygienist license pursuant to this Section. However, a dental hygienist who possesses an active Louisiana license and who desires to convert the active license to a retired volunteer dental hygienist license shall not pay an administrative fee for the conversion.

L. A retired volunteer license shall be valid for a period of two years and shall expire as provided by law.

* * *

§795. Fees and costs

* * *

B. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Chapter, the fees and costs

established by the board shall be not less nor more than the range created by the following schedule:

(1)	Miscellaneous fees and costs	Minimum	Maximum
(o)	Retired volunteer dental hygienist license		\$35.00

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 189

HOUSE BILL NO. 373
BY REPRESENTATIVE MCKNIGHT
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 33:9097.11(F)(2) and (4)(b), relative to the Westminster Pine Park Crime Prevention and Neighborhood Improvement District in East Baton Rouge Parish; to provide relative to the parcel fee levied within the district; to authorize an increase in the maximum amount of the fee, subject to voter approval; to provide relative to the expiration of the fee; and to provide for related matters.

Notice of intention to introduce this Act has been published as provided by Article III, Section 13 of the Constitution of Louisiana.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 33:9097.11(F)(2) and (4)(b) are hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§9097.11. Westminster Pine Park Crime Prevention and Neighborhood Improvement District

* * *

F. Parcel fee. The governing authority of East Baton Rouge Parish is hereby authorized to impose and collect a parcel fee within the district subject to and in accordance with the provisions of this Subsection:

* * *

(2) The amount of the fee shall be as requested by duly adopted resolution of the governing authority of the district; however, the fee shall not exceed one hundred thirty dollars per parcel per year.

* * *

(4)

* * *

(b) The fee shall expire ~~ten years from its initial levy at the time provided in the proposition authorizing the fee, which shall not be more than ten years after its imposition~~, but may be renewed as provided in Subparagraph (a) of this Paragraph. If renewed, the term of the imposition of the fee shall be as provided in the proposition authorizing such renewal, not to exceed ten years.

* * *

Section 2. This Act shall become effective upon signature by the governor or, if not signed by the governor, upon expiration of the time for bills to become law without signature by the governor, as provided by Article III, Section 18 of the Constitution of Louisiana. If vetoed by the governor and subsequently approved by the legislature, this Act shall become effective on the day following such approval.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 190

HOUSE BILL NO. 411

BY REPRESENTATIVES RISER, ADAMS, AMEDEE, BACALA, BAGLEY, BEAULLIEU, BROWN, BRYANT, BUTLER, CARRIER, ROBBY CARTER, WILFORD CARTER, COX, CREWS, DAVIS, DUBUISSON, ECHOLS, EDMONDS, EMERSON, FARNUM, FIRMENT, FONTENOT, FREIBERG, FRIEMAN, GADBERRY, GAROFALO, GOUDEAU, HARRIS, HILFERTY, HORTON, ILLG, JEFFERSON, MIKE JOHNSON, JONES, KERNER, LARVADAIN, MAGEE, MARCELLE, MCCORMICK, MCFARLAND, MCMAHEN, MIGUEZ, GREGORY MILLER, MINCEY, MOORE, NELSON, NEWELL, CHARLES OWEN, PHELPS, PIERRE, PRESSLY, ROMERO, SCHAMERHORN, SCHEXNAYDER, SEABAUGH, SELDERS, ST. BLANC, STEFANSKI, THOMAS, THOMPSON, WHEAT, WHITE, WRIGHT, AND ZERINGUE AND SENATORS ABRAHAM, BERNARD, CARTER, CATHEY, CLOUD, CONNICK, CORTEZ, FESI, FOIL, HARRIS, HENSGENS, HEWITT, JACKSON, JOHNS, LAMBERT, LUNEAU, MCMATH, FRED MILLS, ROBERT MILLS, MIZELL, MORRIS, POPE, REESE, SMITH, TARVER, WARD, AND WOMACK

AN ACT

To enact R.S. 56:643(D), relative to hunting and fishing licenses; to provide relative to license fees for Purple Heart recipients; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

CODING: Words in ~~struck through~~ type are deletions from existing law; words underscored (House Bills) and underscored and boldfaced

* As it appears in the enrolled bill

Section 1. R.S. 56:643(D) is hereby enacted to read as follows:

§643. Exemption of persons under age sixteen and certain military personnel from licensing requirements; active duty service members, their spouses, and their children; retired members of the armed services

* * *

D. Any person, whether a resident or a nonresident, who has been awarded a Purple Heart shall be issued hunting and fishing licenses at the resident rate.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:
R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 191

HOUSE BILL NO. 449

BY REPRESENTATIVE ECHOLS AND SENATOR BARROW
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 28:53(B)(1) and R.S. 40:1223.3(6) and 2153(1) and to enact R.S. 40:2153(16) and 2156(B)(16), relative to behavioral health services; to provide relative to delivery of such services through telehealth; to provide for psychiatric mental health nurse practitioners; to provide for definitions; to provide for regulation of behavioral health services providers by the Louisiana Department of Health; to provide for administrative rulemaking by the department relative to behavioral health services; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 28:53(B)(1) is hereby amended and reenacted to read as follows:

§53. Admission by emergency certificate; extension; payment for services rendered

* * *

B.(1) Any physician licensed or permitted by the Louisiana State Board of Medical Examiners, physician assistant when acting in accordance with their respective clinical practice guidelines, psychiatric mental health nurse practitioner, other nurse practitioner who acts in accordance with a collaborative practice agreement and receives verbal approval for executing the certificate from his collaborating physician, or psychologist may execute an emergency certificate only after an actual examination of a person alleged to have a mental illness or be suffering from a substance-related or addictive disorder who is determined to be in need of immediate care and treatment in a treatment facility because the examining physician, physician assistant when acting in accordance with their respective clinical practice guidelines, psychiatric mental health nurse practitioner, other nurse practitioner who acts in accordance with a collaborative practice agreement and receives verbal approval for executing the certificate from his collaborating physician, or psychologist determines the person to be dangerous to self or others or to be gravely disabled. The actual examination of the person by a psychiatrist or psychiatric mental health nurse practitioner may be conducted by telemedicine utilizing video conferencing technology provided that a licensed healthcare professional who can adequately and accurately assist with obtaining any necessary information including but not limited to the information listed in Paragraph (4) of this Subsection shall be in the examination room with the patient at the time of the video conference. A patient examined in such a manner shall be medically cleared prior to admission to a mental health treatment facility. Failure to conduct an examination prior to the execution of the certificate will be evidence of gross negligence.

* * *

Section 2. R.S. 40:1223.3(6) and 2153(1) are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 40:2153(16) and 2156(B)(16) are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§1223.3. Definitions

* * *

(6)(a) “Telehealth” means a mode of delivering healthcare services, including behavioral health services, that utilizes information and communication technologies to enable the diagnosis, consultation, treatment, education, care management, and self-management of patients at a distance from healthcare providers. Telehealth allows services to be accessed when providers are in a distant site and patients are in the originating site. Telehealth facilitates patient self-management and caregiver support for patients and includes synchronous interactions and asynchronous store and forward transfers.

(b) For purposes of this Paragraph, “behavioral health services” means those services as defined in R.S. 40:2153 that are appropriate for the patient and delivered by a licensed mental health professional, acting within the scope of applicable state laws and his professional license for services identified by Louisiana Department of Health, to treat mental illness or substance use.

* * *

§2153. Definitions

For the purposes of this Part, and subject to the provisions of R.S. 40:2154, unless the context otherwise clearly indicates, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

(1) “Behavioral health services” means mental health services, substance abuse/addiction treatment services, or a combination of such services, for

adults and children. Behavioral health services may be provided, subject to rules and regulations of the Louisiana Department of Health, in a residential setting, in a clinic setting on an outpatient basis, ~~or~~ in a home or community setting, or through telehealth.

(16) "Telehealth" has the meaning ascribed in R.S. 40:1223.3.

§2156. Rules and regulations; licensing standards; fees

B. The department shall prescribe, promulgate, and publish rules, regulations, and licensing standards for behavioral health services providers. The rules, regulations, and licensing standards shall include but are not limited to the following:

(16) Delivery of behavioral health services through telehealth.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 192

HOUSE BILL NO. 458
BY REPRESENTATIVE GREGORY MILLER
AN ACT

To enact Chapter 59-A of Title 51 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, to be comprised of R.S. 51:3171 and 3172, relative to third-party delivery services; to provide definitions; to prohibit third-party delivery services from using the name or likeness or any intellectual property of a merchant without agreement; to prohibit an indemnity clause in an agreement; to provide right to bring action; to provide penalties; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. Chapter 59-A of Title 51 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, comprised of R.S. 51:3171 and 3172, is hereby enacted to read as follows:

CHAPTER 59-A. THIRD-PARTY DELIVERY SERVICES

§3171. Definitions

As used in this Chapter, the following words have the meaning ascribed to them in this Section unless the context clearly indicates otherwise:

(1) "Agreement" means a written contractual agreement between the merchant and the third-party delivery service.

(2) "Consumer" means a person, business, or other entity who places an order for merchant products through the third-party delivery platform.

(3) "Likeness" means the logo, motto, or any identifiable symbols attributed and easily identified as belonging to a specific merchant.

(4) "Merchant" means a restaurant or other retail entity.

(5) "Third-party delivery platform" means the online communication platform of the third-party delivery service on which a consumer can view and search the menus of merchants and place an order for merchant products through internet-enabled technology and digital media, including websites and consumer applications accessible through smart phones and other mobile devices.

(6) "Third-party delivery service" means a company, organization, or other entity, other than a merchant, that is licensed to do business in this state and provides limited delivery services to a consumer.

§3172. Agreement; indemnity; penalties

A. In the absence of an agreement, a third-party delivery service shall not advertise, promote, or otherwise convey any relationship with a merchant or use the name, likeness, trademark, or intellectual property belonging to a merchant on the third-party delivery platform.

B. An agreement executed in accordance with this Chapter shall not include a provision, clause, or covenant that requires a merchant to indemnify a third-party delivery service, any independent contractor acting on behalf of the third-party delivery service, or any registered agent of the third-party delivery service, for any damages or harm that may occur after the merchant product leaves the place of business of the merchant.

C. A merchant whose name, likeness, trademark, or intellectual property is used by a third-party delivery service in violation of this Chapter shall have the right to bring an action in a court of competent jurisdiction.

D. Upon a finding by a court of competent jurisdiction that a third-party delivery service used the name, likeness, trademark, or intellectual property of a merchant in violation of this Chapter, the court may impose a civil penalty in an amount not to exceed five thousand dollars or the amount of the merchant's actual damages, whichever is greater. The court may, in its discretion, award attorney fees to the prevailing party.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 193

HOUSE BILL NO. 521
BY REPRESENTATIVE HILFERTY
AN ACT

To enact R.S. 47:1987(B)(1)(c) and (d), relative to notice of reappraisal; to provide for notice of reappraisal by certified mail under certain circumstances; to provide for a time in which notice of reappraisal is to be sent; and to provide for related matters.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 47:1987(B)(1)(c) and (d) are hereby enacted to read as follows: §1987. Time when listing of property concluded

B.(1) Assessors shall provide notice to a taxpayer of the amount of the assessment of the taxpayer's property, including supplemental assessments pursuant to R.S. 47:1966, at the time and in the manner provided for in this Subsection:

(c) If the reappraisal of property results in an increase of more than fifty percent of the previously assessed value and a homestead exemption is claimed on the property pursuant to Article VII, Section (20)(A) of the Constitution of Louisiana, the assessor shall provide the notice required pursuant to this Subsection by certified mail. This Subparagraph shall apply only to a parish which contains a municipality with a population of more than three hundred forty thousand according to the most recent federal decennial census.(d) The notice required pursuant to this Subsection shall be mailed to the taxpayer no less than fifteen days prior to the commencement of the appeal period.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy:

R. Kyle Ardoin
Secretary of State

ACT No. 194

HOUSE BILL NO. 537
BY REPRESENTATIVE FARNUM
AN ACT

To amend and reenact R.S. 33:130.312(A) and (H) and to enact R.S. 33:130.311(D), 130.312(J), and 130.314(C), relative to the Sulphur Industrial District; to provide relative to the termination of the district; to provide relative to the membership of the board of commissioners; to provide relative to meetings of the board; to provide relative to appointments made by or on behalf of the district to other public boards or commissions; to provide relative to the district's powers pertaining to industrial development; and to provide for related matters.

Notice of intention to introduce this Act has been published as provided by Article III, Section 13 of the Constitution of Louisiana.

Be it enacted by the Legislature of Louisiana:

Section 1. R.S. 33:130.312(A) and (H) are hereby amended and reenacted and R.S. 33:130.311(D), 130.312(J), and 130.314(C) are hereby enacted to read as follows:

§130.311. Sulphur Industrial Development District; creation; territorial jurisdiction; termination

D. If the city of Sulphur wishes to terminate the district, it may remove board members, suspend its operations, and adopt a resolution requesting that the legislature repeal the provisions of this Subpart.

§130.312. Board of commissioners; members, officers, agents, and employees

A. The district shall be governed by a board of commissioners consisting of six five members selected by the city council of Sulphur. The city of Sulphur may, by ordinance, fix the qualifications of the members of the board of commissioners. If a member no longer meets a qualification established by ordinance, the city council may declare a vacancy and appoint a successor.

H. The board of commissioners shall meet in regular session on a quarterly an annual basis and shall also meet in special session when the president of the board convenes them or on the written request of four three members. No more than twelve special sessions may be called within any one calendar year. Four Three members of the board of commissioners shall constitute a quorum.

J. If any joint service or cooperative endeavor agreement of the district calls for appointments by or on behalf of the district to any other public board or commission, the city council shall make such appointments.

§130.314. Industrial development

C. The district shall not enter into or amend joint service agreements, cooperative endeavor agreements, or other contractual agreements without the approval of the city council.

Approved by the Governor, June 11, 2020.

A true copy: